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PART

Item Business

General

GMX Resources Inc GMX and its subsidiaries collectively the Company is pure play

independent oil and natural gas exploration and production company focused on development of unconventional

Haynesville/Bossier Shale and Cotton Valley Sands in the Sabine Uplift of the Carthage North Field of Harrison

and Panola counties of East Texas our core area We state that we are pure play company because

materially all of our business is devoted to drilling for and producing oil and natural gas in one core area

We have three subsidiaries Diamond Blue Drilling Co Diamond Blue which owns three conventional

drilling rigs in our core area Endeavor Pipeline Inc Endeavor Pipeline which operates our natural gas

gathering system in our core area and Endeavor Gathering LLC Endeavor Gathering which owns the natural

gas gathering system and related equipment operated by Endeavor Pipeline 40% interest in Endeavor

Gathering is owned by Kinder Morgan Endeavor LLC KME
Our principal executive office is located at 9400 North Broadway Suite 600 Oklahoma City Oklahoma

731 14 and our telephone number is 405 600-0711

History

We were incorporated in 1998 and acquired producing and undeveloped oil and natural gas properties

located primarily in our core area Kansas and southeastern New Mexico from bankruptcy liquidation of

small privately-held company We have leased additional undeveloped acreage and drilled wells in our core area

since 1998 We have since sold the Kansas properties and concentrated our efforts in our core area primarily

since 2003 when we entered into joint development agreement with Penn Virginia Oil Gas L.P PVOG
wholly-owned subsidiary of Penn Virginia Corporation NYSE PVA Although the area of mutual interest

portion of this joint development agreement has expired we continue to own acreage in our core area jointly with

PVOG We have drilled approximately 350 vertical and three horizontal Cotton Valley Sands wells in addition to

Travis Peak Sand wells In the fall of 2008 we transitioned into drilling horizontal wells into the Haynesville/

Bossier Shale and as of December 31 2009 had drilled and completed 12 Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal

H/B Hz wells Today we have three rigs drilling H/B Hz wells

Strategy

Our near-term primary objective is to focus on the continued horizontal well development of our

Haynesville/Bossier Shale acreage in East Texas and to selectively increase our leasehold position within our

core area In addition to the Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal well development we intend to resume drilling

Cotton Valley Sands horizontal wells on limited basis in the next two years Our near-term strategy

emphasizes

Developing our existing Haynesville/Bossier Shale acreageWe seek to maximize the value of our

existing assets by developing our properties that we believe will result in the highest rate of return and

that we also believe exhibit the lowest risk and the highest production and reserve growth potential We
intend to concentrate on developing our multi-year inventory of drilling locations in the Haynesville/

Bossier Shale because we believe this reservoir fits those parameters We estimate that we have

approximately 280 net potential Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal drilling locations on 80 acre

spacing in central and eastern Harrison and Panola Counties in East Texas which is approximately 10

year inventory

Maintaining operational control with focus on reducing operating costsWe operate approximately

80% of our proved reserves and have consistently operated with one of the lower operating cost



structures in the industry Our
per

unit lease operating expenses have declined from $1 17 per Mcfe for

the
year

ended December 31 2008 to $0.86 per Mcfe for the year ended December 31 2009 These

results relate primarily to cost control measures implemented in 2009 and an increase in production

from Haynesviile/Bossier Shale wells We anticipate that our per unit operating costs will continue to

decline as we continue to develop our Haynesville/Bossier Shale rights and our horizontal Haynesville/

Bossier Shale production becomes greater percentage of our overall production

Utilizing an integrated model approach in our core areaWe operate significant amount of drilling

and gathering infrastructure in our core area which allows us to better control the drilling physical

gathering marketing and delivery options for the sale of our natural gas and oil We plan to continue

pursuing the best markets for the sale of our production and through Endeavor Gathering prudently

expanding our infrastructure to keep pace
with increasing production volumes as we develop our

Haynesville/Bossier Shale acreage

Actively protecting production to provide greater certainty of cash flow and earningsTo help protect

our revenues we currently have hedging instruments in place for 2010 for 13.3 million MMBtu or

approximately 77% of our estimated annual natural gas and crude oil production as of December 31

2009 at an average floor price of $6.43 per Mcfe Excluding sold calls for 2011 and 2012 we have

hedged approximately 14.9 million MMBtu and 16.7 million MMBtu of natural gas at weighted

average floor price of $6.14 and $6.08 per MMbtu respectively We plan to continue to use hedging to

mitigate commodity price risks and protect our cash flow

Opportunistically acquiring acreage in our core areaWe continue to look to increase our acreage

position in the Haynesville/Bossier Shale particularly in Harrison and Panola Counties in East Texas

where we have significant field operations including high and low pressure gathering systems capable

of transporting natural gas produced from the Haynesville/Bossier Shale We continue to concentrate

our efforts in areas where we can apply our technical expertise and where we have significant

operational control or experience We plan to continue to expand our HaynesvillelBossier Shale

leasehold position beyond our current drilling inventory by adding acreage with similardrilling

potential and characteristics to our existing properties

Company Strengths

Large contiguous high quality acreage position We hold approximately 70900 gross acres 50200 net

acres of leasehold of which approximately 61900 gross acres 42400 net acres are located in the Haynesville/

Bossier Shale resource play in East Texas As of December 31 2009 we had drilled and completed twelve

successful horizontal Haynesville/Bossier Shale wells with production profiles that support our strategy of

continued and focused development of this play on our leasehold We have approximately 280 net potential

undrilled HaynesvillelBossier Shale locations in central and eastern Harrison and Panola counties in East Texas

that are near acreage actively being drilled by ourselves and other operators Furthermore 19 vertical test wells

that we drilled across our properties in 2006 confirmed consistent 350-foot layer of Haynesville/Bossier Shale

to be present which we believe has substantially reduced the risk associated with our HaynesvillelBossier Shale

leasehold The Cotton Valley Sands resource play in which we operate is mature and well-understood play As

result drilling results are highly stable and predictable We have track record of drilling success in our core

area with 100% drilling success rate since the inception of our Company Substantially all of our Haynesville/

Bossier Shale acreage
is held by production from our shallower Cotton Valley Sands Travis Peak and Hosston

wells which gives us the ability to drill where we choose without significant risk of lease expiration

High degree of operational control We operate over 80% of our acreage in our core area which permits us

to better manage our operating costs and better control capital expenditures and the timing of development and

exploitation activities

Strong growth profile with significant drilling inventory We have an inventory of approximately 280 net

potential undrilled proved and unproved Haynesville/Bossier Shale drilling locations and approximately 1400



net potential undrilled proved and unproved Cotton Valley Sands drilling locations as of December 31 2009

This large drilling inventory provides us with the potential to continue to exhibit significant organic reserve and

production growth During the five-year period ending December 31 2009 we grew proved reserves and

production at compounded annual growth rates of 41% and 62% respectively

Membership in two Haynesville/Bossier Shale consortiums provides us with valuable completion reserve

and geological infhrmation We are members of the Core Laboratories Haynesville Shale Consortium and the

Object Reservoir Haynesville Consortium The purpose of these consortiums is to share with their members

timely information regarding the geological formation well spacing and completion design information that will

lead to maximizing well and reserve performance and our investments in these wells The consortiums are cost

effective method to learn about the reservoir and trends by other operators and to accelerate the learning curve

for the members in the consortiums

Significant infrastructure in place As of December 31 2009 we had priority access to approximately

120 miles of gathering pipeline 115 MMcf
per day of takeaway capacity and 22500 horsepower of compression

We also own salt-water disposal and other field infrastructure as well as three drilling rigs two of which have the

capacity to drill horizontal Haynesville/Bossier Shale wells Based on our year end 2009 average daily gross

production rate of 37.3 MMcfe
per day and our takeaway capacity of 115 MMcf per day as of December 31

2009 we believe our current infrastructure has sufficient capacity to support material growth in production In

November 2009 we contributed our gathering and compression assets to Endeavor Gathering for $36 million as

part of transaction with KME but we have obtained commitments from Endeavor Gathering for priority rights

to its takeaway capacity

Favorable economics through access to multiple delivery points Our existing gathering infrastructure

provides us with options in determining the delivery points at which we sell our production which allows us to

take advantage of price differentials among those delivery points Due at least in part to these options our net

realized price for natural gas volumes sold including sales of processed liquids and excluding the effects of

hedging was 100% of the 12 month average first-day-of-the-month NYMEX spot price for calendar year 2009

East Texas

As of December 31 2009 we owned 403 gross 252 net producing wells In our East Texas core area 325

gross 188 net wells are Cotton Valley Sands wells at depths of 8000 to 12000 feet and 45 gross 37 net wells

are productive in the shallower conventional Rodessa Travis Peak Hosston and Pettit formations in our core

area In addition we had 12 gross 11.9 net Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal wells producing at year-end

2009 We have historically grown by developing in our core area with high degree of drilling success and with

low finding and development costs Finding and development costs is defined in Certain Technical Terms
The Cotton Valley Sands is considered to be an unconventional natural gas resource that is pervasive throughout

large areas which explains our historical drilling success in this formation At December 31 2009 we had

355.3 Bcfe of proved reserves which were 94% natural gas 38% proved developed and more than 98% located

in our core area

We presently are focusing majority of our development efforts on the Haynesville/Bossier Shale areas As

of December 31 2009 we have approximately 280 net proved and unproved Haynesville/Bossier Shale drilling

locations based on 80 acre well spacing in Harrison and Panola Counties Texas surrounded by our existing

wells and other operators drilling HaynesvillelBossier Shale wells We are continuing to see improving

Haynesville/Bossier Shale results in East Texas including Harrison County

As of December 31 2009 we had approximately 62500 gross and 42600 net acres in the Cotton Valley

Sands formation with approximately 290 net undrilled proved undeveloped Cotton Valley Sands drilling

locations based on 20-acre well spacing



Our core area properties accounted for more than 98% of our total proved reserves at December 31 2009

93% of our total net acreage
and 98% of our 2009 production

We operate 164 wells or 43% of our core area gross wells that produce 70% of our oil and natural gas

production as of December 31 2009 Average daily net operated plus non-operated production in 2009 was

35.4 MMcf of
gas

and 325 Bbls of oil The producing lives of these fields are generally between 12 to 70
years

with majority of the gas produced in the first ten years Cotton Valley Sands gas sold from the area has high

MMBtu content which after processing can result in net price above average daily Henry Hub natural gas

prices Oil is sold separately at slight discount to the average Sweet Crude oil price at Cushing Oklahoma the

NYMEX delivery point inclusive of deductions The acreage
in East Texas lies on the Sabine Uplift broad

positive feature that acts as structural trap for most reservoirs Most of the reservoirs are shallow and deep

marine sediments that tend to have tremendous aerial extent and substantial thicknesses Natural gas
and oil have

been produced from 3000 feet to 11700 feet in our core area Prior to shifting our focus to the Haynesville/

Bossier Shale the primary objective of our development was the Cotton Valley Sands which occurs between

8200 feet and 10000 feet and contains multiple layers of sands containing natural gas Due to the multiple layers

and widespread deposition of these gas saturated layers we have very high success rate of finding commercial

wells

The following table sets forth the gross and net wells drilled and/or completed in our core area in 2009

Wells Drilled

Completed 2009

Gross Net

Cotton Valley Sands 1.0 1.0

HaynesvillefBossier Shale Horizontal 12.0 11.9

Other Shallower formations 4.0 4.0

Total 17.0 1f9

In early 2006 we drilled and completed 19 vertical Haynesville/Bossier Shale wells across our property

base The exploratory work found gas
rich unconventional reservoir below the Cotton Valley Sands We

determined from these tests that the reservoirs had consistent open hole log characteristics across all of our

acreage in Harrison and Panola counties We did extensive open hole logging coring and variety of completion

methods that determined in our view viable horizontal unconventional candidate We subsequently joined the

Core Laboratories Haynesville Gas Shale Consortium with approximately 50 other EP companies to share

technical data with other operators about horizontal shale development in early 2008 several EP companies

achieved great success in HaynesvillelBossier Shale horizontal exploration near our properties We determined

the Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal potential on our properties to be of greater value than the Cotton Valley

Sands and gathered the resources necessary to begin Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal development We were

also the first company to join the Core Laboratories Haynesville/Bossier Shale Consortium

In 2009 we funded our drilling and development activity of $179.3 million in our core area with proceeds

of $86 million offering of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015 in October 2009 $65 million common

stock offering in May 2009 $104 million common stock offering in October 2009 and the sale of

non-controlling minority interest in Endeavor Gathering for $36 million in November 2009 along with proceeds

from borrowings on our revolving bank credit facility and cash flow from operations



The following table sets forth our proved undeveloped locations in our core area as of December 31 2009

Proved Undeveloped
Locations

Gross Net

Operated 233 233

50% joint venture with PVOG 98 49

Total

The operated area does not include 36 Haynesville/Bossier Shale undeveloped locations at December 31
2009 that were determined to be uneconomic based on recent amendments to Regulations S-K and S-X of the

Securities and Exchange Commission SEC which require the use of an average price for the last 12 months

when determining reserve estimates Had the year-end Henry Hub cash price been used as in 2008 these 36

Haynesville/Bossier Shale undeveloped locations would have been considered proved undeveloped locations at

December 31 2009 See Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The pace of future development of this
property will depend on availability of capital future drilling and

completion results the general economic conditions of the energy industry and on the price we receive for the

natural gas and crude oil produced Additionally in certain areas in which we own our interest jointly with

PVOG the pace of future development will depend on PVOGs level of activity in those areas Based on the joint

development agreement we have the ability to limit the number of rigs that PVOG operates in these areas and we
have the ability to limit our participation in any PVOG well

The number of wells we drill in 2010 will vary and our potential capital expenditures may vary depending

on the number of wells drilled drilling and completion results and other factors We have budgeted $175 million

for capital expenditures in 2010 which is for Haynesville/Bossier Shale and Cotton Valley Sands horizontal

drilling acreage acquisitions developing gathering systems infrastructure and other capital expenditures We
plan on drilling approximately 22 horizontal wells in 2010 of which 20 will be Haynesville/Bossier Shale

horizontal wells and two will be Cotton Valley Sands horizontal wells We will fund our drilling expenses

primarily from cash on the balance sheet at December 31 2009 internal cash flow and borrowings under our

revolving bank credit facility

Other Properties

We have approximately 2400 gross 2100 net acres in the Waskom Field in Caddo parish in Louisiana

with five gross 2.6 net producing wells three of which we operate We also have properties located in Lea and

Roosevelt counties New Mexico consisting of approximately 1920 gross 1458 net acres with nine gross 5.7

net non-operated producing wells Total reserves and production from these areas represent less than 2% of our

proved reserves and 2009 production We are not actively pursuing additional development of the New Mexico

properties

2010 Plans and Recent Developments

On February 16 2010 we announced the completion of the Mia Austin 1H HaynesvillelBossier Shale

horizontal well with an initial production rate of 14.1 Mcf per day The well has V2 casing and 4600 foot

lateral with 12 frac stages and was flowing on 20/64 choke with 5492 pounds of Flowing Casing Pressure

Recently we have changed our production casing size from V2 to Y2 to allow our completion

treatments to be run at higher rates and with additional proppant We expect to improve completion results with

this change and completed well costs are expected to be approximately $8 million on the first few V2 cased

wells Completed well costs are expected to trend lower due to improved efficiencies throughout the year to

approximately $7 million



As of December 31 2009 there were two Helmerich Payne HP FlexRigsTM drilling our operated

acreage which are on three
year

contracts for long-term use One additional three year HP FlexRigTM contract

began in January 2010 fourth three year HP FlexRigTM contract is scheduled to begin in March 2010 but

due to the demand for this type of HP FlexRigFM we are actively looking to sublease the fourth rig for six to

twelve month contract Our 2010 capital expenditure budget of approximately $175 million is based on three

rig drilling program and paying laydown fee on the fourth rig until we see what we believe to be long term

improvement in natural gas prices that will support our drilling program

Gas Gathering

We have through our majority-owned subsidiary Endeavor Gathering gas gathering lines and compression

equipment for gathering and delivery of natural gas
from our core area that we operate As of December 31

2009 we had invested approximately $60 million in this gathering system including the purchase of

compressors
and pipe inventory which consisted of approximately 120 miles of gathering lines and compressors

that collect and compress gas from approximately 99% of our operated gas production from wells in our core

area At year
end 2009 this gas gathering system

had takeaway capacity of 115 MMcf per day compared to our

year
end

gross production volumes of 37.3 MMcfe per day This system enables us to improve the control over

our production and enhances our ability to obtain access to pipelines for ultimate sale of our gas At present

Endeavor Gathering only gathers from wells in which we own an interest Remaining gas is gathered by

unrelated third parties See BusinessMarketing

PVOG has installed and operates gathering facilities to each of the wells drilled and operated by PVOG in

our jointly-owned areas PVOG charges us gathering
fee of $0 1OIMMBtu and actual cost of compression plus

five percent for all
gas gathered at the wellhead and redelivered to central sales point At year end 2009 the

PVOG gathering system had takeaway capacity of 80 MMcf per day compared to production of 20.7 MMcf per

day

Diamond Blue Drilling

Our subsidiary Diamond Blue owns three drilling rigs as described below

Depth Capacity Drawworks Horizontal

Feet Horsepower Capability

DBD 11000 1000 HP No

DBD 15000 1200 HP Yes

DBDii 14000 i000HP Yes

We have approximately $30.5 million invested in these rigs which have been used to drill exclusively on

our 100% owned acreage The ownership of rigs enables us to better control drilling costs and protects us from

rig availability risks when rigs are in high demand However due to the decline in natural gas prices and our

long-term drilling contracts for four rigs from HP we laid these rigs down in 2009 The rigs will likely not be

returned to operation until natural gas prices increase and capital is available to accelerate our drilling program



Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

As of December 31 2009 MHA Petroleum Consultants Inc MHA estimated our proved reserves to be

355.3 Bcfe copy of MHAs report is included as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K An estimated

133.3 Bcfe is expected to be produced from existing wells and another 222.0 Bcfe is classified as proved

undeveloped Substantially all of our proved reserves relate to our Cotton Valley Sands development based on

SEC rules All of our proved undeveloped reserves are on locations that are adjacent to wells productive in the

same formations

In December 2008 the SEC issued its final rule Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting which is effective

for reporting 2009 reserve information In January 2010 the FASB issued its authoritative guidance on extractive

activities for oil and gas to align its requirements with the SECs final rule We adopted the guidance as of

December 31 2009 in conjunction with our year-end reserve report as change in accounting principle Under

the SECs final rule prior period reserves were not restated The primary impacts of the SECs final rule include

the use of the twelve-month average of the first-day-of-the-month reference prices prior to adjustment

for location and quality differentials of $61.18 per Bbl for oil and $3.87 per MMBtu for natural gas

compared to the year-end reference prices prior to adjustment for location and quality differentials of

$79.36 per Bbl for oil and $5.79 per MMBtu for natural gas resulted in negative revisions of 16 Bcfe

certain of our undeveloped locations are not scheduled to be developed within five
years

which had the

impact of reducing our proved undeveloped reserves by 25 Bcfe

applying the same pricing methodology that was in effect for 2008 in 2009 would have resulted in the

recognition of an additional 99 Bcfe in reserves at December 31 2009



The following table shows the estimated net quantities of our proved reserves as of the dates indicated and

the Estimated Future Net Revenues and Present Values attributable to total proved reserves at December 31 All

our proved reserves are located in the United States

2007 2008 2009

Proved Developed

Gas Bct 144.2 150.6 124.6

Oil MMBb1s 1.8 1.9 1.4

Total Bcfe 155.0 162.1 133.3

Proved Undeveloped

Gas Bcf 262.1 284.7 208.6

Oil MMBbls 2.9 3.1 2.3

Total Bcfe 279.5 303.2 222.0

Total Proved

Gas Bcf 406.3 435.3 333.2

Oil MMBbls 4.7 5.0 3.7

Total Bcfe 434.5 465.3 355.3

Estimated Future Net Revenues $MM $1896.3 $1012.3 $625.7

Present Value $MM 592.8 280.7 $188.6

Standardized Measure1 $MM 427.7 228.8 $188.6

For 2007 and 2008 prices used in calculating Estimated Future Net Revenues and the Present Value were

determined using prices as of period end For 2009 prices used for Estimated Future Net Revenues and the

Present Value are an average first-day of the month price for the last 12 months in accordance with recent

amendments to Regulations S-K and S-X of the SEC Estimated Future Net Revenues and the Present Value

give no effect to federal or state income taxes attributable to estimated future net revenues The Present

Value or PV-10 represents the discounted future net cash flows attributable to our proved oil and gas

reserves before income tax discounted at 10% PV-10 may be considered non-GAAP financial measure as

defined by the SEC We believe that the Estimated Future Net Revenue and Present Value are useful

measures in addition to the standardized measure as it assists in both the determination of future cash flows

of the current reserves as well as in making relative value comparisons among peer companies See

Note NSupplemental Information on Oil and Natural Gas Operations in our consolidated financial

statements for information about the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows The

standardized measure is dependent on the unique tax situation of each individual company while the pre-tax

Present Value is based on prices and discount factors that are consistent from company to company We also

understand that securities analysts use this measure in similar ways

Proved oil and natural gas reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil and natural gas which geological

and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known

reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions Proved developed reserves are reserves that can be

expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods Proved

undeveloped reserves are reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from

existing wells where relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved crude oil and natural gas

reserves Crude oil and natural gas engineering is subjective process of estimating underground accumulations

of crude oil and natural gas that cannot be precisely measured The accuracy of any reserve estimate is function

of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment Results of drilling

testing and production subsequent to the date of the estimate may justify revision of such estimate Accordingly

reserve estimates are often different from the quantities of crude oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered

In accordance with the guidelines of the SEC our independent reserve engineers estimates of future net

revenues from our properties and the PV- 10 and standardized measure thereof were determined to be



economically producible under existing economic conditions which requires the use of the 12-month average

price for each product calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for the

period January 2009 through December 2009 except where such guidelines permit alternate treatment including

the use of fixed and determinable contractual price escalations The average prices used in such estimates were

$3.87 per MMbtu of natural gas and $61.19 per Bbl of crude oil These prices do not include the impact of

hedging transactions nor do they include applicable transportation and quality differentials nor price

differentials between natural gas liquids and oil which are deducted from or added to the index prices on well

by well basis

The following table shows the sensitivity of our total 2009 proved reserves by area between the average

prices used and the year end prices that would have been used had we applied the same pricing methodology that

was in effect for 2007 and 2008 in 2009

Proved Reserves2009 SEC Pricing

Natural

Oil Gas Total PV-1O
Area MMBbI Ret Bcfe Proved Developed in millions

Cotton Valley Sands Other 3.7 307.3 329.4 33% $155.8

Haynesville/Bossier Shale 25.9 25.9 91% 32.8

Total 3.7 3312 3553 37% $188.6

Proved ReservesDecember 31 2009 Pricing

Natural

Oil Gas Total PV-1O
Area MMBbI Ilcf Bcfe Proved Developed in millions

Cotton Valley Sands Other 3.8 317.3 340.2 35% $445.3

Haynesville/Bossier Shale 113.7 113.7 21% 81.5

Total 18 431.0 4539 31% $526.8

The December 31 2009 Pricing scenario was based on the posted spot prices as of December 31 2009 for

both crude oil and natural gas For oil the spot price was $79.39 and was adjusted for quality transportation

fees and regional price differentials For natural gas volumes the Henry Hub spot price of $5.79 per

MMBTU was adjusted for
energy content transportation fees regional price differences and system

shrinkage

The amendments to Regulations S-K and S-X of the SEC also revised the guidelines for reporting proved

undeveloped reserves Reserves may be classified as proved undeveloped if there is high degree of confidence

that the quantities will be recovered and they are scheduled to be drilled within five years of their initial

inclusion as proved reserves unless specific circumstances justify longer time In addition proved undeveloped

reserves may be estimated through the use of reliable technology in addition to flow tests and production history

Approximately 62% of our proved reserves are undeveloped under the new SEC rules At the end of 2009 we
like other operators reviewed all our existing proved undeveloped reserves in light of the SECs new five-year rule

and decided to remove proved undeveloped reserves in the Cotton Valley Sands where we had 30% working

interests in non-operated locations None of these locations were actually beyond the five-year limit but would have

presented scheduling and capital priority issues under the new SEC guidelines going forward especially in the

context of our focus on the HaynesvillelBossier Shale and our substantial number of operated and 50% working

interest non-operated Cotton Valley Sands proved undeveloped drilling locations We still believe the removed

locations to be geologically and economically viable If the price environment should change for the better we

would consider accelerating this development This determination to remove 30% working interest non-operated



proved undeveloped locations resulted in the reduction of proved reserves by 53 Bcfe The remaining proved

undeveloped reserves correspond to Cotton Valley Sands drilling locations in both our operated area and areas

where we have 50% working interest in non-operated proved undeveloped drilling locations that are planned to be

drilled within the next five
years

We currently plan to resume Cotton Valley Sands drilling in 2011 using either

vertical or horizontal drilling program The quantity and value of our proved undeveloped Cotton Valley Sands

reserves are dependent upon our ability to fund the associated development costs which were an estimated to be

$307.4 million in the aggregate as of December 31 2009 The estimated future development costs do not include

exploration costs related to our Haynesville/Bossier Shale drilling program which is estimated to be in the range of

$175 million to $200 million per year based on three rig drilling program Based on our 2009 HaynesvillefBossier

Shale drilling activity we have 36 proved undeveloped Haynesville/Bossier Shale locations that were uneconomic

at the SECs 2009 average first day of the month price and therefore their associated development cost are not

reflected in the $307.4 million of future development costs We have examined all sources of available funding

including our expected operating cash flows availability under our revolving bank credit facility and potential

future debt and equity issuances and we are reasonably certain that we will be able to fund the necessary

development costs for our proved undeveloped reserves over the next five years

The estimates of proved reserves at December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 were prepared by our independent

petroleum consultant MHA in accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and evaluation

principles and definitions and guidelines established by the SEC The technical persons responsible for preparing

the reserve estimates presented herein meet the requirements regarding qualifications independence objectivity

and confidentiality set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves

Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers

Our policies and practices regarding internal control over the estimating of reserves are structured to

objectively and accurately estimate our oil and natural gas reserves quantities and present values in compliance

with the SEC regulations and U.S Generally Accepted Accounting Principles We maintain an internal staff of

petroleum engineers and geosciences professionals who work closely with our independent petroleum consultant

to ensure the integrity accuracy
and timeliness of data furnished to MHA in their reserves estimation process

Inputs to our reserves estimation process are based on historical results for production history oil and natural gas

prices lease operating expenses development costs ownership interest and other required data Our technical

team meets regularly with representatives of MHA to review properties and discuss methods and assumptions

used in MHAs preparation of the year-end reserves estimates While we have no formal committee specifically

designated to review reserves reporting and the reserves estimation process our senior management reviews and

approves
the MHA reserve report and any internally estimated significant changes to our proved reserves on

timely basis

Our former Vice PresidentOperations Richard Hart Jr who left the Company in early March 2010

was the technical
person primarily responsible for overseeing the preparation of our year-end 2009 reserves

estimates with some assistance from our Vice PresidentGeosciences Timothy Benton Mr Hart has Bachelor

of Science in Petroleum Engineering and over 30 years of industry experience with positions of increasing

responsibility in operations engineering and reservoir evaluations He is member of the Society of Petroleum

Engineers Mr Benton has assumed responsibility for the preparation of our reserves estimates on permanent

basis since the departure of Mr Hart Mr Benton has over 30 years of industry experience in engineering and

reservoir evaluations He is Registered Professional Engineer in the state of Oklahoma member of the

Society of Petrophysics Well Log Analysts and member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers Our Vice

PresidentGeosciences reports directly to our Chief Executive Officer and our President

No estimates of our proved reserves comparable to those included in this report have been included in

reports to any federal agency other than the SEC
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Costs Incurred

The following table shows certain information regarding the costs incurred by us in our acquisition

exploration and development activities during the periods indicated

14202

116250

1697

565

132714

The exploratory drilling costs of $15.9 million and $116.2 million in 2008 and 2009 respectively relate to

our Haynesville/Bossier Shale drilling As of December 31 2009 we had drilled and completed twelve

successful horizontal Haynesville/Bossier Shale wells with production profiles that support our strategy of

continued and focused development of this play

Oil and Natural Gas Production Production Prices and Production Costs

See Part II Item 7Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operation

Drilling Results

We drilled or participated in the drilling of wells as set out in the table below for the periods indicated The

table was completed based upon the date drilling commenced You should not consider the results of prior

drilling activities as necessarily indicative of future performance nor should you assume that there is necessarily

any correlation between the number of productive wells drilled and the oil and natural gas reserves generated by
those wells All of the following wells were drilled in the United States

Year Ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Development wells

Natural Gas 127.0 76.5 89.0 59.2 6.0

Exploratory wells

Natural Gas 1.0 1.0 11.0 10.94

Total 127.0 76.5 90.0 60.2 17.0 16.94

As of December 31 2009 we had two Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal wells drilling that are not

included in the table above

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Development and exploration costs

Development drilling $168246 $183081

Exploratory drilling 15943

Tubular and other drilling inventories 39773
Asset retirement obligation 1463 2407

169709 241204

Acquisition

Proved 7814 23246 6881

Unproved 1018 26236 11450

8832 49482 18331

Total $178541 $290686 $151045

6.0
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Acreage

The following table shows our developed and undeveloped oil and natural gas lease and mineral acreage as

of December 31 2009

Developed Undeveloped Total

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

East Texas 40364 25942 26461 20668 66825 46610

Other United States 2569 2107 1466 1466 4035 3573

Total 42933 28049 27927 22134 70860 50183

We have approximately 280 net potential undrilled Haynesville/Bossier Shale locations in central and

eastern Harrison and Panola counties in East Texas that are near acreage actively being drilled by other operators

Title to oil and natural gas acreage is often complex Landowners may have subdivided interests in the

mineral estate Oil and natural gas companies frequently subdivide the leasehold estate to spread drilling risk and

often create overriding royalties When we purchased the properties the purchase included title opinions

prepared by counsel analyzing mineral ownership in each well drilled Further for each producing well there is

division order signed by the current recipients of payments from production stipulating their assent to the fraction

of the revenues they receive We obtain similar title opinions with respect to each new well drilled While these

practices which are common in the industry do not assure that there will be no claims against title to the wells or

the associated revenues we believe that we are within normal and prudent industry practices Because many of

the properties in our current portfolio were purchased out of bankruptcy in 1998 we have the advantage that any

known or unknown liens against the properties were cleared in the bankruptcy

Productive Well Summary

The following table shows our ownership in productive wells as of December 31 2009 Gross oil and

natural gas wells include wells with multiple completions Wells with multiple completions are counted only

once for purposes of the following table

Productive Wells

Gross Net

Natural gas
378.0 232.4

Oi1............. 2.0 19.7

Total 40.10 252J

Substantially all of our productive wells are related to our Cotton Valley Sands development

Facilities

As of December 31 2009 we leased 32458 square
feet in Oklahoma City Oklahoma for our corporate

headquarters The annual rental cost is approximately $487000 We also lease approximately 2500 square
feet

of office space in Marshall Texas used primarily for land field operations The annual rent is approximately

$24000

We own 50-acre operations field yard approximately seven miles southeast of Marshall Texas that has

approximately 21500 square
feet of office and warehouse space We also own 48 acres on which our gas

gathering sales point is located In addition we own 100 acres for expansion of our field operations near

Marshall Texas In 2008 we opened second field office of approximately 2400 square feet dedicated to land

operations situated on 14 acres approximately two miles from the operations field yard
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Employees

As of December 31 2009 we had 95 full-time employees This compares to 149 full-time employees at

December 31 2008 including 60 employees of Diamond Blue We also use number of independent contractors

to assist in land and field operations We believe our relations with our employees are satisfactory Our

employees are not covered by collective bargaining agreement

Marketing

Our ability to market oil and natural gas often depends on factors beyond our control The potential effects

of governmental regulation and market factors including alternative domestic and imported energy sources

available pipeline capacity and general market conditions are not entirely predictable

Natural Gas Natural gas is generally sold pursuant to individually negotiated gas purchase contracts which

vary in length from spot market sales of single day to term agreements that may extend several years

Customers who purchase natural gas include marketing affiliates of the major oil and gas companies pipeline

companies natural gas marketing companies and variety of commercial and public authorities industrial and

institutional end-users who ultimately consume the gas Gas purchase contracts define the terms and conditions

unique to each of these sales The price received for natural gas sold on the spot market may vary daily

reflecting changing market conditions The deliverability and price of natural gas are subject to both

governmental regulation and supply and demand forces

Substantially all of our gas
from our East Texas company-operated wells is initially sold to our wholly

owned subsidiary Endeavor Pipeline which in turn sells gas to unrelated third parties All of our gas
is currently

sold under contracts providing for market sensitive terms that are terminable with 30-60 day notice by either

party without penalty This means that we both enjoy the benefits of high prices in increasing price markets and

suffer the impact of low prices when gas prices decline In addition PVOG markets 100% of the gas produced

from wells operated by PVOG in areas we jointly own subsidiary of PYOG charges us marketing fee of 1%

of the sales proceeds subject to certain price caps for oil and natural gas sold on our behalf in areas we jointly

own

Crude Oil Oil produced from our properties is sold at the prevailing field price to one or more of number

of unaffiliated purchasers in the area Generally purchase contracts for the sale of oil are cancelable on 30 days

notice The price paid by these purchasers is an established market or posted price that is offered to all

producers

In 2009 we entered into firm sales contract for 15 MMBtu per day increasing to 100 MMBtu per day

through 2014 We are obligated to sell minimum daily gas volumes or pay $0.02 per MMBtu for deficiency fee

on volumes not sold

In 2009 our largest purchaser of natural gas was Texia Energy Management Inc which accounted for 54%

of total natural gas sales In 2009 our largest purchaser of crude oil was Sunoco Inc which accounted for 52%

of crude oil sales We do not believe that the loss of any of our purchasers would have material adverse affect

on our operations as there are other purchasers active in the market

Competition

We compete with major integrated oil and natural gas companies and independent oil and natural gas

companies in all areas of operation In particular we compete for property acquisitions and for the equipment

and labor required to operate and develop these properties Most of our competitors have substantially greater

financial and other resources than we have In addition larger competitors may be able to absorb the burden of

any changes in federal state and local laws and regulations more easily than we can which could adversely

affect our competitive position These competitors may be able to pay more for exploratory prospects and may be
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able to define evaluate bid for and purchase greater number of properties and prospects than we can Further

our competitors may have technological advantages and may be able to implement new technologies more

rapidly than we can Our ability to explore for natural gas and oil prospects and to acquire additional properties in

the future will depend on our ability to conduct operations to evaluate and select suitable properties and to

consummate transactions in this highly competitive environment In addition most of our competitors have

operated for much longer time than we have and have demonstrated the ability to operate through industry

cycles

At various times we have and may continue to experience occasional or prolonged shortages or

unavailability of drilling rigs drill pipe and other material used in oil and natural gas drilling Such unavailability

could result in increased costs delays in timing of anticipated development or cause interests in undeveloped oil

and natural gas leases to lapse

Regulation

Exploration and Production The exploration production and sale of oil and natural gas are subject to

various types of local state and federal laws and regulations These laws and regulations govern
wide range of

matters including the drilling and spacing of wells allowable rates of production restoration of surface areas

plugging and abandonment of wells and requirements for the operation of wells Our operations are also subject

to various conservation requirements These include the regulation of the size and shape of drilling and spacing

units or proration units and the density of wells that may be drilled and the unitization or pooling of oil and

natural gas properties In this regard some states allow forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate

exploration while other states rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases In addition state conservation laws

establish maximum rates of production from oil and natural gas wells generally prohibit the venting or flaring of

natural gas and impose certain requirements regarding the ratability of production All of these regulations may

adversely affect the rate at which wells produce oil and natural gas and the number of wells we may drill All

statements in this report about the number of locations or wells reflect current laws and regulations

Laws and regulations relating to our business frequently change and future laws and regulations including

changes to existing laws and regulations could adversely affect our business

Environmental Matters The discharge of oil gas or other pollutants into the air soil or water may give rise

to liabilities to the government and third parties and may require us to incur costs to remedy discharges Natural

gas oil or other pollutants including salt water brine may be discharged in many ways including from well or

drilling equipment at drill site leakage from pipelines or other gathering and transportation facilities leakage

from storage tanks and sudden discharges from damage or explosion at natural gas facilities of oil and natural
gas

wells Discharged hydrocarbons may migrate through soil to water supplies or adjoining property giving rise to

additional liabilities

variety of federal and state laws and regulations govern the environmental aspects of natural gas
and oil

production transportation and processing and may in addition to other laws impose liability in the event of

discharges whether or not accidental failure to notify the proper authorities of discharge and other

noncompliance with those laws Compliance with such laws and regulations may increase the cost of oil and

natural
gas exploration development and production although we do not anticipate that compliance will have

material adverse effect on our capital expenditures or earnings Failure to comply with the requirements of the

applicable laws and regulations could subject us to substantial civil and/or criminal penalties and to the

temporary or permanent curtailment or cessation of all or portion of our operations

The Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act CERCLA also known

as the superfund law imposes liability regardless of fault or the legality of the original conduct on some

classes of persons that are considered to have contributed to the release of hazardous substance into the

environment These persons include the owner or operator of disposal site or sites where the release occurred
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and companies that dispose or arrange for disposal of the hazardous substances found at the time Persons who

are or were responsible for releases of hazardous substances under CERCLA may be subject to joint and

severable liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the

environment and for damages to natural resources and it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other

third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances

released into the environment We could be subject to the liability under CERCLA because our drilling and

production activities generate relatively small amounts of liquid and solid waste that may be subject to

classification as hazardous substances under CERCLA

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 as amended RCRA is the principal federal

statute governing the treatment storage and disposal of hazardous wastes RCRA imposes stringent operating

requirements and liability for failure to meet such requirements on person who is either generator or

transporter of hazardous waste or an owner or operator of hazardous waste treatment storage or disposal

facility At present RCRA includes statutory exemption that allows most oil and natural gas exploration and

production waste to be classified as nonhazardous waste similar exemption is contained in many of the state

counterparts to RCRA As result we are not required to comply with substantial portion of RCRAs
requirements because our operations generate minimal quantities of hazardous wastes At various times in the

past proposals have been made to amend RCRA to rescind the exemption that excludes oil and natural gas

exploration and production wastes from regulation as hazardous waste Repeal or modification of the exemption

by administrative legislative or judicial process or modification of similarexemptions in applicable state

statutes would increase the volume of hazardous waste we are required to manage and dispose of and would

cause us to incur increased operating expenses

Recent legislative and regulatory proposals have focused among other topics on climate change initiatives

and the downhole injection of various fluids and chemicals for reservoir stimulation and similarpurposes There

is possibility of additional regulation in these and other environmental areas and any such regulation could

require us to change the manner in which we operate or to incur increased operating expenses

There are numerous state laws and regulations in the states in which we operate that relate to the

environmental aspects of our business These state laws and regulations generally relate to requirements to

remediate spills of deleterious substances associated with oil and natural gas activities the conduct of salt water

disposal operations and the methods of plugging and abandonment of oil and natural gas wells that have been

unproductive Numerous state laws and regulations also relate to air and water quality

We do not believe that our environmental risks will be materially different from those of comparable

companies in the oil and natural gas industry We believe our present activities substantially comply in all

material respects with existing environmental laws and regulations Nevertheless there can be no assurance that

environmental laws will not result in curtailment of production or material increase in the cost of production

development or exploration or otherwise adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations

Although we maintain liability insurance coverage for liabilities from pollution environmental risks generally

are not fully insurable

In addition because we have acquired and may acquire interests in properties that have been operated in the

past by others we may be liable for environmental damage including historical contamination caused by such

former operators Additional liabilities could also arise from continuing violations or contamination not

discovered during our assessment of the acquired properties

Marketing and Transportation Our sales of natural gas are affected by the availability terms and cost of

transportation The price and terms for access to pipeline transportation are subject to extensive federal and state

regulation From 1985 to the present several major regulatory changes have been implemented by Congress and

the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission FERC that affect the economics of natural gas production

transportation and sales In addition FERC is continually proposing and implementing new rules affecting
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segments of the natural gas industry most notably interstate natural gas transmission companies that remain

subject to FERCs jurisdiction These initiatives may also affect the intrastate transportation of gas under certain

circumstances The stated purpose
of many of these regulatory changes is to promote competition among the

various sectors of the natural gas industry and these initiatives generally reflect more light-handed regulation

The ultimate impact of the complex rules and regulations issued by FERC since 1985 cannot be predicted

We cannot predict what further action FERC will take on these matters We do not believe that we will be

affected by any action taken materially differently than other natural gas producers gatherers and marketers with

which we compete

Additional proposals and proceedings that might affect the natural gas industry are frequently made before

Congress FERC and the courts The natural gas industry historically has been very heavily regulated therefore

there is no assurance that the less stringent regulatory approach recently pursued by FERC and Congress will

continue

Our sales of crude oil and condensate are currently not regulated and are made at market prices Tn number

of instances however the ability to transport and sell such products are dependent on pipelines whose rates

terms and conditions of service are subject to FERC jurisdiction under the Interstate Commerce Act However

we do not believe that these regulations affect us any differently than other crude oil producers

Certain Technical Terms

The terms whose meanings are explained in this section are used throughout this document

Bbl One stock tank barrel or 42 U.S gallons liquid volume used herein in reference to oil or other liquid

hydrocarbons

BBtu Billion Btus

Bcf Billion cubic feet

Bcfe Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent determined using the ratio of one Bbl of oil or condensate

to six Mcf of natural gas

Btu British thermal unit which is the heat required to raise the temperature of one pound mass of water

from 58.5 to 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit

Developed Acreage The number of acres which are allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells

capable of production

Development Location location on which development well can be drilled

Development Well well drilled within the proved area of an oil or gas
reservoir to the depth of

stratigraphic horizon known to be productive in an attempt to recover proved undeveloped reserves

Drilling Unit An area specified by governmental regulations or orders or by voluntary agreement for the

drilling of well to specified formation or formations which may combine several smaller tracts or subdivides

large tract and within which there is usually some right to share in production or expense by agreement or by

operation of law

Dry Hole well found to be incapable of producing either oil or gas in sufficient quantities to justify

completion as an oil or gas well
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Estimated Future Net Revenues Estimated future gross revenue to be generated from the production of

proved reserves net of estimated production future development costs and future abandonment costs using an

average first-day of the month price for the last 12 months under the new SEC rules and costs in effect as of the

date of the report or estimate without giving effect to non-property related expenses such as general and

administrative expenses debt service and future income tax expense or to depreciation depletion and

amortization

Exploratory Well well drilled to find and produce oil or gas in an unproved area to find new reservoir

in field previously found to be productive of oil or gas in another reservoir or to extend known reservoir

Finding and Development Costs The total costs incurred for exploration and development activities

excluding exploratory drilling in progress and drilling inventories divided by total proved reserve additions To

the extent any portion of the proved reserve additions consist of proved undeveloped reserves additional costs

would have to be incurred in order for such proved undeveloped reserves to be produced This measure may
differ from the measure used by other oil and natural gas companies

Gross Acre An acre in which working interest is owned

Gross Well well in which working interest is owned

In
fill Drilling Drilling for the development and production of proved undeveloped reserves that lie within

an area bounded by producing wells

Injection Well well which is used to place liquids or gases
into the producing zone during secondary

tertiary recovery operations to assist in maintaining reservoir pressure
and enhancing recoveries from the field or

productive horizons

Lease Operating Expense All direct costs associated with and necessary to operate producing property

MBbls Thousand barrels

MBtu Thousand Btus

Mcf Thousand cubic feet

Mcfe Thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent determined using the ratio of one Bbl of oil or

condensate to six Mcf of natural gas

Mcfjd Thousand cubic feet per day

MMBbls Million barrels

MMBtu Million Btus

MMCI Million cubic feet

MMcfŁ Million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent determined using the ratio of one Bbl of oil or

condensate to six Mcf of natural gas

Natural Gas Liquids Liquid hydrocarbons which have been extracted from natural gas e.g ethane

propane butane and natural gasoline

Net Acres or Net Wells The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells
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NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange

Operator The individual or company responsible for the exploration exploitation and production of an oil

or natural gas well or lease usually pursuant to the terms of joint operating agreement among the various

parties owning the working interest in the well

Present Value When used with respect to oil and natural gas reserves present value means the Estimated

Future Net Revenues discounted using an annual discount rate of 10%

Productive Well well that is producing oil or gas or that is capable of production

Proved Developed Reserves Proved reserves are expected to be recovered through existing wells with

existing equipment and operating methods Additional oil and natural gas expected to be obtained through the

application of fluid injection or other improved recovery techniques for supplementing the natural forces and

mechanisms of primary recovery are included as proved developed reserves only after testing by pilot project or

after the operation of an installed program as confirmed through production response that increased recovery will

be achieved

Proved Reserves Proved natural gas and oil reserves are those quantities of natural gas and oil which by

analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically

produciblefrom given date forward from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions

operating methods and government regulationsprior to the time at which contracts providing the right to

operate expire unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain regardless of whether deterministic

or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation The project to extract the hydrocarbons must have

commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within reasonable

time The area of reservoir considered as proved includes the area identified by drilling and limited by fluid

contacts if any and adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can with reasonable certainty be judged

to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible natural
gas or oil on the basis of available

geoscience and engineering data In the absence of information on fluid contacts proved quantities in reservoir

are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons LKH as seen in well penetration unless geoscience

engineering or performance data and reliable technology establishes lower contact with reasonable certainty

Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined highest known oil HKO elevation and the

potential exists for an associated gas cap proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher portions

of the reservoir only if geoscience engineering or performance data and reliable technology establish the higher

contact with reasonable certainty Reserves which can be produced economically through application of

improved recovery techniques including but not limited to fluid injection are included in the proved

classification when successful testing by pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more

favorable than in the reservoir as whole the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous

reservoir or other evidence using reliable technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering

analysis on which the project or program was based and the project has been approved for development by all

necessary parties and entities including governmental entities Existing economic conditions include prices and

costs at which economic producibility from reservoir is to be determined The price shall be the average price

during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report determined as an

unweighted arithmetic
average

of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within such period unless

prices are defined by contractual arrangements excluding escalations based upon future conditions

Proved Undeveloped Reserves Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on

undrilled acreage or from existing wells where relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion

Reserves on undrilled acreage
shall be limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are

reasonably certain of production when drilled unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes

reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances Undrilled locations can be classified as

having undeveloped reserves only if development plan has been adopted indicating that they are scheduled to
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be drilled within five years unless the specific circumstances justify longer time Estimates for proved

undeveloped reserves are not attributed to any acreage for which an application of fluid injection or other

improved recovery technique is contemplated unless such techniques have been proved effective by actual

projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir or by other evidence using reliable technology

establishing reasonable certainty

Recompletion The completion for production of an existing wellbore in another formation from that in

which the well has previously been completed

Royalty An interest in an oil and natural gas lease that gives the owner of the interest the right to receive

portion of the production from the leased acreage or of the proceeds of the sale but generally does not require

the owners to pay any portion of the costs of drilling or operating wells on the leased acreage Royalties may be

either landowners royalties which are reserved by the owner of leased acreage at the time the lease is granted

or overriding royalties which are usually reserved by an owner of the leasehold in connection with the transfer to

subsequent owner

Secondary Recovery An artificial method or process used to restore or increase production from reservoir

after the primary production by the natural producing mechanism and reservoir pressure has experienced partial

depletion Gas injection and water flooding are examples of this technique

Undeveloped Acreage Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to point that

would permit the production of commercial quantities of oil and natural gas regardless of whether such acreage

contains proved reserves

Watertlood secondary recovery operation in which water is injected into the producing formation in order

to maintain reservoir pressure and force oil toward and into the producing wells

Working Interest An interest in an oil and natural gas lease that gives the owner of the interest the right to

drill for and produce oil and natural gas on the leased acreage and requires the owner to pay share of the costs

of drilling and production operations

Workover To carry out remedial operations on productive well with the intention of restoring or

increasing production

Availability of Information

We file periodic reports and proxy statements with the SEC The public may read and copy any materials we

file with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 The public

may obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at

1-800-SEC-0330 We file our reports with the SEC electronically The SEC maintains an Internet site that

contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file

electronically with the SEC The address of this site is http//www.sec.gov

Our Internet address is www.gmxresources.com We make available on our website free of charge copies of

our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments

to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13a of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably possible

after we electronically file or furnish such material with the SEC
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Risks Related to GMX

Our future performance depends upon our ability to obtain capital to find or acquire additional oil and

natural gas reserves that are economically recoverable

Unless we successfully replace the reserves that we produce our reserves will decline eventually resulting

in decrease in oil and natural gas production and lower revenues and cash flows from operations The business

of exploring for developing and acquiring reserves requires substantial capital expenditures Our ability to make

the necessary capital investment to maintain or expand our oil and natural gas reserves is limited by our relatively

small size In addition approximately 62% of our total estimated proved reserves at December 31 2009 were

undeveloped By their nature estimates of undeveloped reserves are less certain Recovery of such reserves will

require significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations Further our drilling activities are

subject to numerous risks including the risk that no commercially productive oil or natural gas reserves will be

encountered Thus our future natural gas and oil reserves and production and therefore our cash flow and

income are highly dependent on our success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and

economically finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves

We have historically relied upon draws on our revolving bank credit facility to help fund our capital

expenditures The amounts we may borrow under our revolving bank credit facility are subject to borrowing

base calculation that depends on the value that our bank lenders place on our oil and natural
gas properties which

in turn depends on prevailing commodity prices Lower commodity prices may result in reduction of our

borrowing base The most recent redetermination by our bank lenders resulted in reduction of the borrowing

base from $175 million to $130 million upon consummation of the Endeavor Gathering transaction The next

redetermination of our borrowing base by our bank lenders is expected to occur on or around May 2010

Future redeterminations of the borrowing base are expected to occur on or before April 30 and October 31 of

each year Future reductions in our borrowing base may occur for several reasons including if we do not

successfully grow our reserves or if commodity prices further weaken Our ability to reborrow under our

revolving bank credit facility to fund our capital expenditures will be constrained by any reductions in the

borrowing base which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business

Our revolving bank credit facility contains certain covenants that may inhibit our ability to make certain

investments incur additional indebtedness and engage in certain other transactions which could adversely

affect our ability to meet our future goals If our revolving bank credit facility were to be accelerated we may

not have sufficient liquidity to repay our indebtedness in fulL

Our revolving bank credit facility includes certain covenants that among other things restrict

our investments loans and advances the paying of dividends on our common stock and other

restricted payments

our incurrence of additional indebtedness

the granting of liens other than liens created pursuant to the revolving bank credit facility and certain

permitted liens

mergers consolidations and sales of all or substantial part of our business or properties and

the hedging forward sale or swap of our production of crude oil or natural
gas or other commodities

Our revolving bank credit facility requires us to maintain certain financial ratios including leverage ratios

such as total debt to earnings before interest taxes depreciation depletion and amortization expenses

EBITDA and EBITDA to interest ratios

All of these restrictive covenants may restrict our ability to expend or pursue our business strategies Our

ability to comply with these and other provisions of our revolving bank credit facility may be impacted by lower
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commodity prices changes in economic or business conditions results of operations or events beyond our

control The breach of any of these covenants could result in default under our revolving bank credit facility in

which case depending on the actions taken by the lenders thereunder or their successors or assignees such

lenders could elect to declare all amounts borrowed under our revolving bank credit facility together with

accrued interest to be due and payable If we were unable to repay such borrpwings or interest our lenders could

proceed against their collateral The amounts we can borrow under our revolving bank credit facility are subject

to borrowing base calculation that depends on the value that our banks place on our oil and natural gas

properties which in turn depends on prevailing commodity prices Lower commodity prices may result in

reduction of our borrowing base If the indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility were to be

accelerated our 5.00% convertible senior notes due 2013 and our 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015 would

also be accelerated and we may not have sufficient liquidity to repay our indebtedness in full

majority of our production revenue and cashflowfrom operating activities is derived from assets that are

concentrated in single geographic area

Approximately 98% of our estimated proved reserves at December 31 2009 and similarpercentage of our

production during 2009 were associated with our East Texas wells Accordingly if the level of production from

these properties substantially declines it could have material adverse effect on our overall production level and

our revenue Approximately 91% of our estimated proved reserves relate to wells in the Cotton Valley Sands and

shallower layers as of December 31 2009 We plan to devote smaller portion of our capital expenditure budget

to the Cotton Valley Sands formation layer in favor of wells to develop the HaynesvillefBossier Shale formation

layer This may affect the production revenue and cash flow we derive from further development of the Cotton

Valley Sands formation layer

We embarked on new exploration and development program in the Haynesville/Bossier Shale in 2008 and it

is difficult to predict drilling success rates

Since the third quarter of 2008 we have directed substantial majority of our development focus to the

drilling of horizontal wells in the Haynesville/Bossier Shale formation layer in our core area These activities

represent change from our historic focus of drilling developmental vertical wells in the Cotton Valley Sands

formation layer Part of our drilling strategy to maximize recoveries from the HaynesvillelBossier Shale

formation layer involves the drilling of horizontal wells using completion techniques that have proven to be

successful in other formation layers Our experience with horizontal drilling in the HaynesvillefBossier Shale

formation layer to date is still limited with total of twelve Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal wells drilled

and completed Furthermore while the wells drilled in the HaynesvillefBossier Shale formation layer to date

have reported very high initial potential rates our production history in this area is still limited and we are less

able to use past drilling results in this area to help predict our future drilling results We may not encounter the

same drilling results in future Haynesville/Bossier Shale wells in which event our results of operations or

financial condition may be adversely affected

The loss of our Chief Executive Officer or other key personnel could adversely affect us

We depend to large extent on the efforts and continued employment of Ken Kenworthy Jr our Chief

Executive Officer The loss of his services could adversely affect our business In addition if Mr Kenworthy

resigns or we terminate him as our Chief Executive Officer we would be in default under our revolving bank

credit facility and we would also be required to offer to repurchase all of our outstanding Series Preferred

Stock If Mr Kenworthy dies or becomes disabled we would be required to offer to repurchase all of our

outstanding Series Preferred Stock and unless we appoint successor acceptable to our lenders within four

months of Mr Kenworthys death or disability we would also be in default under our revolving bank credit

facility
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Certain of our Cotton Valley Sands wells produce oil and natural
gas at relatively slow rate

We expect that our existing Cotton Valley Sands wells and certain other wells that we plan to drill on our

existing properties will produce the oil and natural gas constituting the reserves associated with those wells over

period of between 10 and 50 years Because of the relatively slow rates of production of our wells our reserves

will be affected by long term changes in oil or natural gas prices or both and we will be limited in our ability to

anticipate any price declines by increasing rates of production We may hedge our reserve position by selling oil

and natural gas forward for limited periods of time but we do not anticipate that in declining markets the price

of any such forward sales will be attractive

Delays in development or production curtailment affecting our material properties may adversely affect our

financial position and results of operations

The size of our operations and our capital expenditure budget limits the number of wells that we can

develop in any given year Complications in the development of any single material well may result in material

adverse affect on our financial condition and results of operations If we were to experience operational problems

resulting in the curtailment of production in material number of our wells our total production levels would be

adversely affected which would have material adverse affect on our financial condition and results of

operations

We have entered into long-term rig contracts which will require significant portion of our budgeted capital

expenditures over their terms

In 2008 we entered into agreements with Helmerich Payne for four new FlexRigsTM for three-year terms

each two of which were delivered during 2009 and two which are scheduled to be delivered during the first

quarter of 2010 We will be obligated to pay $121.4 million over the remaining terms of these agreements This

represents significant portion of our future capital expenditures budget The presence of this commitment will

limit our ability to deploy our capital to other projects Additionally the term of these commitments restricts our

flexibility to adjust the scale of our drilling efforts based on prevailing commodity prices and other industry

conditions meaning that we will continue to be obligated to pay for these rigs even if market conditions do not

render their use economical for us As such this long-term commitment could have an adverse effect on our

financial condition and results of operations

Increased drilling in the Haynesville/Bossier Shale formation layer in and around our core area may cause

pipeline capacity problems that may limit our ability to sell natural gas

If the Haynesville/Bossier Shale continues to be successful the amount of gas being produced in and around

our core area from these new wells as well as other existing wells may exceed the capacity of the various

gathering and intrastate or interstate transportation pipelines currently available If this occurs it will be

necessary for new pipelines and gathering systems to be built In addition capital constraints could limit our

ability to build intrastate gathering systems necessary to transport our gas to interstate pipelines In such event

we might have to shut in our wells awaiting pipeline connection or capacity and/or sell natural gas production

at significantly lower prices than we currently project which would adversely affect our results of operations

Hedging our production may result in losses or limit potential gains

We enter into hedging arrangements to limit our risk to decreases in commodity prices Hedging

arrangements expose us to risk of financial loss in some circumstances including the following

production is substantially less than expected

the counter-party to the hedging contract defaults on its contract obligations and

there is change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the hedging agreement

and actual prices received
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In addition these hedging arrangements may limit the benefit we would receive from increases in the prices

for oil and natural gas If we choose not to engage in hedging arrangements in the future we may be more

adversely affected by changes in oil and natural gas prices than our competitors who may or may not engage in

hedging arrangements

Failure by us to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with

the rules of the SEC could harm our business and operating results and/or result in loss of investor

confidence in our financial reports which could have material adverse effect on our business

We have evaluated our internal controls systems to allow management to report on and our independent

auditors to audit our internal controls over financial reporting We have performed the system and process

evaluation and testing required to comply with the management certification and auditor attestation requirements

of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 In March 2010 we identified control deficiencies under

applicable SEC and Public Company Accounting Oversight Board rules and regulations that remain

unremediated As public company we are required to report among other things control deficiencies that

constitute material weakness or changes in internal controls that or that are reasonably likely to materially

affect internal controls over financial reporting We have reported one such material weakness in this report

See Part II Item 9AControls and Procedures material weakness is deficiency or combination of

deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that material

misstatement of the Companys annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or

detected on timely basis The report by us of material weakness may cause investors to lose confidence in our

consolidated financial statements and our stock price may be adversely affected as result If we fail to remedy

any material weakness our consolidated financial statements may be inaccurate we may face restricted access to

the capital markets and the price of our securities may be adversely affected

The continuation of the global economic crisis could adversely impact our business andfinancial condition

In 2008 general worldwide economic conditions deteriorated sharply due to the subprime lending crisis

general credit market crisis collateral effects on the financial and banking industries decreased consumer

confidence reduced corporate profits and capital spending and liquidity concerns These conditions could limit

our access to capital and additionally make it difficult for us to accurately forecast and plan future business

activities These conditions also could impact the ability of third parties that purchase natural gas and oil

production from us to fulfill their payment obligations to us on timely basis The economic situation could also

cause our commodity hedging arrangements to be ineffective if our counterparties are unable to perform their

obligations or seek bankruptcy protection We cannot predict the timing or duration of the global economic crisis

or the timing or strength of subsequent economic recovery If the economy experiences continued weakness at

current levels or deteriorates further our business financial condition and results of operations could be

materially and adversely affected Additionally continued weakness in the global economy could result in

reduced demand and consequently lower prices for oil and natural gas which would adversely affect our

revenues operating cash flow and ability to obtain capital

The Endeavor Gathering transaction could have an adverse effect on our reserves and estimated future cash

flows

In November 2009 we completed transaction with KME relating to Endeavor Gathering We contributed

our gathering compression and certain related assets to Endeavor Gathering and then sold 40% interest in

Endeavor Gathering to KME for $36 million As result of this transaction we will incur additional gathering

and compression expenses that we have not had historically and KME will receive portion of the net income

generated by the assets owned by Endeavor Gathering that we had previously received These additional

expenses could reduce the economic lives of our current and future operated wells Our reserves and estimated

future cash flows could be reduced as result of the potential reduction in the economic lives of our operated

wells
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Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry

Oil and natural gas prices have material impact on us

Lower oil and natural gas prices would adversely affect our financial position financial results cash flows

access to capital and ability to grow Our revenues operating results profitability and future rate of growth

depend primarily upon the prices we receive for the oil and natural gas we sell Prices also affect the amount of

cash flow available for capital expenditures and our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital The

amount we can borrow under our revolving bank credit facility is subject to periodic redeterminations based on

the valuation by our banks of our oil and natural gas reserves which will depend on oil and natural gas prices

used by our banks at the time of determination In addition we may have full-cost ceiling test write-downs in the

future if prices fall

Historically the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile and they are likely to continue to be

volatile Wide fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may result from relatively minor changes in the supply of

and demand for oil and natural gas market uncertainty and other factors that are beyond our control including

worldwide and domestic supplies of oil and natural gas

weather conditions

the level of consumer demand

the price and availability of alternative fuels

the availability of pipeline capacity

the price and level of foreign imports

domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes

the ability of the members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and

maintain oil price and production controls

political instability or armed conflict in oil and natural gas producing regions and

the overall economic environment

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets make it extremely difficult to predict future oil and

natural
gas price movements with any certainty Declines in oil and natural gas prices would not only reduce

revenue but could reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that we can produce economically and as result

could have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and reserves Further oil

and natural
gas prices do not necessarily move in tandem Because approximately 94% of our reserves at

December 31 2009 are natural gas reserves we are more affected by movements in natural gas prices

Estimates of proved natural gas and oil reserves and present value of proved reserves are not precise

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves and

their values including many factors beyond our control The reserve data included in this report represent only

estimates Reserve engineering is subjective process
of estimating underground accumulations of oil and

natural gas that cannot be measured in an exact manner The accuracy
of

any reserve estimate is function of the

quality of available data the precision of the engineering and geological interpretation and judgment As

result estimates of different engineers often vary The estimates of reserves future cash flows and present value

are based on various assumptions including those prescribed by the SEC and are inherently imprecise Actual

future production cash flows taxes development expenditures operating expenses
and quantities of recoverable

oil and natural gas reserves may vary substantially from our estimates Also the use of 10% discount factor for

reporting purposes may not necessarily represent the most appropriate discount factor given actual interest rates

and risks to which our business or the oil and natural gas industry in general are subject
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Quantities of proved reserves are estimated based on economic conditions including average oil and natural

gas prices calculated at the date of assessment reduction in oil and natural
gas prices not only would reduce

the value of any proved reserves but also might reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that could be

economically produced thereby reducing the quantity of reserves Our proved reserves are estimated using

assumptions of decline rates based on historic experience Due to the limited production history we have in our

core area our initial assumptions of decline rates are subject to modification as we gain more experience in

operating our wells Our reserves and future cash flows may be subject to revisions based upon changes in

economic conditions including oil and natural gas prices as well as due to production results results of future

development operating and development costs and other factors Downward revisions of our reserves could

have an adverse affect on our financial condition and operating results

At December 31 2009 approximately 62% of our estimated proved reserves by volume were undeveloped

Estimates of proved undeveloped reserves are less certain than estimates of proved developed reserves Recovery of

proved undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations The

reserve data assumes that we will make significant capital expenditures to develop our reserves Although we have

prepared estimates of these oil and natural gas reserves and the costs associated with development of these reserves

in accordance with SEC regulations actual capital expenditures will likely vary from estimated capital expenditures

development may not occur as scheduled and actual results may not be as estimated

Our 2009 year-end reserve estimates are not directly comparable to prior estimates because of new reporting

rules issued by the SEC andfuture guidance provided by the SEC may differ from our interpretation of these

new rules

Our year-end 2009 proved reserves estimates included in this report were prepared according to new SEC

rules These rules are different from prior rules in many respects As result of these differences our reserve

estimates beginning with year-end 2009 are not directly comparable to our previously-reported reserves The

SEC has not reviewed our or any other reporting companys reserve estimates under the new rules In addition

the SEC to date has released only limited interpretive guidance regarding reporting of reserve estimates under the

new rules As result while we have prepared our year-end 2009 estimates of proved reserves based on what we

and our independent reserve engineers believe to be reasonable interpretations of the new SEC rules those

estimates could differ materially from any estimates we might prepare after considering any future additional

SEC guidance regarding the interpretation of the new rules

Competition in the oil and natural gas industry is intense and we are smaller than many of our competitors

We compete with major integrated oil and natural gas companies and independent oil and natural
gas

companies in all areas of operation In particular we compete for property acquisitions and for the equipment

and labor required to operate and develop these properties Most of our competitors have substantially greater

financial and other resources than we have In addition larger competitors may be able to absorb the burden of

any changes in federal state and local laws and regulations more easily than we can which would adversely

affect our competitive position These competitors may be able to pay more for exploratory prospects and may be

able to define evaluate bid for and purchase greater number of properties and prospects than we can Further

our competitors may have technological advantages and may be able to implement new technologies more

rapidly than we can Our ability to explore for natural gas and oil prospects and to acquire additional properties in

the future will depend on our ability to conduct operations to evaluate and select suitable properties and to

consummate transactions in this highly competitive environment

We may encounter difficulty in obtaining equipment and services

Higher oil and natural gas prices and increased oil and natural gas drilling activity generally stimulate

increased demand and result in increased prices and unavailability for drilling rigs crews associated supplies

equipment and services While we have recently been successful in acquiring or contracting for services we

25



could experience difficulty obtaining drilling rigs crews associated supplies equipment and services in the

future These shortages could also result in increased costs or delays in timing of anticipated development or

cause interests in oil and natural gas leases to lapse We cannot be certain that we will be able to implement our

drilling plans or do so at costs that will be as estimated or acceptable to us

Due to the recent increase of drilling HaynesvillelBossier Shale wells in and around our core area demand

for higher pressure downhole pipe and other equipment necessary for drilling these wells has been very high If

we are unable to obtain this equipment in timely manner the implementation of our Haynesville/Bossier Shale

drilling plans could be delayed

We may incur write-downs of the net book values of our oil and natural gas properties that would adversely

affect our equity and earnings

The full cost method of accounting which we follow requires that we periodically compare the net book

value of our oil and natural gas properties including related deferred income taxes to calculated ceiling The

ceiling is the estimated after-tax present value of the future net revenues from proved reserves using 10%

annual discount rate and using constant prices and costs Any excess of net book value of oil and natural gas

properties is written off as an expense and may not be reversed in subsequent periods even though higher oil and

natural gas prices may have increased the ceiling in these future periods write-off constitutes charge to

earnings and reduces equity but does not impact our cash flows from operating activities On December 31

2008 we recorded an impairment charge of $192.7 million on our oil and natural gas properties due to ceiling

test write-down based on natural gas price of $5.71 per MMbtu and crude oil price of $44.60 per barrel at

December 31 2008 On March 31 2009 we recorded an additional impairment charge of $138.1 million on our

oil and natural
gas properties due to ceiling test write-down based on natural gas price of $3.63 per MMbtu

and crude oil price of $49.64 per barrel at March 31 2009 On December 31 2009 we recorded an impairment

charge of $50.1 million on our oil and natural gas properties due to ceiling test write-down based on natural

gas price of $3.87 per MMbtu and crude oil price of $61.19 per barrel If commodity prices continue to remain

low we may be subject to additional ceiling test write-downs Future write-offs may occur that would have

material adverse effect on our net income in the period taken but would not affect our cash flows Even though

such write-offs do not affect cash flow they could have an adverse effect on the price of our publicly traded

securities

Operational risks in our business are numerous and could materially impact us

Our operations involve operational risks and uncertainties associated with drilling for and production and

transportation of oil and natural gas all of which can affect our operating results Our operations may be

materially curtailed delayed or canceled as result of numerous factors including

the presence of unanticipated pressure or irregularities in formations

accidents

title problems

weather conditions

compliance with governmental requirements

shortages or delays in the delivery of equipment

injury or loss of life

severe damage to or destruction of property natural resources and equipment

pollution or other environmental damage

clean-up responsibilities
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regulatory investigation and penalties and

other losses resulting in suspension of our operations

In accordance with customary industry practice we maintain insurance against some but not all of the risks

described above with general liability and commercial umbrella policy We do not maintain insurance for

damages arising out of exposure to radioactive material Even in the case of risks against which we are insured

our policies are subject to limitations and exceptions that could cause us to be unprotected against some or all of

the risk The occurrence of an uninsured loss could have material adverse effect on our financial condition or

results of operations

Governmental regulations could adversely affect our business

Our business is subject to certain federal state and local laws and regulations on taxation the exploration

for and development production and marketing of oil and natural gas and environmental and safety matters

Many laws and regulations require drilling permits and govern the spacing of wells rates of production

prevention of waste and other matters These laws and regulations have increased the costs of our operations In

addition these laws and regulations and any others that are passed by the jurisdictions where we have

production could limit the total number of wells drilled or the allowable production from successful wells which

could limit our revenues

Laws and regulations relating to our business frequently change and future laws and regulations including

changes to existing laws and regulations could adversely affect our business

In particular and without limiting the foregoing various tax proposals currently under consideration could

result in an increase alid acceleration of the payment of federal income taxes assessed against independent oil and

natural gas producers for example by eliminating the ability to expense intangible drilling costs removing the

percentage depletion allowance and increasing the amortization period for geological and geophysical expenses

Any of these changes would increase our tax burden In addition proposals under consideration relating to the

over-the-counter derivatives market could adversely affect our hedging program related to our natural gas
and oil

production since we rely upon the over-the-counter derivatives market for our hedging activities

Environmental liabilities could adversely affect our business

In the event of release of oil natural gas or other pollutants from our operations into the environment we
could incur liability for any and all consequences of such release including personal injuries property damage

cleanup costs and governmental fines We could potentially discharge these materials into the environment in

several ways including

from well or drilling equipment at drill site

leakage from gathering systems pipelines transportation facilities and storage tanks

damage to oil and natural gas wells resulting from accidents during normal operations and

blowouts cratering and explosions

In addition because we may acquire interests in properties that have been operated in the past by others we

may be liable for environmental damage including historical contamination caused by such former operators

Additional liabilities could also arise from continuing violations or contamination that we have not yet

discovered relating to the acquired properties or any of our other properties

To the extent we incur any environmental liabilities it could adversely affect our results of operations or

financial condition
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Climate change legislation regulation and litigation could materially adversely affect us

Many countries including the United States have begun considering or implementing legal measures to

reduce emissions of greenhouse gases or GHGs in part due to studies suggesting that GHGs may be

contributing to the warming of the Earths atmosphere Methane primary component of natural gas and carbon

dioxide byproduct of the burning of natural gas are examples of GHGs In September 2009 the U.S

Environmental Protection Agency or EPA promulgated rule requiring certain sources of GHG emissions

including oil and natural gas exploration companies and certain purchasers of natural gas to monitor and report

their GHG emissions to the EPA In addition in response to the 2007 U.S Supreme Court ruling in

Massachusetts EPA that the EPA has authority to regulate carbon dioxide emissions under the Clean Air Act

the EPA has issued or is considering several proposals that if finalized would result in regulation of GHG
emissions from variety of sources For example the EPA has issued proposals that could result in requirement

to install best available control technology for GHG emissions when certain stationary sources are built or

significantly modified The U.S Congress is also actively considering legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs
and certain governmental bodies including at least one state have or are considering imposing fee to be paid

by certain emitters of GHGs Further U.S federal appellate court recently reinstated lawsuit against five U.S

electric utility companies alleging that those companies have created public nuisance due to their emissions of

carbon dioxide

Passage of legislation or regulations that regulate or restrict emissions of GHGs or GHG-related litigation

instituted against us or our customers could result in direct costs to us and could also result in changes to the

consumption and demand for natural gas and carbon dioxide produced from our oil and natural gas properties

any of which could have material adverse effect on our business financial position results of operations and

prospects

Horizontal drilling activities could be subject to increased regulation and could expose us to environmental

risks that could adversely affect us

Legislation relating to horizontal drilling activities that could impose new permitting disclosure or other

environmental restrictiOns or obligations on our operations is currently being considered at the federal level and

may in the future be considered at the state or local level In particular the U.S Congress recently signaled

renewed interest in certain downhole injection activities some of which we utilize in our operations The focus

may lead to new legislation or regulations that could affect our operations Any additional requirements or

restrictions on our operations could result in delays increased operating costs or requirement to change or

eliminate certain drilling and injection activities in manner that may materially adversely affect us In addition

because horizontal drilling involves the injection of water sand and chemicals under pressure into rock

formations to stimulate natural gas production it is also possible that our drilling and injection operations could

adversely affect the environment which could result in requirement to perform investigations or clean-ups or in

the incurrence of other unexpected material costs or liabilities

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

The information required by Item is contained in Item 1Business

Item Legal Proceedings

None

Item Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Common Stock

On December 16 2009 we transferred the listing of our common stock from The NASDAQ Global Select

Market to The New York Stock Exchange The high and low sales prices for our common stock as listed on The

NASDAQ Global Select Market or The New York Stock Exchange as applicable during the periods described

below were as follows

High Low

Year Ended December 31 2008

First Quarter $35.22 $23.65

Second Quarter 76.89 34.09

Third Quarter 88.35 40.74

Fourth Quarter 47.91 16.84

Year Ended December 31 2009

First Quarter
$30.49 5.96

Second Quarter 19.10 5.57

Third Quarter
16.61 8.38

Fourth Quarter
19.00 10.95

As of February 22 2010 there were 111 record owners of our common stock and an estimated 10100

beneficial owners

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our shares of common stock and do not anticipate

paying any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the foreseeable future Currently we intend to

retain any future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business Any future decision to pay cash

dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent upon our

financial condition results of operations capital requirements and other facts our board of directors may deem

relevant The declaration and payment of dividends is currently prohibited under the terms of our revolving bank

credit facility and may be similarly restricted in the future See Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of OperationsRevolving Bank Credit Facility and Other Debt

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes the number of outstanding options granted to employees and directors as

well as the number of securities remaining available for future issuance under our equity compensation plans as

of December 31 2009

Number of

securities remaining

Number of available for future

securities to be Weighted- issuance under

issued upon average exercise equity compensation

exercise of price of plans excluding

outstanding outstanding securities reflected

Plan Category options options at left

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders ... 576800 $30.16 160588

Includes 136588 shares that may be issued in the form of restricted stock or bonus stock grants under the

Companys 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan
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Shareholder Return Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder returns of our Common Stock during the

five years ended December 31 2009 with the cumulative total shareholder returns of the Russell 2000 Index and

the AMEX Oil Index The comparison assumes an investment of $100 on December 31 2004 in each of our

Common Stock the Russell 2000 Index and the AMEX Oil Index and that any dividends were reinvested

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among GMX Resources Inc The Russell 2000 Index

AndAMEXOII Index

12/06 12107 12/08 12/09

GMX Resources Inc Russell 2000 ------ AMEX Oil

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

None during 2009

Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents information about repurchases of our common stock during the three months

ended December 31 2009

Period

October 2009 to October 31 2009

November 2009 to November 30 2009

December 2009 to December 31 2009 .. 422 13.74

The number of shares of our common stock repurchased reflects the number of shares surrendered to the

Company to pay withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock awards

$600

$500

4UU

$300

$200

$100

$0

12/04 12/05

$1 00 invested on 12/31/04 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Fiscal veer ending December 31

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Paid per

Purchased Share

Total Number of

Shares

Purchased as

Part of Publicly

Announced

Plans or Programs

Maximum
Number of Shares

that May Yet Be

Purchased Under

the plans or

Programs
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following table presents our selective financial information for the periods indicated which were

derived from our consolidated financial statements It should be read in conjunction with our consolidated

financial statements and related notes beginning on page F-i at the end of this report and other financial

information included herein

Year Ended December 31

Statement of Operations Data

Oil and natural gas sales

Expenses
Lease operations

Production and severance taxes
General and administrative

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Impairment of oil and natural gas

properties

Total expenses

Income loss from operations

Total non-operating income expense

Income loss before income taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss
Net income attributable to non-controlling

interest

Net income loss applicable to GMX
Resources

Preferred stock dividends

Net income loss applicable to GMX
Resources common shareholders

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Weighted average common
sharesbasic

Weighted average common
sharesdiluted

Statement of Cash Flows Data
Cash provided by operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

Cash provided by financing activities

Balance Sheet Data at end of period
Oil and natural

gas properties net

Total assets

Long-term debt including current portion

Total GMX Resources equity

2070 4479 8982 15101 11776

1241 465 2746 5306 930
3389 5829 8717 16899 21390
3982 8046 18681 31744 31006

192650 188150

18819 39126 261700 251392

13063 28757 135964 157098

673 3862 13686 23401

12390 24895 149650 180499
3415 8010 25013 33

8975 16885 124637 180466

173

7156 8975 16885 124637 180639
1799 4625 4625 4625

2008

2005 2006 2007 as adjusted2 2009

in thousands except share and per share data

19026 31882 67883 125736 94294

10682

8344

24

8368
1212

7156

7156 7176 12260

.81$ .65$ .94

79$ .64$ .93

129262$ 185264

9.09$ 9.17

9.09$ 9.17

8797529 11120204 13075560 14216466 20210400

9102181 11283265 13208746 14216466 20210400

16323

39549
24756

58927
81103

1756

61225

38333
130573

94807

157300

210322
41820

131481

52445

194998
143500

320955

395340
125734

208926

83237

318360
235932

383890
525001

224342

243743

49490
181324

160672

331329
519638
190278

243947

Production and severance taxes in 2006 2007 2008 and 2009 reflect severance tax refunds of $1.4 million

$518000 $1.2 million and $2.9 million respectively received or accrued during the year

Certain amounts have been restated for correction of accounting errors and retroactively adjusted for the

2009 adoption of newly issued accounting standards related to convertible debt See Note BCorrection of

Errors and Note CAdoption of Accounting Principles in our consolidated financial statements for the

year ended December 31 2009
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

Summary Operating and Reserve Data

The following table presents an unaudited summary of oil and natural gas production production prices

production costs and oil and natural
gas reserve data for the periods indicated

Year Ended December 31

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Production

Oil MBbls 48 69 127 190 119

Natural gas MMcf 1930 3915 7974 11777 12908

Gas equivalent MMcfe 2220 4327 8735 12918 13620

Average daily MMcfe 6.08 11.9 23.9 35.3 37.3

Average Sales Price

Oil per Bbl

Wellhcad price $53.35 $63.22 71.08 99.16 56.61

Effect of hedges 1.97 10.19 19.41

Total $53.35 $63.22 69.11 88.97 76.02

Natural gas per Mcf
Welihead price 8.52 6.79 7.00 9.50 3.85

Effectof hedges 0.24 0.41 0.26 2.76

Total 8.52 7.03 7.41 9.24 6.61

Average sales price per Mcfe 8.57 7.37 7.77 9.73 6.92

Operating and Overhead Costs per Mcfe
Lease operating expenses 0.93 1.04 1.03 1.17 0.86

Production and severance taxes 0.56 0.11 0.31 0.41 0.07

General and administrative 1.53 1.35 1.00 1.31 1.57

Total 3.02 2.50 2.34 2.89 2.36

Cash Operating Margin per Mcfe 5.55 4.87 5.43 6.84 4.56

Other per Mcfe
Depreciation depletion and amortizationoil and natural

gas

production 158 1.59 1.88 2.08 1.76

Estimated Net Proved Reserves as of period-end

Natural gas Bcf 150.0 236.9 406.3 435.3 333.2

Oil MMbls 2.0 2.7 4.7 5.0 3.7

Total Bcfe 161.7 253.0 434.5 465.3 355.3

Estimated Future Net Revenues $MM12 $692.9 $519.5 $1896.3 $1012.3 625.7

Present Value $MM2 $245.0 $173.3 592.8 280.7 188.6

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

$MM3 $185.5 $134.4 427.7 228.8 188.6

See Item BusinessCertain Technical Terms

The 2009 prices used in calculating Estimated Future Net Revenues and the Present Value are determined

using prices as prescribed by the SEC Estimated Future Net Revenues and the Present Value give no effect

to federal or state income taxes attributable to estimated future net revenues See Item Business

Reserves

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows give effect to federal and state income taxes

attributable to estimated future net revenues In years where our effective tax rate is 0% there is no effect to

the standardized measure for federal or state taxes as was the case in 2009 See Note NSupplemental

Information on Oil and Natural Gas Operations in our consolidated financial statements
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We are an independent oil and gas company engaged in the exploration development and production of oil

and natural gas from the HaynesvillelBossier Shale and Cotton Valley Sands in our core area the Sabine Uplift

of the Carthage North Field of Harrison and Panola counties of east Texas We consider and report all of our

operations as one segment because our operating areas have similareconomic characteristics and each meet the

criteria for aggregation as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards

Codification 280

Our strategy is to grow shareholder value through HaynesvillelBossier Shale horizontal well development as

well as Cotton Valley Sand wells to continue acreage acquisitions in our core area to focus on operational

growth in and around our core area and to convert our natural gas reserves to proved reserves while maintaining

balanced prudent financial management

Results of OperationsYear ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year ended December 31 2008

Certain amounts in 2008 have been restated as disclosed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

and reflect retrospective adjustments for the adoption of ASC 470-20 as disclosed in Note to the consolidated

financial statements

Oil and Natural Gas Sales Oil and natural gas sales in the year ended December 31 2009 decreased 25% to

$94.3 million compared to the year ended December 31 2008 This decrease is due to lower natural gas
and oil prices

of 29% offset by 5% increase in natural gas and oil production The average prices per barrel of oil and mcf of

natural gas received in the year ended December 31 2009 were $76.02 and $6.61 respectively compared to $88.97

and $9.24 respectively in the year ended December 31 2008 Production of oil decreased to 119 MBbls compared to

190 MBbls for 2008 The decrease in oil production is due to the natural decline in the Companys Cotton Valley

Sands vertical well production which has historically provided most of the Companys oil production H/B horizontal

wells typically do not have oil production Natural gas production increased to 12908 MMcf for 2009 compared to

11777 MMcf for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of 10% The increase in natural gas production

resulted from production related to 12 producing H/B horizontal wells that were on-line during 2009 Production from

H/B horizontal wells accounted for 33% of total production for 2009 compared to 1% for 2008

In the year ended December 31 2009 as result of hedging activities we recognized an increase in oil and

natural gas sales of $37.9 million compared to decrease in oil and natural gas
sales of $5.0 million in the year

ended December 31 2008 In the year ended December 31 2009 hedging increased the
average

natural gas and

oil sales price by $2.76 per Mcf and $19.41 per Bbl compared to reduction of the average
natural gas and oil

sales price by $0.26 per Mcf and $10.19 per Bbl in the year ended December 31 2008

Lease Operations Lease operations expense decreased $3.3 million in the year ended December 31 2009 to

$11.8 million 22% decrease compared to the year ended December 31 2008 Lease operations expense on an

equivalent unit of production basis was $0.86 per
Mcfe in the year ended December31 2009 compared to $1.17

per Mcfe for the year
ended December 31 2008 The decrease in lease operating expenses on an equivalent unit

basis resulted from an increase in H/B horizontal well production and cost control measures implemented during

2009 With little to no incremental increase in lease operating costs from typical Cotton Valley Sands vertical

well the significantly larger amount of production from typical H/B horizontal well results in lower
per

unit

lease operating costs

Production and Severance Taxes Partially as result of the recognition of severance tax refunds of

approximately $2.9 million in 2009 production and severance taxes decreased 118% from an expense of $5.3

million in the year ended December 31 2008 to income of $0.9 million in the year ended December 31 2009

Upon approval by the State of Texas certain high cost wells including our H/B horizontal wells are exempt

from severance taxes for period of ten years
and we expect this to reduce our expense going forward Excluding

the production and severance tax refunds received in 2009 production and severance tax expense also decreased

$3.3 million in comparison to 2008 due to decrease in oil and natural gas prices between the two periods and

the fact that more producing wells in 2009 have received the production and severance tax exemptions
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General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expense for the year ended December 31
2009 was $21.4 million compared to $16.9 million for the year ended December 31 2008 an increase of 27%
The increase of $4.5 million was due to an increase in administrative and supervisory personnel General and

administrative expense per equivalent unit of production was $1.57 per Mcfe for the year ended December 31
2009 compared to $1.31 per Mcfe for the comparable period in 2008 Approximately $4.6 million or 22% of the

general and administrative expenses in 2009 was related to non-cash compensation expense compared to

$3.1 million or 18% in 2008 significant portion of the Companys general and administrative expense is

related to non-cash compensation expense General and administrative
expense

has not historically varied in

direct proportion to oil and natural gas production because certain types of general and administrative
expenses

are non-recurring or fixed in nature The Company expects general and administrative
expenses on per Mcfe

basis to decrease as production increases

Depreciation Depletion and Amortization Depreciation depletion and amortization expense decreased

0.7 million to $31.0 million in the year ended December 31 2009 down 2% from the year ended December 31
2008 The oil and gas properties depreciation depletion and amortization rate per equivalent unit of production

was $1.76 per Mcfe in the year ended December 31 2009 compared to $2.08 per Mcfe in the year ended

December 31 2008 The depletion rate decrease was due to lower cost basis in oil and gas properties subject to

amortization due to previously recorded impairment charges as result of lower crude oil and natural gas prices

at year end 2008 and 2009

Impairment of oil and natural
gas properties As result of the continued decline in natural gas prices from

year-end 2008 which limited the amount of oil and gas properties that could be capitalized on the balance sheet

under the SEC ceiling test we recognized an impairment charge on oil and gas properties of $188.2 million

in the
year ended December 31 2009 compared to an impairment charge on oil and gas properties of $192.7

million in the
year ended December 31 2008 The Company may be required to recognize additional impairment

charges or writedowns in future reporting periods if market prices for oil or natural
gas continue to decline or

remain at their depressed levels

interest Interest
expense

for the
year

ended December 31 2009 was $16.1 million compared to $13.6

million for the
year

ended December 31 2008 This increase is due to greater amount of outstanding debt

during 2009 and an increase in non-cash interest expense related to our convertible notes Interest expense for the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2009 includes non-cash interest expense of $1.9 million and $3.9 million

respectively related to the accretion of the 5.00% senior convertible notes due 2013 and the 4.50% convertible

senior notes due 2015

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt In October 2009 we entered into an amendment with the Prudential

Insurance Company of America Prudential pursuant to which Prudential agreed to accept repayment of its

senior secured subordinated notes with the proceeds of our offering of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015

We repaid all the senior secured subordinated notes on October 29 2009 As result of prepaying the senior

secured subordinated notes we recognized pre-payment penalty of $4.6 million and expensed remaining

deferred debt issue costs of $0.3 million

income Taxes Income tax for 2009 was benefit of $33000 as compared to benefit of $25.0 million in

2008 The effective tax rates for 2008 and 2009 were 17% and 0% respectively The decrease in the effective tax

rate from the 34% statutory tax rate in the years ended December 31 2008 and 2009 was due to $11.5 million

and $17.5 million respectively of deferred tax expense relating to valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

that reduced our tax benefit

Results of OperationsYear ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year ended December 31 2007

Certain amounts in 2008 have been restated as disclosed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

and reflect retrospective adjustments for the adoption of new accounting pronouncement related to the

accounting for our convertible notes as disclosed in Note to the consolidated financial statements
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Oil and Natural Gas Sales Oil and natural gas sales in the year ended December 31 2008 increased 85% to

$125.7 million compared to the year ended December 31 2007 Of the increase 48% is due to higher natural gas

and oil production and 25% to an increase in natural gas and oil prices The average prices per barrel of oil and

mcf of natural gas received in the year ended December 31 2008 were $88.97 and $9.24 respectively compared

to $69.11 and $7.41 respectively in the year ended December 31 2007 Production of oil increased to

190 MBbls compared to 127 MBbls for 2007 Natural gas production increased to 11777 MMcf for 2008

compared to 7974 MMcf for the year ended December 31 2007 an increase of 48%

In the
year

ended December 31 2008 as result of hedging activities we recognized decrease in oil and

natural gas
sales of $5 million compared to an increase in oil and natural

gas
sales of $3 million in the year

ended December 31 2007 In the
year

ended December 31 2008 hedging reduced the
average

natural gas and

oil sales price by $0.26 per
Mcf and $10.19 per

Bbl compared to an increase in natural
gas sales price of $0.41

per
Mcf and decrease in oil sales price by $1.97 per

Bbl in the
year ended December 31 2007

Lease Operations Lease operations expense
increased $6.1 million in the

year
ended December 31 2008 to

$15.1 million 68% increase compared to the year ended December 31 2007 Increased
expense

resulted from

greater number of producing wells in addition to maintenance
expenses

for the Companys growing field

operations Lease operations expense on an equivalent unit of production basis was $1.17 per
Mcfe in the

year

ended December 31 2008 compared to $1.03 per
Mcfe for the year

ended December 31 2007

Production and Severance Taxes Production and severance taxes increased 93% to $5.3 million in the year

ended December 31 2008 compared to $2.7 million in the year ended December 31 2007 Production and

severance taxes are assessed on the value of the oil and natural gas produced The above increase resulted from

higher oil and natural gas sales described above offset by severance tax refunds of approximately $1.2 million

recorded in 2008 growing number of wells with natural gas production are exempt from severance taxes or

have reduced severance tax rates We recognized severance tax refunds of approximately $518000 in 2007

Upon approval from the State of Texas certain wells are exempt from severance taxes or eligible for reduced

severance tax rate for period of ten years

Depreciation Depletion and Amortization Depreciation depletion and amortization expense increased

$13.0 million to $31.7 million in the year ended December 31 2008 up 70% from the year ended December 31

2007 This increase is due to higher production levels and higher costs The oil and gas properties depreciation

depletion and amortization rate per equivalent unit of production was $2.08 per Mcfe in the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to $1.88 per Mcfe in the year ended December 31 2007 The depletion rate

increase was largely the result of lower oil and natural gas prices reducing the economic lives and reserves on our

wells which resulted in our oil and natural gas properties being amortized over smaller reserve base than if

reserves were calculated at higher prices

General and Administrative Expense General and administrative expense for the year ended December 31

2008 was $16.9 million compared to $8.7 million for the year ended December 31 2007 an increase of 94%

The increase of $8.2 million was largely the result of hiring additional administrative and supervisory personnel

to manage our growth and compensation increases implemented on July 2008 to align our compensation more

closely with our peers Approximately $3.1 million of the general and administrative expenses was related to

non-cash compensation expense compared to $1.6 million in 2007 Additionally we recorded $748000 charge

to bad debt expense related to our estimated exposure from bankruptcy filed by one of our oil purchasers

General and administrative expense per equivalent unit of production was $1.31 per Mcfe for the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to $1.00 per Mcfe for the comparable period in 2007 Excluding the charge to bad

debt expense general and administrative expense on per unit of production would have been $1.11 per Mcfe

for the year-ended 2008 Longer term general and administrative costs should decline on per unit basis as our

production increases from the Haynesville/Bossier Shale development

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties As result of lower oil and gas prices which limited the

amount of oil and gas properties that could be capitalized on the balance sheet under the SECs ceiling test we

recognized an impairment charge on oil and gas properties of $192.7 million
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Interest Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2008 was $13.6 million compared to $4.1 million

for the year ended December 31 2007 This increase is due to greater amount of outstanding debt during 2008

Interest expense for the year ended December 31 2008 included non-cash interest expense of $1.9 million related

to the accretion of the 5.00% convertible senior notes due 2013

Income Taxes Income tax for 2008 was benefit of $25.0 million as compared to an expense of $8.0

million in 2007 The effective tax rates for 2007 and 2008 were 32% and 17% respectively The decrease in the

effective tax rate in 2008 was due to $11.5 million of deferred tax expense relating to valuation allowance

established for deferred tax assets that reduced our tax benefit

Net Income and Net Income per Share

Net Income and Net Income Per ShareYear Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended

December 31 2008 For the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we reported net loss of $180.5 million and

$124.6 million respectively Excluding the impairment charge of $188.2 million related to our oil and natural gas

nrnertiec the 1c nn the e.ytincniishrne.nt nf debt nf fl millinn 2nd nfher nnn-ch h2rec nf millicin we

2009 Excluding the

impairment charge of $192.7 million $127.2 million after income taxes related to our oil and natural
gas

properties non-cash charge to deferred income taxes for valuation allowance on our net deferred tax asset of

$26.1 million and other non-cash charges of $0.7 million net of tax we would have reported net income of

$24.7 million for the year ended December 31 2008 Net loss per basic and fully diluted share was $9.17 for the

year ended 2009 compared to net loss per basic and fully diluted share of $9.09 for the year ended 2008

Excluding the impairment charge related to our oil and natural gas properties the loss on the extinguishment of

debt and other non-cash charges including unrealized losses on derivatives net income per basic and fully

diluted share for 2009 would have been $0.53

Net Income and Net Income Per ShareYear Ended December 3.1 2008 Compared to Year Ended

December 31 2007 For the year ended December 31 2008 and 2007 we reported net loss of $124.6 million and

net income of $16.9 million respectively Excluding the impairment charge of $192.7 million $127.2 million

after income taxes related to our oil and natural
gas properties and non-cash charge to deferred income taxes

for valuation allowance on our net deferred tax asset of $26.1 million and other non-cash charges of $0.7

million net of tax we would have reported net income of $24.7 million for the
year

ended December 31 2008

Net loss per basic and fully diluted share was $9.09 for the
year ended 2008 compared to net income

per
basic

and fully diluted share of $0.94 and $0.93 for the year ended December 31 2007 respectively Excluding the

impairment charge related to our oil and natural gas properties and the valuation allowance on our net deferred

tax asset and other non-cash charges including unrealized losses on derivatives net income per basic and fully

diluted share for 2008 would have been $1.74 and $1.62 respectively

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Our business is capital intensive Our ability to grow our reserve base is dependent upon our ability to obtain

outside capital and generate cash flows from operating activities to fund our drilling and capital expenditures

Our cash flows from operating activities are substantially dependent upon crude oil and natural gas prices and

significant decreases in market prices of crude oil or natural gas could result in reductions of cash flow and affect

our drilling and capital expenditure plan To mitigate portion of our exposure to fluctuations in commodity

prices we typically enter into crude oil and natural gas swaps collars three-way collars and put spreads

For the year ended December 31 2009 our capital expenditures were $179.3 million of which $116.3

million was for drilling and completing H/B horizontal wells $9.2 million was for rig delay fees $15.9 million

on Cotton Valley Sands and Travis Peak drilling and other drilling related expenditures including tubular

inventory and $37.9 million was related to leasehold and infrastructure costs Anticipated 2010 capital

expenditure guidance is $175 million for three H/B Hz rig drilling program We continually review our drilling
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and capital expenditure plans and may change the amount we spend based on industry conditions and the

availability of capital We believe our cash in bank cash flow from operating activities and our availability under

our revolving bank credit facility $130 million at December 31 2009 are sufficient to fund our 2010 planned

oil and gas capital expenditure program

During 2009 we have accessed the capital markets and sold non-core assets to fund our H/B horizontal

drilling program In May 2009 we were successful in raising $65.3 million net of expenses from the sale of

5.75 million shares of common stock In October 2009 we were again successful in raising $98.8 million net of

expenses from the sale of 695 million shares of common stock and $82.8 million from the issuance of 4.50%

convertible senior notes due 2015 In addition to these capital market transactions we received $36.0 million in

November 2009 from the partial monetization of our mid-stream assets in the Endeavor Gathering transaction

We expect that this capital raised during 2009 will be sufficient to fund three rig drilling program through the

point at which our discretionary cash flows will exceed our capital expenditures We will continually adjust our

capital expenditures based on the current commodity price environment to ensure that we have adequate liquidity

in cash and/or with availability under our revolving bank credit facility We anticipate using various derivative

contracts such as puts put spreads and collars to mitigate natural gas and crude oil price risk on 60% to 80% of

our expected production over rolling 36 month period

Cash FlowYear Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2008 In 2009 we had

positive cash flow from operating activities of $49.5 million Our cash flow from operating activities in 2008

was $83.2 million Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities and after

preferred stock dividends was $50.4 million in 2009 compared to $73.7 million in 2008 This resulted from

25% decrease in oil and natural
gas

sales in 2009 We received net $160.7 million in cash from financing

activities in 2009 compared to 2008 amounts of $235.9 million The cash flow from financing activities in 2009

was primarily from the sale of common stock of $164.1 million issuance of 4.50% convertible senior notes due

2015 of $86.3 million and the sale of the equity interest in Endeavor Gathering for $36.0 million offset by

paydowns of debt under our revolving bank credit facility and Senior Secured Notes totaling $213.7 million The

cash flow from financing activities in 2008 was primarily from the sale of common stock of $134.7 million

issuance of 5.00% convertible senior notes due 2013 of $125.0 million and additional debt under our revolving

bank credit facility

cash FlowYear Ended December 31 2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2007 In 2008 we had

positive cash flow from operating activities of $83.2 million as result of increased production volume and

higher oil and natural gas prices during 2008 Our cash flow from operating activities in 2007 was $52.4 million

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities and after preferred stock

dividends was $73.7 million compared to $40.8 million in 2007 This resulted from an 85% increase in oil and

natural gas sales in 2008 We received net $235.9 million in cash from financing activities in 2008 compared to

2007 amounts of $143.5 million The cash flow from financing activities in 2008 was largely due to the sale of

common stock of $134.7 million issuance of 5.00% convertible senior notes due 2013 of $125.0 million and

additional debt under our revolving bank credit facility The cash inflow in 2007 from financing activities

primarily resulted from the sale of common stock private placement of Senior Secured Notes and additional debt

under our revolving bank credit facility

Revolving Bank Credit Facility and Other Debt

Revolving Bank Credit Facility We have secured revolving bank credit facility which matures on July 15

2011 and provides for line of credit of up to $250 million the commitment subject to borrowing base

which is based on periodic evaluation of oil and
gas reserves borrowing base The amount of credit

available at any one time under the credit facility is the lesser of the borrowing base or the amount of the

commitment

The loan bears interest at rate elected by us which is based on the prime LIBO or federal funds rate plus

margins ranging from 1% to 4.75% depending on the base rate used and the amount of the loan outstanding in
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relation to the borrowing base Principal is payable voluntarily by us or is required to be paid if the loan

amount exceeds the borrowing base ii if the Lender elects to require periodic payments as part of borrowing

base redetermination and iii at the maturity date of July 15 2011 The Company is obligated to pay facility

fee equal to 0.5% per year of the unused portion of the borrowing base payable quarterly

The borrowing base has been adjusted from time to time and was $130.0 million at December 31 2009 The

loan is secured by first mortgage on substantially all of our oil and natural
gas properties pledge of our

ownership of the equity interests in subsidiaries guaranty from certain of our subsidiaries and security

interest in all of the assets of certain of our subsidiaries

Effective as of October 17 2009 we amended the terms of our revolving bank credit facility to document

our lenders consent to the Endeavor Gathering transaction and the release by the lenders of the contributed

assets from the collateral pledged in support of the indebtedness under the revolving credit facility As part of the

amendment we also agreed to the inclusion of certain covenants in the revolving credit facility that prohibit the

creation of certain debt or the creation or incurrence of certain liens by Endeavor Gathering In addition to the
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revolving bank credit facility to permit us to offer and sell our 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015 and

to make certain related changes to provisions of the revolving bank credit facility restricting us from selling

4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015 with an aggregate principai amount greater than the amount received by

us in our concurrent offering of common stock and making any payment of principal or interest on the 4.50%

convertible senior notes due 2015 if we are in default under the revolving bank credit facility at the time or if any

such payment would cause default and ii remove the minimum net worth covenant previously imposed on

us under the revolving bank credit facility

In addition to customary reporting and compliance requirements the principal covenants as amended as of

December 31 2009 under the revolving bank credit facility are

Maintain current ratio as defined in the loan agreement of not less than to

Maintain on quarterly basis rolling four quarter ratio of EBITDA to cash interest expense and

preferred dividends of not less than to

Maintain on quarterly basis ratio of total debt to EBITDA of no more than to

Maintain hedging program on mutually acceptable terms whenever the loan amount outstanding

exceeds 75% of the borrowing base

Pay all accounts payable within 60 days of the due date other than those being contested in good faith

Not incur any other debt other than our Series Preferred Stock our $125 million of 5.00%

convertible senior notes due 2013 and our $86.5 million of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015

Not permit any liens other than those permitted by the loan agreement

Not make any investments loans or advances other than as permitted by the loan agreement which

includes permitted investment in Diamond Blue Drilling for no more than three drilling rigs

Not engage in any mergers or consolidations or sales of all or substantially all of our assets

Not pay any dividends on common stock or make any other distributions with respect to our stock

including stock repurchases

Not permit Ken Kenworthy Jr to cease being our chief executive officer other than by reason of his

death or disability unless we name successor acceptable to the lenders within four months

Not permit person or group other than existing management to acquire more than 50% of the

outstanding common stock or otherwise suffer change in control and
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Not to make any cash payments in respect of interest or on account of the conversion purchase

acquisition or termination of our 5.00% convertible senior notes due 2013 or our 4.50% convertible

senior notes due 2015 unless no event of default under the loan agreement exists or the payment would

not result in such default and the borrowing base has not been exceeded

As of December 31 2009 we were in compliance with all financial covenants under the revolving bank

credit facility

We will borrow under the revolving bank credit facility up to the borrowing base currently $130 million all

of which is available as of December 31 2009 to fund planned capital expenditures and for other general

corporate purposes Our lending bank group consists of Capital One N.A BNP Paribas Union Bank of

California N.A Compass Bank Fortis Capital Corp and Bank of America

5.00% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2013 In February 2008 we completed $125 million private

placement of 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 the 5.00% Convertible Notes Net proceeds of

approximately $121 million were used to repay our revolving bank credit facility and other indebtedness The

5.00% Convertible Notes are governed by an indenture dated as of February 15 2008 the Indenture between

the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company N.A as trustee the Trustee

The 5.00% Convertible Notes bear interest at rate of 5.00% per year payable semiannually in arrears on

February and August of each year beginning August 2008 The 5.00% Convertible Notes mature on

February 2013 unless earlier converted or repurchased by us Holders may convert their 5.00% Convertible

Notes at their option prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding November 2012

only under the following circumstances

during any fiscal quarter commencing after March 31 2008 if the last reported sale price of our

common stock for at least 20 trading days during period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the

last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable

conversion price on each such trading day

during the five business-day period after any five consecutive trading-day period in which the trading

price per $1000 principal amount of 5.00% Convertible Notes for each day of that measurement period

was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the applicable

conversion rate on each such day

upon the occurrence of corporate event pursuant to which we issue rights to all or substantially

all of the holders of our common stock entitling them to purchase for period expiring within 60 days

after the date of the distribution shares of our common stock at price below the average market price

at the time or we distribute to all or substantially all of the holders of our common stock our assets

debt securities or rights to purchase our securities if the distribution has per share value in excess of

10% of the last reported sale price for our common stock at the time or

if person or group within the meaning of Section 13d of the Exchange Act acquires more

than 50% of our outstanding voting stock we consummate recapitalization reclassification or

change of our common stock as result of which our common stock would be converted into or

exchanged for stock other securities other property or assets we consummate share exchange

consolidation or merger pursuant to which our common stock will be converted into cash securities or

other property we consummate any sale lease or other transfer in one transaction or series of

transactions of all or substantially all of our and our subsidiaries consolidated assets to any person

other than one of our subsidiaries continuing directors cease to constitute at least majority of our

board of directors our shareholders approve any plan or proposal for our liquidation or dissolution

or our common stock ceases to be listed on United States national or regional securities exchange

any of the events described in clauses through fundamental change
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On and after November 2012 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the

maturity date holders may convert their 5.00% Convertible Notes at any time regardless of the foregoing

circumstances

Upon conversion we will satisfy our conversion obligation by paying and delivering cash for the lesser of

the principal amount or the conversion value and if the conversion value is in excess of the principal amount by

paying or delivering at our option cash and/or shares of our common stock for such excess The conversion

value is daily value calculated on proportionate basis for each day of 60 trading-day observation period

The conversion rate is initially 30.7692 shares of our common stock per $1000 principal amount of 5.00%

Convertible Notes equivalent to conversion price of approximately $32.50 per share of common stock The

conversion rate is subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for accrued interest In addition

following any fundamental change that occurs prior to the maturity date we will increase the conversion rate for

holder who elects to convert its 5.00% Convertible Notes in connection with such fundamental change in

certain circumstances The increase in the conversion rate is determined based on formula that takes into

consideration our stock price at the time of the fundamental change ranging from $25.00 to $150.00 per share

and the remaining time to maturity of the 5.00% Convertible Notes The increase in the conversion rate ranges

from 0% to 30% increasing as the stock price at the time of the fundamental change increases from $25.00 and

declining as the remaining time to maturity of the 5.00% Convertible Notes decreases

We may not redeem the 5.00% Convertible Notes prior to maturity However if we undergo fundamental

change holders may require us to repurchase the 5.00% Convertible Notes in whole or in part for cash at price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 5.00% Convertible Notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and

unpaid interest including additional interest if any to but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date

The 5.00% Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of

payment to all of our other existing and future senior indebtedness and our existing 4.50% Convertible Notes

discussed below The 5.00% Convertible Notes are effectively subordinated to all our secured indebtedness

including indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility and our senior secured notes to the extent of the

value of our assets pledged as collateral for such indebtedness The 5.00% Convertible Notes are also effectively

subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries including liabilities under any guarantees they have issued

4.50% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2015 In October 2009 we completed an $86.3 million public offering

of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2015 4.50% Convertible Notes The proceeds of the offering were used

to repay
the Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due 2012 and portion of the outstanding indebtedness under

the revolving bank credit facility

The 4.50% Convertible Notes bear interest at rate of 4.50% per year payable semiannually in arrears on

May and November of each year beginning May 2010 The 4.50% Convertible Notes mature on May
2015 unless earlier converted or repurchased by us Holders may convert their notes prior to the close of

business on the business day immediately preceding February 2015 only under the following circumstances

during any fiscal
quarter commencing after January 2010 if the last reported sale price of our

conmion stock for at least 20 trading days during period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the

last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable

conversion price on each such trading day

during the five business-day period after
any five consecutive trading-day period in which the trading

price per $1000 principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Notes for each day of such five consecutive

trading-day period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock

and the applicable conversion rate on each such day

upon the occurrence of corporate event pursuant to which we issue rights to all or substantially

all of the holders of our common stock entitling them to purchase for period of not more than 60
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calendar days after the announcement date of such issuance to subscribe for or purchase shares of our

common stock at price per share less than the average of the last reported sale prices of our common

stock for the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day immediately preceding the

date of announcement of such issuance we distribute to all or substantially all of the holders of our

common stock our assets debt securities or rights to purchase our securities if the distribution has

per share value in excess of 10% of the last reported sale price for our common stock on the trading

day immediately preceding the date of announcement of such distribution or we are party to

consolidation merger binding share exchange or transfer or lease of all or substantially all of our

assets pursuant to which our common stock would be converted into cash securities or other assets

if person or group within the meaning of Section 13d of the Exchange Act acquires more

than 50% of our outstanding voting stock we consummate recapitalization reclassification or

change of our common stock as result of which our common stock would be converted into or

exchanged for stock other securities other property or assets less than 90% of which received by our

common shareholders consists of publicly traded securities we consummate share exchange

consolidation or merger pursuant to which our common stock will be converted into cash securities or

other property we consummate any sale lease or other transfer in one transaction or series of

transactions of all or substantially all of our and our subsidiaries consolidated assets to any person

other than one of our subsidiaries continuing directors cease to constitute at least majority of our

board of directors our shareholders approve any plan or proposal for our liquidation or dissolution

or our common stock ceases to be listed on any of The New York Stock Exchange The NASDAQ
Global Select Market or The NASDAQ Global Market or

if we call the 4.50% Convertible Notes for redemption at any time prior to the close of business on the

business day prior to the redemption date any of the events described in the fourth and fifth bullets

above make-whole fundamental change

On and after February 2015 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the

maturity date holders may convert their 4.50% Convertible Notes in multiples of $1000 principal amount at

the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances

Upon conversion we will satisfy our conversion obligation by paying or delivering cash shares of our

common stock or combination of cash and shares of our common stock at our election The conversion rate is

initially 53.3333 shares of our common stock
per $1000 principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Notes

equivalent to conversion price of approximately $18.75 per
share of our common stock The conversion rate

is subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for accrued and unpaid interest In addition

following any make-whole fundamental change that occurs prior to the maturity date we will increase the

conversion rate for holder who elects to convert its 4.50% Convertible Notes in connection with such make-

whole fundamental change in certain circumstances The increase in the conversion rate is determined based on

formula that takes into consideration our stock price at the time of the make-whole fundamental change ranging

from $15.00 to $100.00 per share and the remaining time to maturity of the 4.50% Convertible Notes The

increase in the conversion rate declines from high of 25.0% to 0.0% as the stock price at the time of the make-

whole fundamental change increases from $15.00 and the remaining time to maturity of the 4.50% Convertible

Notes decreases

On or after November 2012 and prior to the maturity date we may redeem for cash all but not less than

all of the 4.50% Convertible Notes if the last reported sales price of our common stock equals or exceeds 130%

of the conversion price then in effect for 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days

ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the redemption notice The redemption price will equal

100% of the principal amount of the 4.50% Convertible Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid

interest including any additional interest to but excluding the redemption date To the extent holder converts

its 4.50% Convertible Notes in connection with our redemption notice we will increase the conversion rate as

described in the preceding paragraph
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The 4.50% Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of

payment with our senior unsecured debt and our existing 500% Convertible Notes and are senior in right of

payment to our debt that is expressly subordinated to the 4.50% Convertible Notes if any The 4.50%

Convertible Notes are structurally subordinated to all debt and other liabilities and commitments of our

subsidiaries including our subsidiaries guarantees of our indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility

and are effectively junior to our secured debt to the extent of the assets securing such debt

Senior Subordinated Secured Notes In July 2007 we entered into Note Purchase Agreement Note

Agreement with The Prudential Insurance Company of America Prudential providing for the issuance and

sale from time to time of up to $100 million in senior subordinated secured notes the Secured Notes and sold

to Prudential an initial tranche of $30 million of 7.58% Series fixed rate notes due July 31 2012 with interest

payable quarterly Proceeds from the sale of the Secured Notes were used for general corporate purposes

including additional funding of drilling and development costs in the Cotton Valley Sands in East Texas On

October 18 2009 the Company entered into an amendment with Prudential to provide for the repayment of the

outstanding indebtedness of the Secured Notes The Company repaid all of the outstanding indebtedness under

the Secured Notes with portion ot the proceeds trom the 4.U% Convertible Notes issuea in October ZUU9 ne

terms of the repayment included prepayment penalty of $4.6 million

Share Lending Agreement

In February 2008 in connection with the offer and sale of the 5.00% Convertible Notes we entered into

share lending agreement the Share Lending Agreement with an affiliate of Jefferies Company Inc the

share borrower and Jefferies Company Inc as collateral agent for the Company Under this agreement we

will loan to the share borrower up to the maximum number of shares of our common stock underlying the 5.00%

Convertible Notes during specified loan availability period This maximum number of shares is initially

3846150 shares We will receive loan fee of $0.00 per share for each share of our common stock that we loan

to the share borrower payable at the time such shares are borrowed The share borrower may borrow and

re-borrow up to the maximum number of shares of our common stock during the loan availability period As of

December 31 2009 3140000 shares of our common stock were subject to outstanding loans to the share

borrower although 500000 of such shares were returned to us in March 2010

The share borrowers obligations under the Share Lending Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by

Jefferies Group Inc the ultimate parent company of the share borrower and Jefferies Company Inc the

guarantor If the guarantor receives rating downgrade for its long term unsecured and unsubordinated debt

below specified level by both Standard Poors Ratings Services and Moodys Investors Service Inc or any

substitute rating agency mutually agreed upon by the Company and the share borrower or by either of such

rating agencies in certain circumstances the share borrower has agreed to post and maintain with Jefferies

Company Inc acting as collateral agent for the Company collateral in the form of cash government securities

certificates of deposit high-grade commercial
paper

of U.S issuers letters of credit or money market shares with

market value at least equal to 100% of the market value of the shares of our common stock borrowed by the

share borrower as security for the share borrowers obligation to return the borrowed shares to the Company

pursuant to the Share Lending Agreement

The loan availability period under the Share Lending Agreement commenced on the date of the Share

Lending Agreement and will continue until the date that any of the following occurs

we notify the share borrower in writing of our intention to terminate the Share Lending Agreement at

any time after the entire principal amount of the 5.00% Convertible Notes ceases to be outstanding as

result of conversion repurchase at maturity or otherwise

we and the share borrower agree to terminate the Share Lending Agreement
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we elect to terminate all of the outstanding loans upon default by the share borrower under the Share

Lending Agreement or by the guarantor under its guarantee including breach by the share borrower

of any of its obligations or breach in any material respect of any of the representations or covenants

under the Share Lending Agreement or breach by the guarantor of the guarantee or the bankruptcy of

the share borrower or the guarantor or

the share borrower elects to terminate all outstanding loans upon the bankruptcy of the Company

Any shares we loan to the share borrower will be issued and outstanding for corporate law purposes and

accordingly the holders of the borrowed shares will have all of the rights of holder of share of our

outstanding common stock including the right to vote the shares on all matters submitted to vote of the

Companys shareholders and the right to receive any dividends or other distributions that we may pay or make on

our outstanding shares of common stock However under the Share Lending Agreement the share borrower has

agreed

not to vote any shares of the Companys common stock it has borrowed to the extent it owns such

borrowed shares and

to pay to us an amount equal to any cash dividends that we pay on the borrowed shares

In view of the contractual undertakings of the share borrower in the Share Lending Agreement which have

the effect of substantially eliminating the economic dilution that otherwise would result from the issuance of the

borrowed shares we believe that under U.S generally accepted accounting principles currently in effect the

borrowed shares will not be considered outstanding for the purpose of computing and reporting our earnings per

share In October 2009 new standard for accounting for own-share lending arrangements was issued that

concurs with this accounting treatment for earnings per
share

2009 Common Stock Offerings

In May 2009 we completed an offering of 5750000 shares of common stock for $12.00 per share Net

proceeds to the Company were $65.3 million The Company used the net proceeds from this offering to repay

outstanding indebtedness under its revolving bank credit facility

In October 2009 we completed an offering of 6950000 shares of common stock at $15.00 per share Net

proceeds to the Company were $98.8 million The Company used the aggregate net proceeds along with the

proceeds from the concurrent issuance of the 4.50% Convertible Notes to repay the outstanding indebtedness

under its revolving bank credit facility and to repay
all of its outstanding senior subordinated secured notes and

the Company will use the remaining portion of such net proceeds for general corporate purposes

Working Capital

At December 31 2009 we had working capital of $22.6 million Including availability under our credit

facility our working capital as of December 31 2009 would have been $152.6 million
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Contractual Obligations

The following table reflects the Companys contractual obligations as of December 31 2009

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

in thousands

Long-term debt $211250 $125000 86250

Interest on long-term debt 39971 10131 20263 8283 1294

Operating leases 5888 1131 2247 1293 1217

Drilling contracts 121408 38611 78265 4532

Transportation agreements 58790 5899 12233 12319 28339

Deferred premiums on derivative instruments 19299 1491 17808

Asset retirement obligations 6789 259 646 31 5853

75% PVOG financing 1445 48 215 350 832

Total $464840 $57570 $131677 $151808 $123785

PVOG financing is payable out of 75% of revenues from the wells financed and repayment is based on

estimated production which may vary from actual

Other than obligations under our revolving bank credit facility the 5.00% Convertible Notes the 4.50%

Convertible Notes the PVOG financing and operating leases our commitments relate to capital expenditures for

development of oil and natural gas properties We will not enter into drilling or development commitments until

such time as source of funding for such commitments is known to be available either through financing

proceeds internal cash flow additional funding under our revolving bank credit facility or working capital

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently utilize any off-balance sheet arrangements to enhance our liquidity and capital

resources position or for any other purpose

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us to make number of estimates and

assumptions relating to the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the period When alternatives exist among various accounting methods the choice of accounting method

can have significant impact on reported amounts The following is discussion of our accounting estimates and

judgments which management believes are most significant in its application of generally accepted accounting

principles used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

Full Cost Calculations

The accounting for our business is subject to special accounting rules that are unique to the oil and natural

gas industry There are two allowable methods of accounting for oil and natural gas
business activities the

successful efforts method and the full-cost method We follow the full-cost method of accounting under which all

costs associated with property acquisition exploration and development activities are capitalized We also

capitalize internal costs that can be directly identified with our acquisition exploration and development

activities and do not include any costs related to production general corporate overhead or similar activities

Under the successful efforts method geological and geophysical costs and costs of carrying and retaining

undeveloped properties are charged to expense as incurred Costs of drilling exploratory wells that do not result

in proved reserves are charged to expense Depreciation depletion amortization and impairment of oil and
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natural gas properties are generally calculated on well by well or lease or field basis versus the aggregated full

cost pooi basis Additionally gain or loss is generally recognized on all sales of oil and natural gas properties

under the successful efforts method As result our financial statements will differ from companies that apply

the successful efforts method since we will generally reflect higher level of capitalized costs as well as higher

oil and natural gas depreciation depletion and amortization rate although this difference could change in periods

of lower price environments that result in write-downs of our costs as described below

The full cost method subjects companies to quarterly calculations of ceiling or limitation on the amount

of properties that can be capitalized on the balance sheet If our capitalized costs are in excess of the calculated

ceiling the excess must be written off as an expense Our discounted present value of estimated future net

revenues adjusted for cash flow hedges from our proved oil and natural gas reserves is major component of

the ceiling calculation and represents the component that requires the most subjective judgments Estimates of

reserves are forecasts based on engineering data projected future rates of production and the timing of future

expenditures The process
of estimating oil and natural gas reserves requires substantial judgment resulting in

imprecise determinations particularly for new discoveries

The passage
of time provides more qualitative information regarding estimates of reserves and revisions are

made to prior estimates to reflect updated information Annual performance revisions have occurred over the past

years which have both increased and decreased in individual years There can be no assurance that more

significant revisions will not be necessary in the future If future significant revisions are necessary that reduce

previously estimated reserve quantities it could result in full cost property write-down In addition to the

impact of the estimates of proved reserves on the calculation of the ceiling estimates of proved reserves are also

significant component of the calculation of the full cost pool amortization

The estimates of proved undeveloped reserve quantities and values are based on estimated future drilling

which assumes that we will have the financing available to fund the estimated drilling costs If we do not have

such financing available at the time projected the estimates of proved undeveloped reserve quantities and values

will change

While the quantities of proved reserves require substantial judgment the associated prices of oil and natural

gas reserves that are included in the discounted present value of the reserves do not require judgment The ceiling

calculation dictates that prices used in the determination of future net revenues represent the average of the first

day of the month price for the 12-month period prior to the end of the quarterly period Therefore the future net

revenues associated with the estimated proved reserves are not based on our assessment of future prices but

rather are based on prices in effect 12 months prior to each quarter when the ceiling calculation is performed

Such prices are utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the

remaining term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges Based on

the average first-day-of-the-month prices for natural
gas

and oil during the 12-months of 2009 these cash flow

hedges increased the full-cost ceiling by $69.7 million thereby reducing the ceiling test write-down by the same

amount Prior to December 31 2009 the SEC rules required the use of the year-end price in the determination of

future net revenues

Because the ceiling calculation dictates that prices are held constant indefinitely the resulting value is not

indicative of the true fair value of the reserves Oil and natural gas prices have historically been cyclical and can

be either substantially higher or lower than various industry long-term price forecasts Therefore oil and natural

gas property write-downs that result from applying the full cost ceiling limitation and that are caused by

fluctuations in price as opposed to reductions in the underlying quantities of reserves should not be viewed as

absolute indicators of reduction of the ultimate value of the related reserves

Capitalized costs are amortized on composite unit-of-production method based on proved oil and natural

gas reserves Depreciation depletion and amortization expense is also based on the amount of estimated reserves

If we maintain the same level of production year over year the depreciation depletion and amortization expense

may be significantly different if our estimate of remaining reserves changes significantly
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Because of the volatile nature of crude oil and natural gas prices it is not possible to predict the timing or

magnitude of full cost writedowns

Asset Retirement Obligations

Our asset retirement obligations ARO consist primarily of estimated costs of dismantlement removal

site reclamation and similaractivities associated with our oil and natural gas properties We recognize the

discounted fair value of liability for an ARO in the period in which it is incurred with the associated asset

retirement cost capitalized as part of the carrying cost of the oil and natural gas asset The recognition of an ARO
requires that management make numerous estimates assumptions and judgments regarding such factors as the

existence of legal obligation for an ARO estimated probabilities amounts and timing of settlements the credit-

adjusted risk-free rate to be used inflation rates and future advances in technology In periods subsequent to

initial measurement of the ARO the Company must recognize period-to-period changes in the liability resulting

from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted

cash flows The related capitalized cost including revisions thereto is charged as an expense to the consolidated

statement of operations

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate the

federal and state income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate This
process

involves estimating

the actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment

of items such as derivative instruments depreciation depletion and amortization and certain accrued liabilities

for tax and accounting purposes These differences and the net operating loss carryforwards result in deferred tax

assets and liabilities which are included in our consolidated balance sheet We must then assess using all

available positive and negative evidence the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future

taxable income If we believe that recovery is not more likely than not we must establish valuation allowance

Generally to the extent we establish valuation allowance or increase or decrease this allowance in period we
must include an expense or reduction of expense within the tax provisions in the consolidated statement of

operations

Derivative Instruments

We recognize derivative instruments at fair value Upon entering into derivative contract we may
designate the derivative as either fair value hedge or cash flow hedge or decide that the contract is not

hedge and thenceforth mark the contract to market through earnings We document the relationship between the

derivative instrument designated as hedge and the hedged items as well as our objective for risk management

and strategy for use of the hedging instrument to manage the risk Derivative instruments designated as cash flow

hedges are linked to specific forecasted transactions We assess at inception and on an ongoing basis whether

derivative instrument used as hedge is highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of

the hedged item derivative that is not highly effective hedge does not qualify for hedge accounting

Changes in fair value of qualifying cash flow hedge are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive

income until earnings are affected by the cash flows of the hedged item When the cash flow of the hedged item

is recognized in the statement of operations the fair value of the associated cash flow hedge is reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings as component of oil and
gas sales Ineffective portions

of cash flow hedge are recognized currently as component of oil and
gas

sales The changes in fair value of

derivative instruments not qualifying or not designated as hedges are reported currently in the consolidated

statement of operations as unrealized gains losses on derivatives component of non-operating income

expense If derivative instrument no longer qualifies as cash flow hedge hedge accounting is discontinued

and the gain or loss that was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income is recognized over the period

anticipated in the original hedge transaction
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Oil and Gas Revenues

Oil and natural gas revenues are recognized when sold to purchaser at fixed or determinable price when

delivery has occurred and title has transferred and if collectability of the revenue is probable Delivery occurs

and title is transferred when production has been delivered to purchasers pipeline or truck As result of the

numerous requirements necessary to gather information from purchasers or various measurement locations

calculate volumes produced perform field and wellhead allocations and distribute and disburse funds to various

working interest partners and royalty owners the collection of revenues from oil and gas production may take up

to 60 days following the month of production Therefore we make accruals for revenues and accounts receivable

based on estimates of our share of production particularly from properties that are operated by others Since the

settlement process may take 30 to 60 days following the month of actual production our financial results include

estimates of production and revenues for the related time period We record any differences which we do not

expect to be significant between the actual amounts ultimately received and the original estimates in the period

they become finalized

During the course of normal operations the Company and other joint interest owners of natural gas

reservoirs will take more or less than their respective ownership share of the natural gas volumes produced

These volumetric imbalances are monitored over the lives of the wells production capability If an imbalance

exists at the time the wells reserves are depleted cash settlements are made among the joint interest owners

under variety of arrangements The Company follows the sales method of accounting for gas imbalances

liability is recorded when the Companys excess takes of natural gas volumes exceed its estimated remaining

recoverable reserves No receivables are recorded for those wells where the Company has taken less than its

ownership share of
gas production There are no significant imbalances as of December 31 2007 2008 or 2009

Other

See Note to Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to other accounting and reporting

policies

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of recently issued accounting

pronouncements

Price Risk Management

See Item 7AQuantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Forward-Looking Statements

All statements made in this document other than purely historical information are forward looking

statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws These statements reflect expectations and are based

on historical operating trends proved reserve positions and other currently available information Forward

looking statements include statements regarding future plans and objectives future exploration and development

expenditures and number and location of planned wells and statements regarding the quality of our properties and

potential reserve and production levels These statements may be preceded or followed by or otherwise include

the words believes expects anticipates intends continues plans estimates projects or similar

expressions or statements that events will should could might or may occur Except as otherwise

specifically indicated these statements assume that no significant changes will occur in the operating

environment for oil and natural gas properties and that there will be no material acquisitions or divestitures

except as otherwise described
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The forward-looking statements in this report are subject to all the risks and uncertainties which are

described in this document We may also make material acquisitions or divestitures or enter into financing

transactions None of these events can be predicted with certainty and are not taken into consideration in the

forward-looking statements

For all of these reasons actual results may vary materially from the forward looking statements and we

cannot assure you that the assumptions used are necessarily the most likely We will not necessarily update any

forward looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date the statement is made

except as may be required by federal securities laws

There are number of risks that may affect our future operating results and financial condition See

Item 1A Risk Factors

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Commodity Price Risk

We are subject to price fluctuations of natural gas and crude oil Prices received for natural gas and crude oil

sold on the spot market are volatile due to factors beyond our control Reductions in crude oil and natural gas

prices could have material adverse effect on our financial position results of operations capital expenditures

and quantities of reserves recoverable on an economic basis Any reduction in reserves including reductions due

to lower prices can reduce our borrowing base under our revolving bank credit facility and adversely affect our

liquidity and our ability to obtain capital for our acquisition and development activities

To mitigate portion of our exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices we enter into financial price risk

management activities with respect to portion of projected crude oil and natural gas production through

financial price commodity swaps collars and put spreads Our revolving bank credit facility requires us to

maintain hedging program on mutually acceptable terms whenever the loan amount outstanding exceeds 75%

of the borrowing base

Following is suimnary of the outstanding natural gas derivative contracts we have in place as of

December 31 2009

Remaining
Notional

Notional Amount as of

Maturity Amount December 31 Additional Designation under

Effective Date Date Per Month 2009 Put Options Floor Ceiling ASC 815

Natural Gas MMBtu
1/1/2010 12/31/2010 471833 5662000 $5.00 $7.50 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2010 12/31/2010 471833 5661996 $4.00 $5.50 7.00 Not designated

1/1/20 10 12/31/2010 25000 300000 8.50 Not designated

5/1/2010 12/31/2010 241250 1930000 $4.00 $6.00 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2011 188781 2265372 8.00 Notdesignated

1/1/2011 3/31/2011 200000 600000 $5.50 $7.00 8.90 Cash flow hedge

4/1/2011 10/31/2011 200000 1400000 $5.00 $6.50 8.30 Cash flow hedge

11/1/2011 3/31/2012 200000 1000000 $5.50 $7.00 $10.10 Cashflowhedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2012 1021666 24520000 $6.00 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2012 337500 8100000 $4.00 Cash flow hedge

The estimated total fair value of our derivative contracts in effect at December 31 2009 was an asset of

$29.5 million of which $12.3 million is classified as current asset and $17.3 million is classified as long-term

asset The asset at December 31 2009 reflects the fact that the prices under our derivative contracts in the

aggregate are higher than period end forward prices The fair value of these contracts varies based on commodity

prices While we will not recognize the benefit from commodity prices in excess of our fixed prices we mitigate

the risk of lower prices
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Based on the monthly notional amount for natural gas in effect at December 31 2009 hypothetical $0.10

increase in natural gas prices would have decreased the fair value of our natural gas swaps and options by $2.7

million and $0.10 decrease in natural
gas prices would increase the fair value of our natural

gas swaps and

options by $2.8 million

Interest Rate Risk

Our revolving bank credit facility bears interest at rate elected by us that is based on the prime LIBO or

federal funds rate plus margins ranging from 1% to 4.75% depending on the base rate used and the amount of the

loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base The Company is obligated to pay facility fee equal to

0.5% per year of the unused portion of the borrowing base payable quarterly As result our interest costs

fluctuate based on short-term interest rates relating to our credit facility We had no interest rate derivatives

during the years ended December 31 2008 or 2009 Based on our average borrowings outstanding for 2009

100 basis point change in interest rates would change our annual interest expense by approximately $1.0 million

Our $125 million of 5.00% Convertible Notes and $86 million of 4.50% Convertible Notes have fixed

interest rates

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements are presented beginning on page F-i found at the end of this report

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

item 9A Controls and Procedures

Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness

of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 3a- 15e as of December 31 2009

Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to provide us

with reasonable assurance that infonnation required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit

under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SEC rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management including our principal

executive officer and principal financial officer or persons performing similar functions as appropriate to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosures control system no matter how well conceived and operated

can provide only reasonable not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system are met Further

the design of control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls

must be considered relative to their costs Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide us with

reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives Based on that evaluation and because of the material

weakness described below in Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting our

principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and

procedures were not effective as of December 31 2009

Changes in Jnternal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2009 no change occurred in our internal control over financial reporting that

materially affected or is likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting
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Managements AnnuaL Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-i 5f and Sd-I 5f Our system of internal control over

financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to

the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of our assets ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our

receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and

directors and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as required by Section 404

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act our management including our principal executive officer and principal financial

officer conducted an assessment including testing using the criteria in Internal Controlintegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
During that assessment we identified the following material weakness

In March 2010 we identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting due to

managements improper application of generally accepted accounting principles resulting in

corrections to our previously reported December 31 2008 consolidated financial statements and the

first three quarters of 2009 Management failed to timely detect and correct errors relating to the

improper application of generally accepted accounting principles in determining our full cost pool

impairment charges other impairment charges and related deferred income taxes Management also

failed to timely detect and correct errors as result of improperly including dilutive securities in our

computation of diluted loss per share After considering the impact of these corrections management

and the audit committee of our Board of Directors concluded that our December 31 2008 consolidated

financial statements should be restated as presented in this Form 10-K and that material weakness

exists in our internal control over financial reporting related to the improper application of generally

accepted accounting principles The errors were determined during the preparation and independent

audit of our December 31 2009 financial statements As result management has concluded that our

internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31 2009

As consequence of the material weakness identified above our management has implemented plan to

reassign certain duties within the financial reporting department to ensure executive financial management has

sufficient resources to properly research new and existing accounting guidance on regular basis Management

believes this process will result in more efficient internal control structure and effectively remedy the material

weakness identified above

Grant Thornton LLP our independent registered public accounting firm audited internal control over

financial reporting and based on that audit issued the report that follows

Ken Kenworthy Jr

Chief Executive Officer

James Merrill

Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders

GMX Resources Inc

We have audited GMX Resources Inc an Oklahoma corporation and Subsidiaries collectively the

Company internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our

audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We

believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

material weakness is deficiency or combination of control deficiencies in internal control over

financial reporting such that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the companys
annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis The following material

weakness has been identified and included in managements assessment The Company identified material

weakness in its internal control over financial reporting due to managements failure to timely detect and correct

errors relating to the improper application of generally accepted accounting principles in determining the

Companys full cost pool impairment charges other impairment charges and related deferred income taxes

Management also failed to timely detect and correct errors as result of improperly including dilutive securities

in the Companys computation of diluted loss per share

In our opinion because the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the

objectives of the control criteria GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries has not maintained effective internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Inte grated Framework issued by COSO
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We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheet of GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries as of December 31

2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in equity comprehensive income loss and

cash flows for the year then ended The material weakness identified above was considered in determining the

nature timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2009 financial statements and this report does

not affect our report dated March 16 2010 which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial

statements

We do not express an opinion or any
other form of assurance on the corrective actions and other changes in

internal controls reported in Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Oklahoma City Oklahoma

March 16 2010
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Certifications

Our chief executive and chief financial officers have completed the certifications required to be filed as an

Exhibit to this Report See Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 relating to the design of our disclosure controls and

procedures and the design of our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

In accordance with the provisions of General Instruction G3 information required by Items 10 through 14

of Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference to the Companys Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders to be filed prior to April 30 2010
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report

Financial Statements See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement

Schedule set forth on page F-i of this report

Exhibits For list of documents filed as exhibits to this report see the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the

Exhibits filed with this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

GMX RESOURCES INC

Dated March 16 2010 By
Is JAMES MERRILL

James Merrill Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signatures Title Date

Is/ KEN KENw0RTHY JR Chief Executive Officer and March 16 2010

Ken Kenworthy Jr Director Principal Executive

Officer

Is JAMEs MERRILL Chief Financial Officer Principal March 16 2010

James Merrill Financial and Accounting Officer

Is B0IsMIER Director March 16 2010

Boismier

Is STEVEN CRAIG Director March 16 2010

Steven Craig

Is KEN KENw0RTHY SR Director March 16 2010

Ken Kenworthy Sr

Is JON MCHUGH Director March 16 2010

Jon McHugh
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

GMX Resources Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of GMX Resources Inc all Oklahoma

corporation and Subsidiaries collectively the Company as of December 31 2009 and the related

consolidated statements of operations changes in equity comprehensive income loss and cash flows for the

year then ended These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries as of December 31 2009 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company changed its method of

estimating oil and gas reserves and related disclosures in 2009 Also as discussed in Note to the consolidated

financial statements the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for convertible notes that may be

settled in cash upon conversion as of January 2009 and retrospectively applied the effects of the adjustments

to prior periods

We also have audited the adjustments to the 2008 consolidated financial statements to retrospectively apply

the change in accounting for convertible notes that may be settled in cash upon conversion as described in Note

to the consolidated financial statements In our opinion such adjustments are appropriate and have been

properly applied We were not engaged to audit review or apply any procedures to the 2008 financial statements

of the Company other than with respect to such adjustments and accordingly we do not express an opinion or

any other form of assurance on the 2008 financial statements taken as whole

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated March 16

2010 expressed an adverse opinion thereon

Is GRANT THORNTON LLP

Oklahoma City Oklahoma

March 16 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and

Stockholders of GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

We have audited before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in accounting

described in Note the consolidated balance sheet of GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries as of December 31
2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in equity comprehensive income loss and

cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31 2008 The 2008 financial statements

before the effects of the adjustments discussed in Note are not presented herein The 2008 and 2007 financial

statements are the responsibility of the companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the 2008 and 2007 financial statements before the effects of the adjustments to

retrospectively apply the change in accounting described in Note
present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries as of December 31 2008 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity

with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the financial statements the 2008 financial statements have been restated to

correct material misstatement

We were not engaged to audit review or apply any procedures to the adjustments to retrospectively apply

the change in accounting described in Note and accordingly we do not express an opinion or any other form

of assurance about whether such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied Those adjustments

were audited by Grant Thornton LLP

Is Smith Carney Co p.c

Oklahoma City Oklahoma

February 27 2009 except for

Note which is dated March 16 2010
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

dollars in thousands except share data

December 31

2008 2009

as adjusted

and restated

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
6716 35554

Accounts receivableinterest owners 576 1233

Accounts receivableoil and natural gas revenues net 9145 9340

Derivative instruments 21325 12252

Inventories
691 326

Prepaid expenses and deposits
2040 3809

Total current assets 40493 62514

OIL AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES BASED ON THE FULL COST

METHOD
Properties being amortized 600662 756412

Properties not subject to amortization 36034 39789

Less accumulated depreciation depletion and impairment 252806 464872

383890 331329

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AT COST NET 93487 101755

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 3751 17292

OTHER ASSETS 3380 6748

TOTAL ASSETS 525001 519638

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
35599 19180

Accrued expenses
6089 12907

Accrued interest 3290 3361

Revenue distributions payable
5293 4434

Current maturities of long-term debt 61 48

Total current liabilities 50332 39930

LONG-TERM DEBT LESS CURRENT MATURITIES 224281 190230

DEFERRED PREMIUMS ON DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 16299

OTHER LIABILITIES 6645 7151

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIESSEE NOTE

EQUITY
Preferred stock par

value $.001 per share 10000000 shares authorized

Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock

25000 shares authorized none issued and outstanding

9.25% Series Cumulative Preferred Stock 3000000 Shares authorized

2000000 shares issued and outstanding aggregate liquidation preference

$50000000
Common stock par value $.001 per shareauthorized 50000000 shares issued

and outstanding 18794691 shares in 2008 and 31214968 shares in 2009 19 31

Additional paid-in capital
328002 520307

Accumulated deficit 99576 284840

Accumulated other comprehensive income net of taxes 15296 8447

Total GMX Resources equity 243743 243947

Noncontrolling interest 22081

Total equity
243743 266028

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 525001 519638

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

dollars in thousands except share and per share data

Year Ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

as adjusted

and restated

OIL AND GAS SALES 67883 125736 94294

EXPENSES

Lease operations 8982 15101 11776

Production and severance taxes 2746 5306 930
Depreciation depletion and amortization 18681 31744 31006

Impairment of oil and natural
gas properties 192650 188150

General and administrative 8717 16899 21390

Total expenses 39126 261700 251392

Income loss from operations 28757 135964 157098

NON-OPERATING INCOME EXPENSES
Interest expense 4088 13617 16127
Loss on extinguishment of debt 4976
Interest and other income 226 285 72

Unrealized loss on derivatives 354 2370

Total non-operating expenses 3862 13686 23401

Income loss before income taxes 24895 149650 180499

PROVISION BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES 8010 25013 33

NET INCOME LOSS 16885 124637 180466
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 173

NET INCOME LOSS APPLICABLE TO GMX RESOURCES 16885 124637 180639
Preferred stock dividends 4625 4625 4625

NET INCOME LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON
SHAREHOLDERS 12260 129262 185264

EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREBasic 0.94 9.09 9.17

EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREDiluted 0.93 9.09 9.17

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARESBasic 13075560 14216466 20210400

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARESDiluted 13208746 14216466 20210400

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Loss
dollars in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

as adjusted

and restated

Net income loss $16885 $124637 $180466
Other comprehensive income loss net of income tax

Change in fair value of derivative instruments net of income taxes

of $53 $6499 and $6961 respectively 98 12615 13513

Reclassification of gain loss on settled contracts net of income

taxes of $1027 $2060 and $10489 respectively 1996 3999 20362

Comprehensive income loss 14791 108023 187315
Comprehensive income attributable to the noncontrolling interest 173

Comprehensive income loss attributable to GMX Resources

Shareholders $14791 $108023 $187488

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

as adjusted

and restated

CASH FLOWS DUE TO OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income loss 16885 $124637 $180466

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation depletion and amortization 18681 31744 31006

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 192650 188150

Deferred income taxes 7977 25039
Non-cash stock compensation expense 1573 3085 4635

Loss on extinguishment of debt 4976

Other 273 520 6867

Decrease increase in

Accounts receivable 5333 717 1338
Prepaid expenses

and other assets 913 1089 71
Increase decrease in

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9985 3558 2852
Revenue distributions payable 3317 1728 1417

Net cash provided by operating activities 52445 83237 49490

CASH FLOWS DUE TO INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to oil and natural gas properties 174509 281447 162076
Purchase of property and equipment 20489 36913 19248

Net cash used in investing activities 194998 318360 181324

CASH FLOWS DUE TO FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advance on revolving bank credit facility 120139 190000 99000

Payments on debt 66225 204210 179079
Proceeds from sale of common stock 65706 134681 164069

Issuance of 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes 125000

Issuance of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes 86250

Dividends paid on Series preferred stock 4625 4625 4625
Proceeds from repayment of Senior Secured Notes 30000 34590
Sale of equity interest of business 36000

Fees paid related to financing activities 1495 4914 7085
Other 732

Net cash provided by financing activities 143500 235932 160672

NET INCREASE IN CASH 947 809 28838

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 4960 5907 6716

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 5907 6716 35554

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE CASH PAID

RECEIVED DURING THE PERIOD FOR
INTEREST NET OF AMOUNTS CAPITALIZED 3402 10343 15611

INCOME TAXES 26 33

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

NOTE ANATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINC1PLES OF CONSOLIDATION

GMX Resources Inc and subsidiaries collectively GMXR is engaged primarily in natural gas and crude

oil exploration development and production in the Haynesville/Bossier Shale and Cotton Valley Sands of East

Texas the core area GMXR owns and operates drilling rigs exclusively for GMXR through wholly owned

subsidiary Diamond Blue Drilling Co Additionally Endeavor Pipeline Inc Endeavor Pipeline wholly

owned subsidiary operates our gathering system in our core area In November 2009 the gas gathering

compression and related equipment owned by Endeavor Pipeline was transferred to newly formed entity

Endeavor Gathering LLC Endeavor Gathering and 40% membership interest in Endeavor Gathering was

sold to third party Endeavor Gathering will provide firm capacity gathering services as well as development of

future gathering infrastructure needs in support of GMXRs operations in its core area Endeavor Pipeline will

continue to serve as the operator of the gathering facilities

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP References to GAAP issued by the Financial

Accounting Standards Board FASB in these footnotes are to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification

ASC The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GMXR and its wholly and majority

owned subsidiaries Undivided interests in oil and
gas joint ventures are consolidated on proportionate basis

All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of oil and
gas reserves assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the

date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period

Actual results could differ from those estimates Significant estimates include estimates for proved oil and

natural gas reserve quantities deferred income taxes asset retirement obligations fair value of derivative

instruments useful lives of property and equipment expected volatility and contract term to exercise outstanding

stock options and others and are subject to change

RECLASSIFICATION Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years amounts to conform to

current year presentations

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities

of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents The carrying value of cash and cash

equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK Substantially all of the Companys receivables are within the oil

and gas industry primarily from purchasers of natural gas and crude oil and from partners with interests in

common properties operated by the Company Although diversified among many companies collectability is

dependent upon the financial wherewithal of each individual company as well as the general economic conditions

of the industry The receivables are not collateralized however the Company does review these parties for

creditworthiness and general financial condition

The Company has accounts with
separate banks in Louisiana and Oklahoma At December 31 2008 and

2009 the Company had $6.2 million and $32.3 million respectively invested in overnight investment sweep
accounts Bank deposit accounts may at times exceed federally insured limits The Company has not
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to significant credit risk on its cash

The difference between the investment amount and the cash and cash equivalents amount on the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets represents uncleared disbursements and non-interest bearing checking accounts

The Company currently uses natural gas and crude oil commodity derivatives to hedge portion of its

exposure to natural gas
and crude oil price volatility These arrangements expose

the Company to credit risk from

its counterparties To mitigate that risk the Company only uses counterparties that are highly-rated entities with

corporate credit ratings at or exceeding or Aa as classified by Standard Poors and Moodys respectively

Sales to individual customers constituting 10% or more of total natural
gas

and crude oil sales were as

follows for each of the
years

ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Natural gas

Texla Energy Management Inc 11% 20% 54%

Various purchasers through Penn Virginia Oil Gas L.P 45% 42% 21%

BP Energy Company 0% 0% 12%

Waskom Gas Processing Company 0% 10% 11%

CrossTex Energy Services Inc 40% 22% 1%

Crude oil

Sunoco Inc 0% 14% 52%

Various purchasers through Penn Virginia Oil Gas L.P 44% 54% 43%

Teppco Crude Oil LLC 55% 14% 0%

SemCrude L.P 0% 17% 0%

If the Company were to lose purchaser it believes it could replace it with substitute purchaser with

substantially equivalent terms

INVENTORIES Inventories consist of crude oil in tanks and natural gas liquids Treated and stored crude

oil inventory and natural
gas liquids at the end of the year are valued at the lower of production cost or market

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE The Company has receivables from joint interest owners and oil and gas

purchasers that are generally uncollateralized The Company reviews these parties for creditworthiness and

general financial condition Accounts receivable are generally due within 30 days and accounts outstanding

longer than 60 days are considered past due If necessary the Company would determine an allowance by

considering the length of time past due previous loss history future net revenues of the debtors ownership

interest in oil and gas properties operated by the Company and the owners ability to pay its obligation among

other things The Company writes off accounts receivable when they are determined to be uncollectible

The Company establishes provisions for losses on accounts receivable if it determines that it will not collect

all or part of the outstanding balance The Company regularly reviews collectability and establishes or adjusts the

allowance as necessary using the specific identification method Due to the bankruptcy filing of one purchaser in

2008 the Company had recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $748000 at December 31 2008 There

was no allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31 2009

OIL AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for its

oil and natural gas properties and activities Accordingly the Company capitalizes all costs incurred in

connection with the acquisition exploration and development of oil and natural
gas properties The Company
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued
December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

capitalizes internal costs that can be directly identified with exploration and development activities but does not

include any costs related to production general corporate overhead or similaractivities Capitalized costs

include geological and geophysical work 3D seismic delay rentals drilling and completing and equipping oil

and
gas wells including salaries and benefits and other internal costs directly attributable to these activities Also

included in oil and natural gas properties are tubular and other lease and well equipment of $33.1 million and

$32.2 million at December 31 2008 and 2009 respectively that have not been placed in service but for which

we plan to utilize in our on-going exploration and development activities

Proceeds from dispositions of oil and gas properties are accounted for as reduction of capitalized costs

with no gain or loss generally recognized upon disposal of oil and natural gas properties unless such disposal

significantly alters the relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves Revenues from services

provided to working interest owners of properties in which GMX also owns an interest to the extent they exceed

related costs incurred are accounted for as reductions of capitalized costs of oil and natural gas properties

Investments in unevaluated properties and major development projects are not amortized until proved

reserves associated with the projects can be determined or until impairment occurs The balance of unevaluated

properties is comprised of capital costs incurred for undeveloped acreage exploratory wells in progress and

capitalized interest costs We assess all items classified as unevaluated property on quarterly basis for possible

impairment or reduction in value We assess our properties on an individual basis or as group if properties are

individually insignificant Our assessment includes consideration of the following factors among others intent to

drill remaining lease term geological and geophysical evaluations drilling results and activity the assignment

of proved reserves and the economic viability of development if proved reserves are assigned During any period

in which these factors indicate an impairment the cumulative drilling costs incurred to date for such property and

all or portion of the associated leasehold costs are transferred to the full-cost pool and are then subject to

amortization

Depreciation depletion and amortization of oil and gas properties DDA are provided using the

units-of-production method based on estimates of proved oil and
gas reserves and production which are

converted to common unit of measure based upon their relative
energy content The Companys cost basis for

depletion includes estimated future development costs to be incurred on proved undeveloped properties The

computation of DDA takes into consideration restoration dismantlement and abandonment costs and the

anticipated proceeds from salvaging equipment DDA expense for oil and natural gas properties was $16.4

million $26.9 million and $23.9 million for the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Capitalized costs are subject to ceiling test which limits the net book value of oil and natural gas

properties less related deferred income taxes to the estimated after-tax future net revenues discounted at

10-percent interest rate The lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties is added to the future net revenues

less income tax effects At December 31 2009 future net revenues are calculated using prices that represent the

average of the first day of the month price for the 12-month period prior to the end of the period Such prices are

utilized except where different prices are fixed and determinable from applicable contracts for the remaining

term of those contracts including the effects of derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges Based on average

prices for the prior 12-month period for natural gas and oil as of December 31 2009 these cash flow hedges

increased the full-cost ceiling by $69.7 million thereby reducing the ceiling test write-down by the same amount
Our qualifying cash flow hedges as of December 31 2009 which consisted of swaps and collars covered 7.6

Bcf 13.5 Bcf and 14.0 Bcf in 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively Our natural
gas

and oil hedging activities are

discussed in Note of these consolidated financial statements

Two primary factors impacting the ceiling test are reserve levels and natural gas and oil prices and their

associated impact on the present value of estimated future net revenues Revisions to estimates of natural gas and
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

oil reserves and/or an increase or decrease in prices can have material impact on the present value of estimated

future net revenues Any excess of the net book value less deferred income taxes is generally written off as an

expense

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment are capitalized and stated at cost while

maintenance and repairs are expensed currently Depreciation and amortization of other property and equipment

are provided when assets are placed in service using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives

ranging from three to twenty years In 2009 we changed the estimated useful life of the pipeline assets from 10

to 20 years Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was $2.3 million $4.8 million

and $7.1 million for the years ending December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS Pipeline and gathering system assets and other long-lived

assets used in operations are periodically assessed to determine if circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of an asset may not be recoverable An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of

long-lived asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows An impairment loss is the difference

between the carrying amount and fair value of the asset GMXR had no such impairment losses for the years

ended December 31 2007 2008 or 2009

DEBT ISSUE COSTS The Company amortizes debt issue costs related to its revolving bank credit facility

5.00% Convertible Senior Notes and 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes as interest expense over the scheduled

maturity period of the debt Unamortized debt issue costs were approximately $4.9 million and $8.6 million as of

December 31 2008 and 2009 respectively The Company includes those unamortized costs in current prepaid

expenses and deposits and other assets

REVENUE DISTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE For certain oil and natural gas properties the Company receives

production proceeds from the purchaser and further distributes such amounts to other revenue and royalty

owners Production proceeds applicable to other revenue and royalty owners are reflected as revenue

distributions payable in the accompanying balance sheets We recognize revenue for only our net interest in oil

and natural gas properties

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES Deferred income taxes are provided for significant carryforwards and

temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the financial

statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years Deferred income tax assets or

liabilities are determined by applying the presently enacted tax rates and laws The Company records valuation

allowance for the amount of net deferred tax assets when in managements opinion it is more likely than not

that such assets will not be realized

GMXR recognizes the financial statement effects of tax positions when it is more likely than not based on

the technical merits that the position will be sustained upon examination by taxing authority Recognized tax

positions are initially and subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not

of being realized upon ultimate settlement with taxing authority Liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits

related to such tax positions are included in other long-term liabilities unless the tax position is expected to be

settled within the upcoming year in which case the liabilities are included in accrued expenses and other current

liabilities As of December 31 2009 and 2008 GMXR had no such liabilities

REVENUE RECOGNITION Natural gas and crude oil revenues are recognized when sold to purchaser at

fixed or determinable price when delivery has occurred and title has transferred and if collectability of the

revenue is probable Delivery occurs and title is transferred when production has been delivered to purchasers
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

pipeline or truck As result of the numerous requirements necessary to gather information from purchasers or

various measurement locations calculate volumes produced perform field and wellhead allocations and

distribute and disburse funds to various working interest partners and royalty owners the collection of revenues

from oil and gas production may take up to 60 days following the month of production Therefore the Company
makes accruals for revenues and accounts receivable based on estimates of its share of production particularly

from properties that are operated by others Since the settlement process may take 30 to 60 days following the

month of actual production the Companys financial results include estimates of production and revenues for the

related time period The Company records any differences which are not expected to be significant between the

actual amounts ultimately received and the original estimates in the period they become finalized

NATURAL GAS BALANCING During the course of normal operations the Company and other joint

interest owners of natural
gas

reservoirs will take more or less than their respective ownership share of the

natural gas volumes produced These volumetric imbalances are monitored over the lives of the wells production

capability If an imbalance exists at the time the wells reserves are depleted cash settlements are made among
the joint interest owners under variety of arrangements The Company follows the sales method of accounting

for gas imbalances liability is recorded when the Companys natural gas volumes exceed its estimated

remaining recoverable reserves No receivables are recorded for those wells where the Company has taken less

than its ownership share of
gas production There are no significant imbalances as of December 31 2008 or

2009

PRODUCTION AND SEVERANCE TAXES Production taxes are set by state and local governments and

vary as to the tax rate and the value to which that rate is applied In Texas where substantially all of our

production is derived severance taxes are levied as percent of revenue received The rate in Texas is

complicated by certain severance tax exemptions or rate deductions on high cost wells Approval of these

exemptions or rate reductions is on well by well basis and credits are not recognized until approvals are

received Production and severance taxes for the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 reflect tax

refunds of $518000 $1.2 million and $2.9 million respectively

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its

exposure to lower oil and natural gas prices Derivative instruments are measured at fair value and recognized as

assets or liabilities in the balance sheet Upon entering into derivative contract the derivative may be

designated as cash flow hedge The relationship between the derivative instrument designated as hedge and

the hedged items is documented as well as our objective for risk management and strategy for use of the hedging

instrument to manage the risk Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are linked to specific

forecasted transactions At inception and on an ongoing basis derivative instrument used as hedge is

assessed as to whether it is highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item

derivative that is not highly effective hedge does not qualify for hedge accounting

Changes in fair value of qualifying cash flow hedge are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive

income until earnings are affected by the cash flows of the hedged item When the cash flow of the hedged item

is recognized in the statement of operations the fair value of the associated cash flow hedge is reclassified from

accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings as component of oil and gas sales Ineffective portions

of cash flow hedge are recognized currently in earnings as component of oil and gas sales The changes in fair

value of derivative instruments not qualifying or not designated as hedges are reported currently in the

consolidated statement of operations as unrealized gains losses on derivatives component of non-operating

income expense If derivative instrument no longer qualifies as cash flow hedge hedge accounting is

discontinued and the gain or loss that was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income is recognized

over the period anticipated in the original hedge transaction
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContiuued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

FAIR VALUE Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or price paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date Inputs used in

determining fair valueare characterized according to hierarchy that prioritizes those inputs based upon the

degree to which they are observable The three levels of the fair-value-measurement hierarchy are as follows

Level 1inputs represent quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities for example

exchange-traded commodity derivatives

Level 2inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that are observable for the asset or

liability either directly or indirectly for example quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities in

active markets or quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets not considered to be

active inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability or market-corroborated

inputs

Level 3inputs that are not observable from objective sources such as the Companys internally developed

assumptions used in pricing an asset or liability

In determining fair value the Company utilizes observable market data when available or models that

incorporate observable market data In addition to market information the Company incorporates transaction-

specific details that in managements judgment market participants would take into account in measuring fair

value In arriving at fair-value estimates the Company utilizes the most observable inputs available for the

valuation technique employed If fair-value measurement reflects inputs at multiple levels within the hierarchy

the fair-value measurement is characterized based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair-

value measurement Recurring fair-value measurements are performed for derivatives instruments The carrying

amount of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable and deferred premiums on derivative

instruments reported on the balance sheet approximates fair value

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS The Companys asset retirement obligations relate to estimated

future plugging and abandonment expenses on its oil and gas properties and related facilities disposal These

obligations to abandon and restore properties are based upon estimated future costs that may change based upon

future inflation rates and changes in statutory remediation rules The Company records the fair value of liability

for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred and corresponding increase in the

carrying amount of oil and
gas properties

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES Environmental expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused

by past operation and that do not contribute to current or future revenue generation are expensed Liabilities are

accrued when environmental assessments and/or clean-ups are probable and the costs can be reasonably

estimated As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the Company has not accrued for or been fined or cited for any

environmental violations that would have material adverse effect upon the financial position operating results

or the cash flows of the Company
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued
December 31 20072008 and 2009

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic net income
per

common share is computed by dividing the net income loss applicable to common stock by the weighted

average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period Diluted net income per common share

is calculated in the same manner but also considers the impact to net income and common shares for the

potential dilution from our convertible notes outstanding stock options and non-vested restricted stock awards

The following table reconciles the weighted average shares outstanding used for these computations for the years

ending December 31

2007 2008 2009

Weighted average shares outstandingbasic 13075560 14216466 20210400
Effective of dilutive securities

Stock options 133186

Weighted average shares outstandingdiluted 13208746 14216466 20210400

Common shares outstanding loaned in connection with the 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes issued in

February 2008 in the amount of 3440000 and 3140000 shares were not included in the computation of earnings

per common share for the years ending December 31 2008 or 2009 respectively

For purposes of calculating weighted average common sharesdiluted non-vested restricted stock and

outstanding stock options would be included in the computation using the treasury stock method with the

proceeds equal to the amount of cash received from the employee upon exercise and the
average unrecognized

compensation during the period adjusted for any estimated future tax consequences recognized directly in

equity

Due to our net loss from operations for the
years ended December 31 2008 and 2009 we excluded the

effects of the convertible notes stock options and shares of non-vested restricted stock as they would have been

antidilutive The amount of shares excluded for 2008 and 2009 was 995000 and 794000 respectively

STOCK BASED COMPENSATION The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based

payment awards made to employees contractors and non-employee directors Stock-based compensation expense
is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite

service period which is generally the vesting period For stock options the Company uses the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model to determine the option fair value which requires the input of highly subjective

assumptions including the expected volatility of the underlying stock the expected term of the award the risk-

free interest rate and expected future divided payments Expected volatilities are based on our historical

volatility The expected life of an award is estimated using historical exercise behavior data and estimated future

behavior The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant and

extrapolated to approximate the expected life of the award The Company does not expect to declare or pay
dividends in the foreseeable future

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims

assessments litigation or other sources are recorded when it is probable that liability has been incurred and the

amount can be reasonably estimated

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
During the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company recorded non-cash additions to oil and

gas properties of $2.6 million $3.6 million and $1.2 million respectively related to the depreciation of its
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 20072008 and 2009

Company-owned rigs and the capitalization of non-cash stock compensation expense related to employees

directly involved in exploration and development activities

Capital additions funded through accounts payable include $30.1 million $34.6 million and $25.6 million

for the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

During the years
ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company recorded net non-cash asset and

related liability of $1.5 million $2.4 million and $565000 respectively associated with the asset retirement

obligation on the acquisition and/or development of oil and gas properties

Interest of $122000 $361000 and $1.8 million was capitalized during the years ended December 31 2007

2008 and 2009 respectively related to the unproved properties that were not being currently depreciated

depleted or amortized and on which development activities were not in progress

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS The Company adopted new standard for

its derivative instruments and hedging activities effective January 2009 The standard does not change the

Companys accounting for derivatives but requires enhanced disclosures regarding the Companys methodology

and
purpose

for entering into derivative instruments accounting for derivative instruments and related hedged

items if any and the impact of derivative instruments on the Companys consolidated financial position results

of operations and cash flows

The Company adopted new accounting and reporting standards for noncontrolling interests in subsidiary

and for the deconsolidation of subsidiaries effective January 2009 Specifically these standards require the

recognition of noncontrolling interests formerly referred to as minority interests as component of total equity

These standards establish single method of accounting for changes in parents ownership interest in

subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation and specifically provide that dispositions of subsidiary stock are

required to be accounted for as equity transactions with no gain or loss recognized upon disposal Finally

consolidated net income and comprehensive income are presented to include amounts attributable to both the

parent and noncontrolling interests See Note DNoncontrolling Interests

The Company adopted new accounting standard for business combinations effective January 2009 The

standard applies prospectively to the Company for future business combinations The standard expands the

definition of what qualifies as business thereby increasing the scope of transactions that qualify as business

combinations Furthermore under the standard changes in estimates of income tax liabilities existing at the date

of or arising in connection with past business combinations are accounted for as adjustments to current-period

income as opposed to adjustments to goodwill The adoption of the standard had no impact on the Companys

consolidated financial position results of operations or cash flows

The Company adopted new standard on determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment

transactions constitute participating securities effective January 2009 This standard addresses whether

instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to vesting and

therefore included in the allocation of earnings for purposes of computing EPS Unvested share-based payment

awards whether paid or unpaid that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents constitute

participating securities and are included in the computation of EPS The Companys restricted stock awards do

not contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents and thereby do not qualify as participating

securities The adoption of the standard had no impact on the Companys consolidated financial position results

of operations or cash flows
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GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

In December 2009 the Company adopted revised oil and gas reserve estimation and disclosure requirements

The primary impact of the new disclosures for the Company is to align the definition of proved reserves with the

Securities and Exchange Conmiission SEC Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting rules which were issued by

the SEC at the end of 2008 and effective for fiscal periods ending on or after December 31 2009 The accounting

standards revised the definition of proved oil and gas reserves to require that the average first-day-of-the-month

price during the 12-month period preceding the end of the year rather than the year-end price must be used when

estimating whether reserve quantities are economical to produce This same 12-month average price is also used in

calculating the aggregate amount of and changes in future cash inflows related to the standardized measure of

discounted future net cash flows The rules also allow for the use of reliable technology to estimate proved oil and

gas reserves if those technologies have been demonstrated to result in reliable conclusions about reserve volumes

The unaudited supplemental information on oil and gas exploration and production activities for 2009 has been

presented following these new reserve estimation and disclosure rules which may not be applied retrospectively

The 2007 and 2008 data are presented in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB oil

and gas disclosure requirements effective during those respective periods The Companys fourth quarter 2009

DDA and impairment calculations were based upon proved reserves that were determined using the new reserve

guidelines whereas DDA and impairment calculations in previous quarters within 2009 were based on the prior

SEC methodology See Note NSupplemental Information on Oil and Natural Gas Properties for additional

disclosures associated with the adoption of this standard

The Company adopted new standard for the accounting treatment for certain convertible debt instruments

that may be settled upon conversion in cash shares of common stock or any portion thereof at the election of the

issuing company that requires the use of bifurcation model under which the value of the debt instrument is

determined without regard to the conversion feature The difference between the issuance amount of the debt

instrument and the value determined is recorded as an equity contribution The resulting debt discount is

amortized over the period the convertible debt is expected to be outstanding as additional non-cash interest

expense This standard was effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15

2008 and early adoption was not permitted The Company adopted this standard effective January 2009 This

new standard changed the accounting treatment for the Companys 5.00% convertible notes that were issued in

February 2008 As this new standard was required to be applied retrospectively for any instrument within its

scope that was outstanding during any of the periods presented certain amounts in the Companys consolidated

financial statements for the
year

ended December 31 2008 have been adjusted See Note CAdoption of

Accounting Principles for additional disclosures associated with the adoption of this standard

In October 2009 new standard for accounting for own-share lending arrangements in contemplation of

convertible debt issuance was issued The standard requires that such share-lending arrangement be measured at

fair value at the date of issuance and recognized as an issuance cost with an offset to paid-in-capital and the

loaned shares be excluded in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share The issuance cost is

required to be amortized as interest
expense over the life of the financing arrangement The standard also requires

additional disclosures including description and the terms of the arrangement and the reason for entering into

the arrangement Retrospective application is required for all arrangements outstanding as of the beginning of the

fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2009 We entered into share lending arrangement in connection

with the February 2008 issuance of our 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 The impact of the provision

on our financial statements was evaluated and considered immaterial We will adopt the standard on its effective

date as of the beginning of the fiscal
year beginning January 2010
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NOTE BCORRECTION OF ERRORS

The Company concluded that its previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31

2008 and the quarters ended March 31 June 30 and September 30 2009 respectively contain errors The errors

relate to the method used to record the Companys full cost pool impairment charges in the fourth quarter of

2008 and first quarter of 2009 other impairment charges recorded during 2009 and related deferred income taxes

in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first and second quarters of 2009 and ii the computation of the Companys

diluted loss per share for 2008 and the first three quarters of 2009

The errors in the prior full cost pool impairment charge calculations are primarily due to failure to

appropriately account for the effects of deferred income taxes or deferred income tax benefits on the impairment

charges The Securities and Exchange Commission issued additional guidance in October 2009 that clarified the

proper methodology for this calculation which came to the attention of the Company during the preparation of

its financial statements for the year ended December 31 2009 The Company also determined that it incorrectly

recorded lower of cost or market inventory valuation charge on certain long-lived assets during the first and

second quarters of 2009

With respect to the computation of the Companys diluted loss
per

share for the
year

ended December 31

2008 and the first three quarters of 2009 the Company applied the dilutive effect of additional shares issuable

pursuant to convertible securities unvested restricted stock awards and stock options in calculating diluted loss

per share However these additional shares should have been excluded from the calculations as their effect is

antidilutive of the basic loss per share amounts As result the Companys diluted loss
per

share amounts for

such periods should have been reported as equal to the basic loss per share amounts in such periods

The following financial statement line items in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008

were adjusted to correct the errors

Adjustments due As Restated for

to Correction of Correction of

As Reported Errors Errors

in thousands

ASSETS

OIL AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES BASED ON THE

FULL COST METHOD
Properties being amortized 608865 8203 600662

Accumulated depreciation depletion and impairment $2 11785 $4 1021 $252806

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AT COST NET 85284 8203 93487

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 11519 $1 1519

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax 6996 6996
EQUITY

Accumulated deficit 56652 $45544 $102196

The restated amounts will not agree to the consolidated financial statements due to the retrospective

application of the adoption of ASC 470-20 See Note CAdoption of Accounting Principles
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The following financial statement line items in the consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended

December 31 2008 were adjusted to correct the errors

Adjustments due As Adjusted for

to Correction of Correction of

As Reported Errors Errors

in thousands

EXPENSES

Impairment of oil and natural
gas properties $151629 41021 $192650

Income loss from operations 94943 $41021 $135964
PROVISION BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES 24980 4523 20457
NET INCOME LOSS 81713 $45544 $127257
NET INCOME LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON

SHAREHOLDERS 86338 $45544 $131882
EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREBASIC 6.07 3.21 9.28
EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREDILUTED 5.66 3.62 9.28

The restated amounts will not agree to the consolidated financial statements due to the retrospective

application of the adoption of ASC 470-20 See Note CAdoption of Accounting Principles

The effects on the 2009 quarterly financial statements is disclosed in Note 0Quarterly Financial Data

Unaudited

NOTE CADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

On January 2009 the Company was required to adopt ASC 470-20 which changes the accounting

treatment of the Companys 5.00% Convertible Notes that may be fully or partially settled in cash upon
conversion Under ASC 470-20 the initial carrying value of the liability component of our 5.00% Convertible

Notes was restated to exclude the value of the embedded equity conversion option based upon available market

information at the time of the original issuance and using the liability measurement approach prescribed in ASC
470-20 In accordance with the transition provision of the pronouncements the comparative financial statements

have been adjusted to apply the new pronouncement retrospectively

The following financial statement line items in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008

were affected

Adjustments due

to Adoption of

As Restated ASC 470-20 As Adjusted

in thousands

ASSETS

OTHER ASSETS 3691 311 3380

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LONG-TERM DEBT LESS CURRENT MATURITIES 236462 $12181 $224281

EQUITY
Additional paid-in capital 318752 9250 $328002
Accumulated deficit 102196 2620 99576
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As the 5.00% Convertible Notes were issued in February 2008 there was no financial statement impact for

the year
ended December 31 2007 The following financial statement line items in the consolidated statement of

operations for the year ended December 31 2008 were affected by the retrospective adjustments

Adjustments due

to Adoption of

As Restated ASC 470-20 As Adjusted

in thousands

NON-OPERATING INCOME EXPENSES
Interestexpense 11681 $1936 13617

PROVISION BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES 20457 4556 25013

NET INCOME LOSS $127257 2620 $124637

NET INCOME LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON
SHAREHOLDERS $131882 2620 $129262

EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREBASIC 9.28 0.19 9.09

EARNINGS LOSS PER SHAREDILUTED 9.28 0.19 9.09

Amounts presented in the following footnotes represent the restated and adjusted amounts

NOTE DNONCONTROLLING INTEREST

On November 2009 GMXR and its wholly owned subsidiary Endeavor Pipeline transferred mid-stream

gas gathering compression and related equipment to newly formed Endeavor Gathering and sold 40%

membership interest in Endeavor Gathering from GMXR for $36.0 million Endeavor Gathering will provide

firm capacity gathering services to GMXR in our Cotton Valley Sands and Haynesville/Bossier Shale horizontal

developments in East Texas and will also provide funding of future gathering infrastructure needs to support

GMXRs production growth Endeavor Pipeline will continue to operate the gas gathering system on day-to-day

basis Proceeds from the sale were used to reduce outstanding indebtedness under the bank revolving credit

facility The sale of the membership interest was treated as an equity transaction The results of operations and

financial position of Endeavor Gathering are included in the consolidated financial statements of GMXR The

portion of Endeavor Gatherings results of operations not attributable to GMXR are recorded as noncontrolling

interests

Distributions to the members will be made on quarterly basis to the members and allocated 80% and 20%

to the noncontrolling interest and to GMXR respectively until the noncontrolling interest member has received

$36.0 million Subsequently distributions will be allocated 40% and 60% to the noncontrolling interest member

and GMXR respectively

The following table sets forth the effects of changes in GMXR ownership interest in Endeavor Gathering

on GMXRs equity for the years ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Net income loss applicable to GMX Resources $16885 $124637 $180639

Transfers from the noncontrolling interest

Increase in GMXR paid-in capital for sale of 40% membership interest

in Endeavor Gathering
13984

Change from net income loss applicable to GMXR and transfers to

noncontrolling interest $16885 $124637 $166655

F-20



GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued
December 31 20072008 and 2009

NOTE EPROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Major classes of property and equipment included the following at December 31

December 31

2008 2009

in thousands

Pipeline and related facilities 58628 68440

Drilling rigs 30458 30492

Machinery and equipment 12919 5173

Buildings and leasehold improvement 4807 6003
Office equipment 1495 2324

108307 112432

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 16484 12751

91823 99681
Land 1664 2074

93487 $101755

NOTE FDERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Company is subject to price fluctuations for natural gas and crude oil Prices received for natural gas

and crude oil sold on the spot market are volatile due to factors beyond the Companys control Reductions in

crude oil and natural
gas prices could have material adverse effect on the Companys financial position results

of operations capital expenditures and quantities of reserves recoverable on an economic basis Any reduction in

reserves including reductions due to lower prices can reduce the Companys borrowing base under the revolving

bank credit facility and adversely affect the Companys liquidity and ability to obtain capital for acquisition and

development activities

To mitigate portion of its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices the Company enters into financial

price risk management activities with respect to portion of projected crude oil and natural gas production

through financial price swaps collars and put spreads collectively derivatives Additionally the Company
uses basis protection swaps to reduce basis risk Basis is the difference between the physical commodity being

hedged and the price of the futures contract used for hedging Basis risk is the risk that an adverse change in the

futures market will not be completely offset by an equal and opposite change in the cash price of the commodity

being hedged Basis risk exists in natural gas due to the geographic price differentials between given cash

market location and the futures contract delivery locations Settlement or expiration of the hedges is designed to

coincide as closely as possible with the physical sale of the commodity being hedgeddaily for oil and monthly

for natural gasto obtain reasonable assurance that gain in the cash sale will offset the loss on the hedge and

vice versa

The Companys revolving bank credit facility requires it to maintain hedging program on mutually

acceptable terms whenever the loan amount outstanding exceeds 75% of the borrowing base
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The Companys derivative financial instruments potentially consist of price swaps collars put spreads and

basis swaps description of these types of instruments is provided below

Fixed price swaps The Company receives fixed price and
pays

variable price to the contract

counterparty The fixed-price payment and the floating price payment are netted

resulting in net amount due to or from the counterparty

Costless collars The instrument contains fixed floor price long put option and ceiling price short

call option where the purchase price of the put option equals the sales price of the call

option At settlement if the market price exceeds the ceiling price the Company pays

the difference between the market price and the ceiling price lithe market price is less

than the fixed floor price the Company receives the difference between the fixed floor

price and the market price If the market price is between the ceiling and the fixed floor

price no payments are due from either party

Three-way collars three-way collar contract consists of standard collar contract plus put sold by the

Company with price below the floor price of the collar This additional put requires

us to make payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement

period is below the put price Combining the collar contract with the additional put

results in the Company being entitled to net payment equal to the difference between

the floor price of the standard collar and the additional put price if the settlement price

is equal to or less than the additional put price If the settlement price is greater than

the additional put price the result is the same as it would have been with standard

collar contract only Therefore if market prices are below the additional put option the

Company would be entitled to receive the market price plus the difference between the

additional put option and the floor This strategy enables the Company to increase the

floor and the ceiling price of the collar beyond the range of traditional costless collar

while defraying the associated cost with the sale of the additional put

Put spreads put spread is the same as three-way collar without the ceiling price short call

option Therefore if market prices are below the additional put option the Company

would be entitled to receive the market price plus the difference between the additional

put option and the floor

Basis swaps Natural gas basis protection swaps are arrangements that guarantee price differential

between NYMEX natural gas futures and Houston Ship Channel which is close

proximity for the Companys primary market hubs The Company receives payment

from the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the

contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated

terms of the contract

The Company utilizes counterparties for our derivative instruments that are members of our lending bank

group
and that the Company believes are credit-worthy entities at the time the transactions are entered into The

Company closely monitors the credit ratings of these counterparties Additionally the Company performs both

quantitative and qualitative assessments of these counterparties based on their credit ratings and credit default

swap rates where applicable However the recent events in the financial markets demonstrate there can be no

assurance that counterparty financial institution will be able to meet its obligations to the Company

None of the Companys derivative instruments contain credit-risk-related contingent features Additionally

the Company has not incurred any credit-related losses associated with derivative activities and believes that its

counterparties will continue to be able to meet their obligations under these transactions

F-22



GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContjnued
December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

ASC 815 requires all derivative instruments to be recognized at fair value in the balance sheet Fair value is

generally determined based on the difference between the fixed contract price and the underlying estimated

market price at the determination date Derivative instruments with the same counterparty are presented on net

basis where the legal right of offset exists The following is summary of the asset and liability fair values of the

Companys derivative contracts

Asset Fair Value

Balance Sheet Location December 312008 December 312009

in thousands

Derivatives designated as Hedging

Instruments under ASC 815

Natural gas Current derivative asset $15655 $12896
Natural

gas Derivative instrumentsnon-current 5908 19144
Crude oil Current derivative asset 2742

$24305 $32040
Derivatives not designated as Hedging

Instruments under ASC 815

Natural gas Current derivative asset 3043

$3043

Total derivative asset fair value .. $27348 $32040

Liability Fair Value

Balance Sheet Location December 31 2008 December 312009

in thousands
Derivatives designated as Hedging

Instruments under ASC 815

Natural
gas Current derivative asset 114

Natural gas basis Derivative instrumentsnon-current 549

114 549
Derivatives not designated as Hedging

Instruments under ASC 815

Natural gas Current derivative asset 374
Natural

gas basis Current derivative asset 270
Natural gas Derivative instrumentsnon-current 2158 1303

2158 1947

Total derivative liability fair

value 2272 2496

Net derivative fair value $25076 $29544
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Following is summary of the outstanding volumes and prices on the oil and natural gas swaps and options

in place as of December 31 2009

Remaining
Notional Notional

Amount Amount as of Additional

Maturity Per December 31 Put Designation under

Effective Date Date Month 2009 Options Floor Ceiling ASC 815

Natural Gas MMBtu
1/1/2010 12/31/2010 471833 5662000 $5.00 $7.50 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2010 12/31/2010 471833 5661996 $4.00 $5.50 7.00 Not designated

1/1/2010 12/31/2010 25000 300000 8.50 Not designated

5/1/2010 12/31/2010 241250 1930000 $4.00 $6.00 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2011 188781 2265372 8.00 Not designated

1/1/2011 3/31/2011 200000 600000 $5.50 $7.00 8.90 Cash flow hedge

4/1/2011 10/31/2011 200000 1400000 $5.00 $6.50 8.30 Cash flow hedge

11/1/2011 3/31/2012 200000 1000000 $5.50 $7.00 $10.10 Cashflowhedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2012 1021666 24520000 $6.00 Cash flow hedge

1/1/2011 12/31/2012 337500 8100000 $4.00 Cashflowhedge

Natural gas contracts are settled against Inside FERCHouston Ship Channel Index Price or NYMEX and

all oil contracts are settled against NYMEX Light Sweet Crude The Inside FERCHouston Ship Channel Index

Price and NYMEX Light Sweet Crude have historically had high degree of correlation with the actual prices

received by the Company

Effects of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedge the effective portion of the

gain or loss on the derivative is reported as component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into

earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings Gains and losses on

the derivative representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of

effectiveness are recognized in current earnings

For the Year Ended December 312009

Amount of

Gain

Location of Gain Reclassified Recognized in

from Income on

Accumulated OCI into Income Derivative

Effective Portion Ineffective

Amount of Gain and Location of Gain Recognized Amount of Gain Portion

Loss Recognized in Income on Derivative Reclassified from and Amount

in OCI on Ineffective Portion and Amount Accumulated OCt Excluded from

Derivative Excluded into Income Effectiveness

Effective Portion from Effectiveness Testing Effective Portion Testing

in thousands In thousands

Natural gas
$20911 Oil and Gas Sales $28546 $1018

Crude oil 437 Oil and Gas Sales 2305
______

$20474 $30851 $1018
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For the Year Ended December 312008

Natural gas

Crude oil

Amount of Gain

Recognized
in OCI on

Derivative

Effective Portion

in thousands

$14999

4115

$19114

Location of Gain Reclassified

from
Accumulated OCI into Income

Effective Portion
and Location of Gain Recognized

in Income on Derivative

Ineffective Portion and Amount
Excluded

from Effectiveness Testing

Oil and Gas Sales

Oil and Gas Sales

Amount of Gain

Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI
into Income

Effective Portion

in thousands

$4032

2027

$6059

Amount of

Gain

Recognized in

Income on
Derivative

Ineffective

Portion

and Amount
Excluded from

Effectiveness

Testing

925

89

$1014

Assuming that the market prices of oil and gas futures as of December 31 2009 remain unchanged the

Company would expect to transfer gain of approximately $6.4 million from accumulated other comprehensive

income to earnings during the next 12 months The actual reclassification into earnings will be based on market

prices at the contract settlement date

For derivative instruments that do not qualify as hedges pursuant to ASC 815 changes in the fair value of

these derivatives that occur prior to their maturity i.e temporary fluctuations in value are recognized in current

earnings summary of the effect of the derivatives not qualifying for hedges is as follows

Location of Loss

Recognized in Income on

Derivative

Amount of

Loss

Recognized in

Income on

Derivative

in thousands

Year Ended December 31 2009

Amount of

Gain Loss
Location of Gain Loss Recognized in

Recognized in Income on Income on

Derivative Derivative

in thousands

Oil and gas sales 5920

Unrealized losses on

354 derivatives

Unrealized losses on

derivatives

$354
_______

Year Ended December 31 2008

Realized

Natural gas Oil and
gas

sales

Unrealized

Natural gas Unrealized losses on

derivatives

Natural gas basis Unrealized losses on

derivatives

2100

270

$3550
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The valuation of our derivative instruments are based on industry standard models that primarily rely on

market observable inputs Substantially all of the assumptions for industry standard models are observable in

active markets throughout the full term of the instrument The Company categorizes these measurements as

Level The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy our derivative instruments which

are our only financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on recurring basis as of

December 31 2009 and 2008

Financial assets

Natural gas derivative

instruments

Crude oil derivative

instruments

NOTE GLONG-TERMDEBT

The table below presents the carrying amounts and approximate fair values of our debt obligations The

carrying amounts of our revolving bank credit facility borrowings approximate their fair values due to the short-

term nature and frequent repricing of these obligations The approximate fair values of our convertible debt

securities are determined based on market quotes from independent third party brokers as they are actively traded

in an established market The fair values of our senior secured notes were estimated using discounted cash flow

analyses based on current market rates for instruments with similar cash flows

December 31
-_______

Revolving bank credit facility

5.00% Senior Convertible Notes due February

2013

4.50% Senior Convertible Notes due May 2015

Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due July

20122

Joint venture financing3

Total

112819 114910 115646 111406

73187 87652

As of December 312008 As of December 312009

Quoted Significant Quoted Significant

Prices in Other Significant Prices in Other Significant

Active Observable Unobservable Active Observable Unobservable

Markets Inputs Inputs Markets Inputs Inputs

Level Level 2_ Level Level Level Level

in thousands

$22334 $29544

$2742

2008 2009

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount

in thousands

80000 80000

Fair Value

30000

1523

$224342

36792

1523

$233225

1445

$190278

1445

$200503

Maturity date of July 2011 bearing weighted average
interest rate of 3.25% and 3.83% as of December 31

2008 and 2009 respectively collateralized by all assets of the Company

Fixed interest rate of 7.58% and secured by second lien on all assets of the Company

Non-recourse no interest rate
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Maturities of Long-Term Debt

Maturities of long-term debt as of December 31 2009 are as follows

Year Amount

in thousands

2010 48

2011 89

2012 126

2013 125160

2014 190

Thereafter 87082

$212695

Revolving Bank Credit Facility

The Company has an executed loan agreement providing for secured revolving line of credit up to an

amount established as the borrowing base which is based on the Companys oil and natural
gas reserves the

borrowing base The loan bears interest at rate elected by the Company that is based on the prime LIBO or

federal funds rate plus margins ranging from 1% to 4.75% depending on the base rate used and the amount of the

loan outstanding in relation to the borrowing base

Principal is payable voluntarily by the Company or is required to be paid if the loan amount exceeds the

borrowing base ii if the lender elects to require periodic payments as part of borrowing base

re-determination and iii at the maturity date of July 15 2011 The Company is obligated to pay facility fee

equal to 0.5% per year of the unused portion of the borrowing base payable quarterly The borrowing base has

been adjusted from time to time and was $130 million at December 31 2009 The loan is secured by first

mortgage on assets of the Company

As part of the regular redetermination in 2008 the Company and the banks executed an amended and

restated loan agreement providing for up to $250 million in loans as the borrowing base permits The revolving

bank credit facility was repaid in July 2008 with proceeds from common stock offering The Company

subsequently reborrowed on the facility to fund development and exploration activities and for general corporate

purposes and again repaid the outstanding indebtedness in October 2009 with proceeds from the common stock

offering 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes and the sale of the membership interest in Endeavor Gathering

Effective as of October 17 2009 we amended the terms of our revolving bank credit facility to document

our lenders consent to the Endeavor Gathering transaction and the release by the lenders of the contributed

assets from the collateral pledged in support of the indebtedness under the revolving credit facility As part of the

amendment we also agreed to the inclusion of certain covenants in the revolving credit facility that prohibit the

creation of certain debt or the creation of incurrence of certain liens by Endeavor Gathering In addition to the

amendments relating to the Endeavor Gathering transaction this amendment also amended the terms of the

revolving bank credit facility to permit us to offer and sell our 4.50% convertible notes and to make certain

related changes to provisions of the revolving bank credit facility restricting us from selling 4.50%

convertible senior notes with an aggregate principal amount greater than the amount received by us in our

concurrent offering of common stock and making any payment of principal or interest on the 4.50%

convertible senior notes if we are in default under the revolving bank credit facility at the time or if any such

payment would cause default and ii remove the minimum net worth covenant previously imposed on us

under the revolving bank credit facility
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The agreement contains various affirmative and restrictive covenants These covenants among other things

prohibit additional indebtedness sales of assets mergers and consolidations dividends and distributions and

changes in management and require the maintenance of various financial ratios The required and actual

financials ratios as of December 31 2009 are shown below

Financial Covenant Required Ratio Actual Ratio

Current ratio1 Not less than ito 4.51 to

Ratio of total debt to EBITDA2 Not greater than to 3.25 to

Ratio of EBITDA as defined in the revolving bank credit

facility agreement to cash interest expense3 Not less than to 3.24 to

Current ratio is defined in our revolving bank credit facility as the ratio of current assets plus the

unused and available portion of the revolving bank credit facility $130 million as of December 31

2009 to current liabilities The calculation will not include the effects if any of derivatives under

ASC 815 As of December 31 2009 current assets included derivatives assets of $12.3 million In

addition the convertible notes are not considered current liability unless one or more convertible

notes have been surrendered for conversion and then only to the extent of the cash payment due on the

conversion of the notes surrendered As of December 31 2009 none of the convertible notes had been

surrendered for conversion

EBITDA as defined in our revolving bank credit facility as of December 31 2009 is calculated as

follows amounts in thousands

Net loss $180466

Plus

Interest expense
16127

Early extinguishment of debt 4976

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 188150

Depreciation depletion and amortization 31006

Non-cash compensation and other expenses
6258

Less

Income tax benefit 33

EBITDA 66018

Cash interest expense is defined in the revolving bank credit facility as all interest fees charges and

related expenses payable in cash for the applicable period payable to lender in connection with

borrowed money or the deferred purchase price of assets that is considered interest expense
under

GAAP plus the portion of rent paid or payable for that period under capital lease obligations that

should be treated as interest For 2009 cash interest expense included fees paid related to bank

financing activities and other loan fees of $2.9 million As of December 31 2009 non-cash interest

expense
of $5.4 million was deducted from interest expense to arrive at the cash interest expense

used

in the debt covenant calculation Non-cash interest expense primarily relates to the amortization of debt

issuance costs Capitalized interest of $1.8 million was added to interest expense

As of December 31 2009 the Company was in compliance with financial covenants under the revolving

bank credit facility The lenders may accelerate all of the indebtedness under the revolving bank credit facility

upon the occurrence of any event of default unless the Company cures any such default within any applicable

grace period For payments of principal and interest under the revolving bank credit facility the Company
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generally has three business day grace period and 30-day cure period for most covenant defaults but not for

defaults of certain specific covenants including the financial covenants and negative covenants

5.00% Convertible Senior Notes

In February 2008 the Company completed $125 million private placement of 5.00% convertible senior

notes due 2013 5.00% Convertible Notes In connection with such offering we agreed to loan up to

3846150 shares of our common stock to an affiliate of Jefferies Company Inc to facilitate hedging

transactions by purchasers of the notes

As result of the adoption of the new authoritative accounting guidance under ASC Topic 470 as of

January 2009 and its retrospective application as discussed in Note the Company recorded debt discount

of $14.3 million which represented the fair value of the equity conversion feature and recorded corresponding

increase in additional paid-in capital APIC net of deferred taxes In addition the transaction costs incurred

directly related to the issuance of the 5.00% Convertible Notes were allocated proportionately to the equity

conversion feature and recorded as APIC The equity component is not subsequently re-valued as long as it

continues to qualify for equity treatment

The debt discount is amortized as additional non-cash interest expense over the expected term of the 5.00%

Convertible Notes through February 2013 As of December 31 2009 the net carrying amount was as follows

amounts in the thousands

Principal amount $125000

Unamortized debt discount 9354

Carrying amount $115646

The 5.00% Convertible Notes bear interest at rate of 5.00%
per year payable semiannually in arrears on

February and August of each year beginning August 2008 As result of the amortization of the debt

discount through non-cash interest expense the effective interest rate on the 5.00% Convertible Notes is

8.7% per annum The amount of the cash interest expense recognized with
respect to the 5.00% contractual

interest coupon for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was $6.3 million and $5.5 million respectively

The amount of non-cash interest expense for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 related to the

amortization of the debt discount and amortization of the transaction costs was $3.5 million and $2.7 million

respectively As of December 31 2009 the unamortized discount is expected to be amortized into earnings over

3.1 years The carrying value of the equity component of the 5.00% Convertible Notes was $9.3 million as of

December 31 2009

Holders may convert their 5.00% Convertible Notes at their option prior to the close of business on the

business day immediately preceding November 2012 only under the following circumstances

during any fiscal quarter commencing after March 31 2008 if the last reported sale price of the

conmon stock for at least 20 trading days during period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the

last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable

conversion price on each such trading day

during the five business-day period after any five consecutive trading-day period in which the trading

price for each day of that measurement period was less than 98% of the last reported sale price of our

common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such day or
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the occurrence of certain sales of assets distributions or changes to distribution rights to common

stockholders mergers and consolidations changes in management or our common stock ceases to be

listed on United States national or regional securities exchange among other things

On and after November 2012 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the

maturity date holders may convert their 5.00% Convertible Notes at any time regardless of the foregoing

circumstances

Upon conversion the Company will satisfy its conversion obligation by paying and delivering cash for the

lesser of the principal amount or the conversion value and if the conversion value is in excess of the principal

amount by paying or delivering at its option cash and/or shares of its common stock for such excess The

conversion value is daily value calculated on proportionate basis for each day of 60 trading-day observation

period The conversion rate is initially 30.7692 shares of the Companys common stock
per $1000 principal

amount of notes equivalent to conversion price of approximately $32.50 per share of common stock The

conversion rate is subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for accrued interest In addition

following any fundamental change that occurs prior to the maturity date we will increase the conversion rate for

holder who elects to convert its 5.00% Convertible Notes in connection with such fundamental change in

certain circumstances The increase in the conversion rate is determined based on formula that takes into

consideration our stock price at the time of the fundamental change ranging from $25.00 to $150.00 per share

and the remaining time to maturity of the notes The increase in the conversion rate ranges
from 0% to 30%

increasing as the stock price at the time of the fundamental change increases from $25.00 and declines as the

remaining time to maturity of the notes decreases

We may not redeem the 5.00% Convertible Notes prior to maturity However if we undergo fundamental

change holders may require us to repurchase the 5.00% Convertible Notes in whole or in part for cash at price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 5.00% Convertible Notes to be repurchased plus any accrued and

unpaid interest including additional interest if any to but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date

The 5.00% Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of

payment to all of the Companys other existing and future senior indebtedness The 5.00% Convertible Notes are

effectively subordinated to revolving bank credit facility to the extent of the value of our assets pledged as

collateral for such indebtedness The 5.00% Convertible Notes are also effectively subordinated to all liabilities

of our subsidiaries including liabilities under any guarantees they have issued

4.50% Convertible Senior Notes

In October 2009 the Company completed at $86.3 million private placement of 4.50% convertible senior

notes due 2015 4.50% Convertible Notes The proceeds of the offering were used to repay the Senior

Subordinated Secured Notes due 2012 and portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the revolving bank

credit facility The Company recorded debt discount of $13.4 million which represented the fair value of the

equity conversion feature and recorded corresponding increase in APIC net of deferred taxes In addition the

transaction costs incurred directly related to the issuance of the 4.50% Convertible Notes were allocated

proportionately to the equity conversion feature and recorded as APIC The equity component is not

subsequently re-valued as long as it continues to qualify for equity treatment As of December 31 2009 the net

carrying amount was as follows amounts in thousands

Principal amount 86250

Unamortized debt discount 13063

Carrying amount 73187
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The 4.50% Convertible Notes bear interest at rate of 4.50% per year payable semiannually in arrears on
November and May of each year beginning May 2010 As result of the amortization of the debt discount

through non-cash interest expense the effective interest rate on the 4.50% Convertible Notes is 9.09%
per

annum The amount of the cash interest
expense recognized with respect to the 4.50% contractual interest coupon

for the
year ended December 31 2009 was $0.6 million The amount of non-cash interest expense for the

year
ended December 31 2009 related to the amortization of the debt discount and amortization of the transaction

costs was $0.4 million As of December 31 2009 the unamortized discount is expected to be amortized into

earnings over 5.3 years The carrying value of the equity component of the 4.50% Convertible Notes was $8.4
million as of December 31 2009

Holders may convert their notes prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding

February 2015 only under the following circumstances

The 4.50% Convertible Notes bear interest at rate of 4.50% per year payable semiannually in arrears on

May and November of each year beginning May 2010 The 4.50% Convertible Notes mature on May
2015 unless earlier converted or repurchased by us Holders may convert their notes prior to the close of

business on the business day immediately preceding February 2015 only under the following circumstances

during any fiscal quarter commencing after
January 2010 if the last reported sale price of our

common stock for at least 20 trading days during period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the

last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable
conversion price on each such trading day

during the five
business-day period after any five consecutive

trading-day period in which the trading
price per $1000 principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Notes for each day of such five consecutive

trading-day period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock

and the applicable conversion rate on each such day

upon the occurrence of corporate event pursuant to which we issue rights to all or substantially
all of the holders of our common stock entitling them to purchase for period of not more than 60
calendar days after the announcement date of such issuance to subscribe for or purchase shares of our

common stock at price per share less than the average of the last reported sale prices of our common
stock for the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day immediately preceding the

date of announcement of such issuance we distribute to all or substantially all of the holders of our

common stock our assets debt securities or rights to purchase our securities if the distribution has

per share value in excess of 10% of the last reported sale price for our common stock on the trading

day immediately preceding the date of announcement of such distribution or we are party to

consolidation merger binding share exchange or transfer or lease of all or substantially all of our

assets pursuant to which our common stock would be converted into cash securities or other assets

if person or group within the meaning of Section 13d of the Exchange Act acquires more
than 50% of our outstanding voting stock we consummate recapitalization reclassification or

change of our common stock as result of which our common stock would be converted into or

exchanged for stock other securities other property or assets less than 90% of which received by our

common shareholders consists of publicly traded securities we consummate share exchange
consolidation or merger pursuant to which our common stock will be converted into cash securities or
other property we consummate any sale lease or other transfer in one transaction or series of

transactions of all or substantially all of our and our subsidiaries consolidated assets to any person
other than one of our subsidiaries continuing directors cease to constitute at least majority of our
board of directors our shareholders approve any plan or proposal for our liquidation or dissolution
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or our common stock ceases to be listed on any of The New York Stock Exchange The NASDAQ

Global Select Market or The NASDAQ Global Market or

if we call the 4.50% Convertible Notes for redemption at any
time prior to the close of business on the

business day prior to the redemption date any of the events described in the fourth and fifth bullets

above make-whole fundamental change

On and after February 2015 until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the

maturity date holders may convert their 4.50% Convertible Notes in multiples of $1000 principal amount at

the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances

Upon conversion we will satisfy our conversion obligation by paying or delivering cash shares of our

common stock or combination of cash and shares of our common stock at our election The conversion rate is

initially 53.3333 shares of our common stock per $1000 principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Notes

equivalent to conversion price of approximately $18.75 per share of our common stock The conversion rate

is subject to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for accrued and unpaid interest In addition

following any make-whole fundamental change that occurs prior to the maturity date we will increase the

conversion rate for holder who elects to convert its 4.50% Convertible Notes in connection with such make-

whole fundamental change in certain circumstances The increase in the conversion rate is determined based on

formula that takes into consideration our stock price at the time of the make-whole fundamental change ranging

from $15.00 to $100.00 per share and the remaining time to maturity of the 4.50% Convertible Notes The

increase in the conversion rate declines from high of 25.0% to 0.0% as the stock price at the time of the make-

whole fundamental change increases from $15.00 and the remaining time to maturity of the 4.50% Convertible

Notes decreases

On or after November 2012 and prior to the maturity date we may redeem for cash all but not less than

all of the 4.50% Convertible Notes if the last reported sales price of our common stock equals or exceeds 130%

of the conversion price then in effect for 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days

ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the redemption notice The redemption price will equal

100% of the principal amount of the 4.50% Convertible Notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid

interest including any additional interest to but excluding the redemption date To the extent holder converts

its 4.50% Convertible Notes in connection with our redemption notice we will increase the conversion rate as

described in the preceding paragraph

The 4.50% Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of

payment with our senior unsecured debt and our existing 5.00% Convertible Notes and are senior inright of

payment to our debt that is expressly subordinated to the 4.50% Convertible Notes if any The 4.50%

Convertible Notes are structurally subordinated to all debt and other liabilities and commitments of our

subsidiaries including our subsidiaries guarantees of our indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility

and are effectively junior to our secured debt to the extent of the assets securing such debt

Senior Subordinated Secured Notes

In July 2007 we entered into Note Purchase Agreement Note Agreement with The Prudential

Insurance Company of America Prudential providing for the issuance and sale from time to time of up to

$100 million in senior subordinated secured notes the Secured Notes and sold to Prudential an initial tranche

of $30 million of 7.58% Series fixed rate notes due July 31 2012 with interest payable quarterly
Proceeds

from the sale of the Secured Notes were used for general corporate purposes including additional funding of

drilling and development costs in the Cotton Valley Sands in East Texas On October 18 2009 the Company
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entered into an amendment with Prudential to provide for the repayment of the outstanding indebtedness of the

Secured Notes The Company repaid all of the outstanding indebtedness under the Secured Notes with portion

of the proceeds from the 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes issued in October 2009 The terms of the repayment
included prepayment penalty of $4.6 million Additionally we expensed approximately $0.3 million in deferred

debt issue costs

Joint Venture Financing

In 2004 we entered into an arrangement with PVOG to purchase dollar denominated production payments
from the Company on certain wells drilled during portion of 2004 Under this agreement PVOG provided $2.8

million in funding for our share of costs of four wells drilled which is repayable solely from 75% of GMXs
share of production revenues from these wells without interest

NOTE HASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The activity incurred in the asset retirement obligation is as follows

2008 2009

in thousands

Beginning balance $3625 $6049
Liabilities incurred 2742 324

Liabilities settled 256 204
Accretion 273 378

Revisions 335 242

Ending balance1 6049 6789
Less current portion 587 259

$5462 $6530

The Companys liability for asset retirement obligations is included in other liabilities in the

consolidated balance sheets net of the current obligations The current portion is included in accrued

expenses in the consolidated balance sheets

NOTE IINCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of the following for the years ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Current tax expense benefit 33 26 33
Deferred tax expense benefit 7977 25039

$8010 $25013 $33
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Total income tax expense
differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S federal tax rate to

earnings before income taxes as result of the following for the years ended December 31

U.S statutory tax rate

Statutory depletion

Change in valuation allowance

Other

Effective income tax rate

Intangible development costs may be capitalized or expensed for income tax reporting purposes whereas

they are capitalized and amortized for financial statement purposes Lease and well equipment and other property

and equipment may be depreciated for income tax reporting purposes using accelerated methods and different

lives Other temporary differences include the effect of hedging transactions and stock based compensation

awards Deferred income taxes are provided on these temporary
differences to the extent that income taxes which

otherwise would have been payable are reduced Deferred income tax assets are also available to offset future

income taxes

The following table sets forth the Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31

548

3627 3588 2245

31 641 1030

680 734 662

23059 60089

243 34 431

_______
26075 80009

15179 15113 11496

4237

________ ________
7259

_______ _______
11496

___ ___

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets increased by $53.9 million in 2009 In determining the

carrying value of deferred tax asset accounting standards provides for the weighing of evidence in estimating

whether and how much of deferred tax asset may be recoverable As we have incurred net operating losses in

2009 and prior yeass relevant accounting guidance suggest that cumulative losses in recent years constitute

significant negative evidence and that future expectations about income are insufficient to overcome history of
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2007 2008

34% 34%

2009

34%

17 33

32%

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

10318 13132 26500
Deferred tax assets

Federal net operating loss carryforwards

Property and equipment

Statutory depletion carryforwards

Stock compensation expense

Derivative instruments

Oil and natural gas properties

Other

Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets not expected to be realized

Total

Deferred tax liabilities

Oil and natural gas properties

Property and equipment

Derivative instruments

Convertible debt

Total

Net deferred tax asset liability

25805

1299 1983
9260
3870

27104 15113

$11925
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such losses Therefore with the before mentioned adjustment of $53.9 million we have reduced the carrying
value of our net deferred tax asset to zero The valuation allowance has no impact on our net operating lossNOL position for tax purposes and if we generate taxable income in future periods we will be able to use

our NOLs to offset taxes due at that time The Company will continue to assess the valuation allowance against
deferred tax assets considering all available evidence obtained in future reporting periods

At December 31 2009 the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $77.9 million which
will begin to expire in 2018 if unused The Companys federal net operating loss carryforward has an annual

limitation under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 In addition at December 31 2009 the Company had tax

percentage depletion carryforwards of approximately $6.6 million which are not subject to expiration

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and in various

states With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to U.S federal or state income tax examinations

by these tax authorities for years before and including 2005 We have not paid any significant interest or

penalties associated with our income taxes but classify both interest
expense and penalties as part of our income

tax expense

NOTE JCOMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is party to various legal actions arising in the normal course of business Matters that are

probable of unfavorable outcome to the Company and which can be reasonably estimated are accrued Such

accruals are based on information known about the matters the Companys estimates of the outcomes of such

matters and its experience in contesting litigating and settling similarmatters None of the actions are believed

by management to involve future amounts that would be material to the Companys financial position or results

of operations after consideration of recorded accruals

The Company leases offices and certain equipment under operating leases and has contracts with drilling

contractor for the use of four rigs with year terms Additionally in 2009 the Company entered into firm

transportation and firm sales contract for various terms through 2020 Under these contracts the Company is

obligated to transport or sell minimum daily gas volumes as calculated on monthly basis or pay for any
deficiencies at set rate The firm transportation contract for 50 Mmbtu per day commences with the completion
of pipeline which occurred in the first quarter of 2010 The sales contract was effective in September 2009 for

15 Mmbtu per day and increases through 2014 up to 100 Mmbtu per day These commitments are not recorded in

the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

The following is schedule by year of these obligations and minimum lease payments at December 31 2009

Year
Operating Leases Transportation Drilling Contracts Total

in thousands

2010 $1131 5899 38611 45641
2011 1129 6043 43143 50315
2012 1118 6190 35122 42430
2013 802 6349 4532 11683
2014 491 5970 6461
Thereafter 1217 28339 29556

Total $5888 $58790 $121408 $186086
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Rent expense for the years
ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 was $239000 $693000 and $1.4

million respectively

NOTE KSTOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

We recognized $1.6 million $3.1 million and $4.6 million of stock compensation expense
for the years

ending December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively These non-cash expenses are reflected as component

of the Companys general and administrative expense To the extent amortization of compensation costs relates

to employees directly involved in exploration and development activities such amounts are capitalized to oil and

natural gas properties
Stock based compensation capitalized as part of oil natural gas properties was $526000

and $1.2 million for the years
ended December 31 2008 and 2009 We did not capitalize any stock based

compensation for the year
ended December 31 2007

2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In May 2008 the Board of Directors and shareholders adopted the 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan or LTI

Plan to retain and attract employees consultants and directors and to stimulate the active interest in the

development and financial success of the Company The LII Plan provides
for the grant of stock options

restricted stock awards bonus stock awards stock appreciation rights performance units and performance

bonuses subject to certain conditions Subject to certain adjustments the aggregate
number of shares of common

stock available for awards may not exceed 750000 shares nor shall any individual employee award exceed

200000 shares or $1000000 in any calendar year The maximum period for exercise of an option or stock

appreciation right may not be more than ten years from the date of grant and the exercise price may not be less

than the fair market value of the shares underlying the option or stock appreciation right on the date of grant

Awards granted under the LII Plan become vested at dates or upon the satisfaction of certain performance or

other criteria as determined by the Board of Directors No awards may be granted under the LII Plan after May

2018

2000 Stock Option Plan

In October 2000 the Board of Directors and shareholders adopted the GMX Resources Inc Stock Option

Plan the 2000 Option Plan Under the 2000 Option Plan the Company may grant both stock options intended

to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code and options which are not

qualified as incentive stock options

The maximum number of shares of common stock issuable under the 2000 Option Plan as amended in May

2007 is 850000 subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of reorganization stock split stock dividend

reclassification or other change affecting the Companys common stock All officers employees and directors

are eligible to receive awards under the 2000 Option Plan The exercise price of options granted is not less than

100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant Options granted become exercisable as the

Board of Directors may determine in connection with the grant of each option In addition the Board of Directors

may at any time accelerate the date that any option granted becomes exercisable Stock options generally vest

over four years and have 10-year contractual term There have been no options for which vesting was

accelerated in 2007 2008 or 2009

The Board of Directors may amend or tenninate the 2000 Option Plan at any time except that no amendment

will become effective without the approval of the shareholders except to the extent such approval may be required

by applicable law or by the rules of any securities exchange upon which the Company shares are admitted to listed

trading The 2000 Option Plan will terminate in 2010 except
with respect to awards then outstanding
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Stock Options

The following table provides information related to stock option activity under the 2000 Option Plan for the

years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

Weighted
Number of Weighted Aggregate average

shares average intrinsic grant date

underlying exercise price value fair value

options per share in thousands per share

Outstanding as of January 2007 270250 $14.89

Granted 336000 38.14 $14.46

Exercised 25750 3.00 798

Forfeited 6000 31.27

Outstanding as of December 31 2007 574500 28.86

Granted 100000 25.84 $25.84

Exercised 73450 13.34 $2396
Forfeited 18000 33.41

Outstanding as of December 31 2008 583050 30.16

Exercised 750 6.10

Forfeited 5500 33.95

Outstanding as of December 31 2009 576800 30.16

Exercisable as of December 31 2009 332300 $25.65

The intrinsic value is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise

price

The weighted-average remaining contractual life of outstanding and exercisable options at December 31
2009 was 6.9 and 6.4 years respectively As of December 31 2009 there was $2.5 million of total unrecognized

compensation costs related to non-vested stock options granted under the Companys stock option plan That cost

is expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.5
years

The fair value of each stock award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model Assumptions used in the valuation are disclosed in the following table

2007 2008 2009

Expected volatility 38.8% 1.3%

Expected dividend yields 0% 0%
Expected term in years

Risk free rate 4.9% 2.7%

The Company estimated volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Companys common stock The

risk free interest rate is based on the Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the expected term

of the option The expected dividend yield is based on the Companys current dividend yield and the best

estimate of projected dividend yield for future periods within the expected life of the option

Restricted Stock

In July 2008 the Company began issuing restricted stock awards to its officers independent directors

consultants and certain employees under the LTI Plan The holders of these shares have all the rights and
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privileges of owning the shares including voting rights except that the holders are not entitled to delivery of

portion thereof until certain passage of time requirements are met With respect to the restricted stock granted to

officers consultants and employees of the Company the shares generally vest over or year period With

respect to restricted shares issued to the Companys independent board members the shares vest over two year

period The fair value of the awards issued is determined based on the fair market value of the shares on the date

of grant The value is amortized over the vesting period

summary of the status of our unvested shares of restricted stock and the changes for the years ending

December 31 2008 and 2009 is presented below

Weighted

average grant-

Number of date

unvested fair value per

restricted shares share

Unvested shares as of January 2008

Granted 79347 $74.11

Vested 16521 $76.65

Forfeited 98 $76.73

Unvested shares as of December 31 2008 62728 $73.44

Granted 542847 $18.55

Vested 23574 $70.38

Forfeited 1471 $29.00

Unvested shares as of December 31 2009 580530 $22.35

As of December 31 2009 there was $10.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to

non-vested restricted stock grants This unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over

weighted-average period of 3.3 years

The vesting of certain restricted stock grants results in state and federal income tax benefits related to the

difference between the market price of the common stock at the date of vesting and the date of grant During the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2009 we did not recognize excess tax benefits related to the vesting of

restricted stock due to the market price of the common stock at the date of grant exceeding the market price at the

vesting date

401k Phmn

The GMX Resources Inc 40 1k Plan was adopted April 15 2001 The plan is qualified retirement plan

under the Internal Revenue Code All employees are eligible who have attained age 21 GMX matches the

employee contributions up to 5% of the employees gross wages The Company contributed $115000 $448000

and $281000 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

NOTE LCAPITAL STOCK

In February 2007 the Company completed public offering of 2000000 shares of our common stock for

$34.82 per
share Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $65.6 million which the Company used to

fund drilling and development of our East Texas properties and for other general corporate purposes
and to

reduce indebtedness under our revolving bank credit facility
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In July 2008 the Company completed an offering of 2000000 shares of common stock for $70.50 per

share Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $134.0 million The Company repaid outstanding

indebtedness under its revolving bank credit facility The balance of the net proceeds were used to fund the

development of oil and natural gas properties acquisitions of additional oil and natural gas properties and for

general corporate purposes

In May 2009 the Company completed an offering of 5750000 shares of common stock for $12.00 per

share Net proceeds to the Company were $65.3 million The Company used the net proceeds from this offering

to repay outstanding indebtedness under its revolving bank credit facility

In October 2009 the Company completed an offering of 6950000 shares of common stock at $15.00
per

share Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $98.8 million The Company used the net proceeds

from this offering along with the proceeds from the concurrent issuance of the 4.50% Convertible Notes to

repay the outstanding indebtedness under its revolving bank credit facility and to repay all of its outstanding

senior subordinated secured notes and for general corporate purposes

In August 2006 GMX sold 2000000 shares of 9.25% Series Cumulative Preferred Stock at $25.00 per
share in public offering resulting in total offering of $50 million The net proceeds of $47.1 million from the

sale of preferred stock were used to fund the drilling and development of the Companys East Texas properties

and for other general corporate purposes The annual dividend on each share of Series Cumulative Preferred

Stock is $2.3 125 an aggregate of $4.6 millionand is payable quarterly when as and if declared by the

Company in cash subject to specified exceptions in arrears to holders of record as of the dividend payment
record date on or about the last calendar day of each March June September and December

The Series Cumulative Preferred Stock is not convertible into the Companys common stock and can be

redeemed at the Companys option after September 30 2011 at $25.00 per share The Series Cumulative

Preferred Stock will be required to be redeemed prior to September 30 2011 at specified redemption prices and

thereafter at $25.00 per share in the event of change of ownership or control of the Company if the acquirer is

not public company meeting certain financial criteria
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NOTE MOIL AND NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property acquisitions exploration and development activities are as

follows for the years ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Development and exploration costs

Development drilling $168246 $183081 14202

Exploratory drilling
15943 116250

Tubular and other drilling inventories 39773 1697

Asset retirement obligation 1463 2407 565

169709 241204 132714

Acquisition

Proved 7814 23246 6881

Unproved1 1018 26236 11450

8832 49482 18331

Total $178541 $290686 $151045

Includes $122000 $361000 and $1.8 million of capitalized interest for the
years

ended December 31

2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Costs excluded from amortization are as follows at December 31

2008 2009

in thousands

Unproved property acquisition
$21660 $33122

Exploratory drilling
14374 6667

$36034 $39789

Unproved property acquisition costs include costs to acquire new leasehold unevaluated leaseholds and

capitalized interest Of the $33.1 million of unproved property costs at December 31 2009 being excluded from

the amortization base $0.5 million $21.0 million and $11.5 million were incurred in 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively Subject to industry conditions evaluation of most of these properties and the inclusion of their costs

in the amortized capital costs is expected to be completed within three years

The average DDA rate per equivalent unit of production was $1.88 $2.08 and $1.76 for the years ended

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

NOTE NSUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON OIL AND NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

UNAUDITED

In December 2008 the SEC issued its final rule Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting which is effective

for reporting 2009 reserve information In January 2010 the FASB issued its authoritative guidance on extractive

activities for oil and gas to align its requirements with the SEC final rule We adopted the guidance as of

December 31 2009 in conjunction with our year-end reserve report as change in accounting principle that is
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inseparable from change in accounting estimate Under the SECs final rule prior period reserves were not

restated The primary impacts of the SECs final rule include

the use of the twelve-month average of the first-day-of-the-month reference prices prior to adjustment

for location and quality differentials of $61.18 per Bbl for oil and $3.87 per MMBtu for natural gas

compared to the year-end reference prices prior to adjustment for location and quality differentials of

$79.36 per Bbl for oil and $5.79 per MMBtu for natural
gas resulted in negative revisions of 16 Bcfe

certain of our undeveloped locations are not scheduled to be developed within five
years had the

impact of reducing our proved undeveloped reserves by 25 Bcfe

applying the same pricing methodology that was in effect for 2008 in 2009 would have resulted in the

recognition of an additional 99 Bcfe in reserves at December 31 2009

All of our reserves were located in the United States Our reserves were based upon reserve reports prepared

by the independent petroleum engineers of MHA Petroleum Consultants Inc MHA Management believes

the reserve estimates presented herein in accordance with generally accepted engineering and evaluation

principles consistently applied are reasonable However there are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating

quantities and values of proved reserves and in projecting future rates of production and the amount and timing
of development expenditures including many factors beyond our control Reserve engineering is subjective

process of estimating the recovery from underground accumulations of oil and
gas that cannot be measured in an

exact manner and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is function of the quality of available data and of

engineering and geological interpretation and judgment Because all reserve estimates are to some degree

speculative the quantities of oil and
gas

that are ultimately recovered production and operating costs the

amount and timing of future development expenditures and future oil and
gas sales prices may all differ from

those assumed in these estimates In addition different reserve engineers may make different estimates of reserve

quantities and cash flows based upon the same available data

Therefore the Standardized Measure shown below represents estimates only and should not be construed as

the current market value of the estimated oil and gas reserves attributable to our properties In this regard the

information set forth in the following tables includes revisions of reserve estimates attributable to proved

properties included in the preceding years estimates Such revisions reflect additional information from

subsequent development activities production history of the properties involved and any adjustments in the

projected economic life of such properties resulting from changes in product prices Decreases in the prices of oil

and natural gas have had and could have in the future an adverse effect on the carrying value of our proved

reserves reserve volumes and our revenues profitability and cash flow

Our reserves shown are net wellhead volumes that have not been reduced for lease use volumes volumes
that are consumed or lost between the wellhead and the point of custody transfer Lease use volumes were
estimated to be 6% 10% and 11% of ending proved reserves as of December 31 2007 2008 and 2009
respectively Historically the Company has reduced the natural

gas price used in determining future cash inflows

to compensate for lease use volumes and in determining net realized price
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Estimated Quantities of Oil and Natural Gas

The following table sets forth certain data pertaining to our proved proved developed and proved

undeveloped reserves for the three years
ended December 31 2009

OIL GAS

MBBLS MMCF

December 31 2007

Proved reserves beginning of period
2693 236850

Extensions discoveries and other additions 2019 185730

Production 127 7974

Revisions of previous estimates 108 8264

Proved reserves end of period
4693 406342

December 31 2008

Proved reserves beginning of period
4693 406342

Extensions discoveries and other additions .. 1613 132434

Production 190 11777

Revisions of previous estimates 1112 91678

Proved reserves end of period
5004 435321

December 31 2009

Proved reserves beginning of period
5004 435321

Extensions discoveries and other additions 38 25672

Production 119 12908

Revisions of previous estimates 1244 114873

Proved reserves end of period
3679 333212

Proved Developed Reserves

December 31 2006 932 69279

December 31 2007 1776 144164

December 31 2008 1920 150585

December 31 2009 1439 124611

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

December 31 2006 1761 167571

December 31 2007 2917 262178

December 31 2008 3084 284736

December 31 2009 2240 208601

Revisions of Previous Estimates

In 2009 we had negative revisions of 122 Bcfe Certain of our Cotton Valley Sands undeveloped locations

are scheduled for development beyond five years
and were excluded from our proved reserves resulting in

negative revision of 53 Bcfe The proved reserves for Cotton Valley Sands producers were reduced by 53 Bcfe

based on individual well production history Negative revisions of 16 Bcfe were related to lower natural gas

prices as declines in prices result in certain reserves becoming uneconomic at earlier periods

F-42



GMX Resources Inc and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsContinued

December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

In 2008 we had total of 98 Bcfe of negative revisions primarily related to the significant decline in oil and

natural gas prices at December 31 2008 as declines in prices result in certain reserves becoming uneconomic at

earlier periods

In 2007 we revised the timing of drilling of undeveloped Cotton Valley Sands reserves presuming 20-acre

pattern of development from 40-acre pattern resulting in the negative revision of previous estimates

Extensions Discoveries and Other Additions

In 2009 we had total of 25 Bcfe of extensions and discoveries including 22 Bcfe in the Haynesville Shale

resulting from successful drilling during 2009 that extended and developed the proved acreage

In 2008 and 2007 the increases in proved reserves from extensions and discoveries is the direct result of

additional drilling on our acreage in the Cotton Valley Sands formation

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

The Standardized Measure of discounted future net cash flows discounted at 10% from production of

proved reserves was developed as follows

An estimate was made of the quantity of proved reserves and the future periods in which they are

expected to be produced based on year-end economic conditions

In accordance with SEC guidelines the engineers estimates of future net revenues from our proved

properties and the present value thereof for 2009 are made using the twelve-month
average of the

first-day-of-the-month reference prices as adjusted for location and quality differentials Prior year

estimates were not required to be restated and reflect previously disclosed estimates using year-end

prices These prices are held constant throughout the life of the properties Oil and natural gas prices

are adjusted for each lease for quality contractual agreements lease use shrinkage and regional price

variations

The future gross revenue streams were reduced by estimated future operating costs including

production and ad valorem taxes and future development and abandonment costs all of which were

based on current costs in effect at December 31 of the year presented and held constant throughout the

life of the properties

Future income taxes were calculated by applying the statutory federal and state income tax rate to

pre-tax future net cash flows net of the tax basis of the properties involved and utilization of available

tax carryforwards related to oil and gas operations
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The following summary sets forth the Companys future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas

reserves based on the standardized measure as of December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Future cash inflows 3549360 2586574 $1540047

Future production costs 1097465 1014500 591102

Future development costs 555623 559777 323246

Future income tax provisions 528126 187084

Net future cash inflows 1368146 825213 625699

Less effect of 10% discount factor 940416 596420 437121

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows 427730 228793 188578

Principal changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable to the

Companys proved reserves are as follows at December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Standardized measure beginning of year 134434 427730 228793

Sales of oil and natural gas net of production costs 53131 110375 45233

Net changes in prices and production costs 182156 255999 135218

Change in estimated future development costs 75335 96063 76929

Extensions and discoveries net of future development costs 172308 49551 60206

Previously estimated development cost incurred 30977 120028 143316

Revisions of quantity estimates 17257 106288 82836

Accretion of discount 54192 164367 83475

Changes in timing of production and other 25081 269525 192723

Net changes in income taxes 126203 113241 51869

Standardized measure end of year 427730 228793 188578
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NOTE 0QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2008 and 2009 are as follows

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter3 Quarter3 Quarter3 Quarter

in thousands except per share data

2009

Oil and
gas sales 22826 $22837 $23075 25556

Income loss before income taxes1 134282 2890 1846 50953
Net income loss1 131854 63 1222 47327
Net income applicable loss to GMX Resources Common

Shareholders1 133010 1220 2378 49656
Basic earnings loss per share2 8.66 0.07 0.11 1.87
Diluted earnings loss per share2 8.66 0.07 0.11 1.87

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter3

in thousands except per share data

2008

Oil and gas sales 27199 $38040 $36408 24089
Income loss before income taxes 9498 17612 14284 191045
Net income loss 6247 12306 9631 152821
Net income loss applicable to GMX Resources Common

Shareholders 5091 11149 8475 153977
Basic earnings loss per share2 0.38 0.84 0.57 10.04
Diluted earnings loss per share2 0.38 0.76 0.50 10.04

Includes impairment charges on our oil and natural gas properties due to ceiling test write-down of $192.7

million $138.1 million and $50.1 million for the fourth quarter 2008 first quarter 2009 and fourth quarter

2009 respectively

The sum of the
per

share amounts per quarter does not equal the per share amount for the
year due to the

changes in the
average number of common shares outstanding

Amounts adjusted for correction of accounting errors and the adoption of new issued accounting standards

related to convertible debt See Note BCorrection of Errors and Note CAdoption of Accounting

Principles and the following information
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The effects of the restatement on the 2008 and 2009 unaudited quarterly financial data are as follows

For the Three Months Ended December 31 2008

As Previously As Adjusted

Reported Corrections Adjustments0 and Restated

Income Statement

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 151629 41021 192650

Interest expense 3086 194 3280

Income loss before income taxes 149830 41021 194 191045

Provision benefit for income taxes 38784 560 38224

Net income loss 111046 41581 194 152821

Net income loss applicable to common

shareholders 112202 41581 194 153977

Earnings loss per sharebasic 7.31 10.04

Earnings loss per sharediluted 7.27 10.04

Weighted average common sharesdiluted 15425855 15341546

Amounts have been adjusted for the adoption of ASC 470-20 in 2009 which retrospectively changes the

accounting treatment of the Companys 5.00% Convertible Notes

March 31 2009

As

Reported Corrections As Restated

Amounts in thousands except share

and per share data

Balance Sheet

Oil and natural gas properties based on the full cost method net of

accumulated depreciation depletion and impairment 307365 5662 301703

Property and equipment at cost net 88492 11147 99639

Deferred income tax assets 62651 62651

Total assets 513729 57166 456563

Deferred income tax liabilities 8725 8725
Accumulated deficit 183492 48441 231933

Total liabilities and equity 513729 57166 456563
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Income Statement

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Income loss before taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss
Net income loss applicable to common shareholders

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Weighted average common sharesdiluted

Balance Sheet

Oil and
gas properties based on the full cost method net of

accumulated depreciation depletion and impairment

Property and equipment at cost net

Deferred income tax assets

Total assets

Deferred income tax liabilities

Accumulated deficit

Total liabilities and equity

2789

6837

95
8069
8164
9321
0.52

0.51

18132849

2789
196

2985

5116

8101

8101

6641

2890

2953
63

1220
0.07

0.07

18093208

For the Six Months Ended June 302009

Income Statement

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Income loss before taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss
Net income loss applicable to common shareholders

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Weighted average common sharesdiluted

186517 $48439

1052
49491

48810
681

681

16553

180883

48285

132598

134911
8.06

8.03

16791133

138078

15501

131392

525
131917

134230

8.02

8.02

16746112

For the Three Months Ended March 31 2009

183728 $45650 138078

9716 856 8860

180788 46506 134282
56354 53926 2428

124434 7420 131854

125590 7420 133010
8.18 8.66

8.15 8.66
15403517 15354680

June 302009

As Reported Corrections As Restated

Amounts in thousands except share

and per share data

334432

94155

56928

529963

8118

192814
529963

2241

6229

56928
48458
8118

40340
48458

336673

100384

481505

233154
481505

For the Three Months Ended June 302009

Income Statement

Impairment of oil and natural
gas properties

Depreciation depletion and amortization

Income loss before taxes

Provision benefit for income taxes

Net income loss
Net income loss applicable to common shareholders

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Weighted average common sharesdiluted
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September 30 2009

As Reported Corrections As Restated

Amounts in thousands except share

and per share data

Balance Sheet

Oil and
gas properties based on the full cost method net of

accumulated depreciation depletion and impairment 352386 2323 354709

Property and equipment at cost net 94682 6229 100911

Deferred income tax asset 53047 53047

Total assets 535843 44495 491348

Deferred income tax liabilities 5715 5715
Accumulated deficit 195597 38780 234377

Total liabilities and equity 535843 44495 491348

For the Three Months Ended September 30 2009

Income Statement

Depreciation depletion and amortization 7834 82 7752

Income loss before taxes 1764 82 1846

Provision benefit for income taxes 4546 1478 3068

Net income loss 2782 1560 1222

Net income loss applicable to common shareholders 3938 1560 2378

Earnings loss per
sharebasic 0.19 0.11

Earnings loss per
sharediluted 0.19 0.11

Weighted average common sharesdiluted 21160616 21122331

For the Nine Months Ended September 30 2009

Income Statement

Impairment of oil and natural gas properties 186517 $48439 138078

Depreciation depletion and amortization 24386 1134 23252

Income loss before taxes 179120 49573 129547

Provision benefit for income taxes 43738 47332 3594

Netincomeioss 135382 2241 133141

Net income loss applicable to shareholders 138851 2241 136610

Earnings loss per sharebasic 7.61 7.49

Earnings loss per
sharediluted 7.60 7.49

Weighted average common sharesdiluted 18278639 18235889
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